


CHARACTERISTICS OF GEM OF THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF 
HONG KONG LIMITED (THE “STOCK EXCHANGE”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and  
mid-sized companies to which a higher investment risk may be attached than 
other companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Prospective investors should be 
aware of the potential risks of investing in such companies and should make the 
decision to invest only after due and careful consideration. 

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized 
companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may be more 
susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board 
and no assurance is given that there will be a liquid market in the securities 
traded on GEM. 

Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited and the Stock Exchange take no 
responsibility for the contents of this report, make no representation as to its 
accuracy or completeness and expressly disclaim any liability whatsoever for any loss 
howsoever arising from or in reliance upon the whole or any part of the contents of 
this report. 

This report, for which the directors of the Company collectively and individually 
accept full responsibility, includes particulars given in compliance with the Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock Exchange for the purpose 
of giving information with regard to the Company. The directors of the Company, 
having made all reasonable enquiries, confirm that, to the best of their knowledge 
and belief (i) the information contained in this report is accurate and complete in all 
material respects and not misleading or deceptive; and (ii) there are no other matters 
the omission of which would make any statement in this report misleading. 
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8088 Investment Holdings Limited  
(formerly known as AID Life Science Holdings Limited)
(the “Company” and, together with its subsidiaries, 
the “Group”) is a strategic investment group listed on 
GEM (stock code: 8088). 

The Group is engaged in the business of strategic 
investment.

About
8088 Investment

Holdings Limited
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OVERVIEW

During the year under review, the Group continued to operate its strategic investment business. The 
Company will continue to leverage on (i) the extensive and solid existing business networks of the Group; (ii) 
big data and artificial intelligence capabilities of the Group for multi-platform data integration and analysis 
and programmatic monitoring and analysis; (iii) partnership with major content libraries and websites; (iv) the 
market climate in the outbound digital marketing industry in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”); and 
(v) the experienced management team of the Group, and to look for more business opportunities in 
outbound digital marketing solutions and customised marketing solutions business in China and overseas, 
and strive for financial performance and growth in order to reap greater returns for the shareholders of the 
Company.

BUSINESS REVIEW

(a)	 Disposal of Investments

Disposal of 13.77% equity interest in Brave Entertainment Co., Ltd.
On 2 July 2021, Shiny Diamond Limited (the “Vendor”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and 
Mr. Dong-Cheol Kang (the “Purchaser”) entered into the sales and purchase agreement, pursuant to 
which the Vendor has agreed to sell (the “Disposal”) and the Purchaser has agreed to purchase 55,010 
common stock (the “Target Shares”) of Brave Entertainment Co., Ltd. (the “Target”), a company 
incorporated in Korea with limited liability and owned as to approximately 13.77% by the Group prior 
to the Disposal, for a cash consideration of HK$4,198,500.

The Purchaser, Mr. Dong-Cheol Kang, is a director and a shareholder of the Target, he is also a 
shareholder of HMV Brave Co., Ltd., an insignificant subsidiary of the Company (as defined under Rule 
20.08 of the of the GEM Listing Rules) and save and except for the Purchaser’s directorship and 
shareholding in the Target and shareholding in HMV Brave Co., Ltd., the Purchaser is an independent 
third party.

The Disposal is expected to accrue a gain before tax of approximately HK$4,100,000, which is 
calculated based on the cash consideration of HK$4,198,500 less the zero carrying amount of the 
Target Shares as at 31 March 2021 and other related costs and expenses.

The Disposal was completed on 30 July 2021.
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(b)	 Impact of outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19”)

As a result of outbreak of COVID-19 in early 2020, there were significant changes of business 
environment and have caused the global economy, in particular the investment industry, remain fragile 
and uncertain. Governments in different regions have imposed social distancing measures and believed 
that the pandemic would not be eradicated without effective treatment and vaccination. The Group, 
therefore, has closely monitored its investments and the impact of governmental pandemic response 
policies to the economic environment and have plans in place in response to any possible outcome. 
The impact to the individual investment, if any, are set forth in the below paragraphs.

(c)	 Selective Existing Investment Portfolio

The Group has financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in aggregate amount of approximately 
HK$188.9 million and HK$200.4 million as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 respectively, representing 
approximately 82% and 76% of the total assets of the Group as at the respective reporting dates. The 
following table sets out the Group’s major investments as at 31 December 2021 and 2020:

As at 31 December 2021 As at 31 December 2020

Fair value
at reporting

date

Approximate
percentage of

the total assets
of the Group

Fair value
at reporting

date

Approximate
percentage of

the total assets
of the Group

Name of investments HK$’000 HK$’000     

AID Partners Autonomous, LP
  (the “Partnership”) (Note (iii))
  — unlisted shares 183,601 79% 187,613 71%

China Creative Digital 
  Entertainment Limited
  (“China Creative”) (Note (iv))
  — listed shares 1,327 1% 1,628 1%

Other investments 3,957 2% 11,199 4%    

188,885 82% 200,440 76%
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Except for investments in the Partnership, as at 31 December 2021 and 2020, none of the Group’s 
individual investment amounted to 5% or more of the total assets of the Group.

(i)	 Complete Star Limited (“CSL”)
CSL is principally engaged in the development and operation of mobile games. During 2021, it 
continued and maintained its mobile game portfolio including the Star Girl franchise. Star Girl is a 
fashion role-playing game (“RPG”) targeting female users in which players create a virtual female 
celebrity and determine her career, appearance and social life while interacting with the game 
world and other players. Since its release, the Star Girl franchise has accumulated a strong user 
base with over 100 million downloads globally. However, growth in mobile games sector has 
slowed down as smartphone penetration in major economies are reported at their near-saturation 
levels, leaving mobile apps and games developers to face stiffer competition within the market.

(ii)	 Honestway Global Group Limited (“HGGL”)
HGGL and its subsidiaries (the “HGGL Group”) are principally engaged in mobile games and 
online media content distribution in the PRC. Since early 2018, the Mainland Chinese authorities 
has introduced a new regulatory regime for digital games, aimed at mitigating addiction and 
inappropriate contents. However, approval of titles had been slow and the game publishing 
industry fails to return to its pre-2018 levels. As a result, HGGL Group entered sharing economy 
business in 2019 by installing facilities for shared use at college and university campuses. 
However, revenue fell short of management’s initial expectation because of sporadic outbreaks of 
the COVID-19 pandemic across Mainland China since 2020 had much disrupted ordinary 
commerce and the normal opening of college and university campuses.

HGGL is also engaged in outbound digital marketing solutions and customised marketing 
solutions business through its wholly-owned subsidiary, Rich Channel Inc Limited (“Rich Channel”). 
The management team of HGGL has well-established experience in providing digital marketing 
solutions and related services such as creative content production and data analysis and 
management of marketing campaigns, the Group’s management considered that it would be 
viable and beneficial for HGGL to further expand into outbound digital marketing solutions and 
customised marketing solutions business in the Mainland China and overseas to take advance of 
the market growth potential in Mainland China. However, this new business suffered a setback 
since the suspension trading in the shares of the Company in July 2021; in view of the suspension 
of trading in the shares of the Company and the potential delisting of the shares of the Company 
on the Stock Exchange, the customers and business partners of the Group had expressed doubts 
over the stability and the future prospects of the Group and had therefore affected their 
confidence towards placing orders with Rich Channel. Furthermore, the recent large scale 
outbreak of Omicron variant COVID-19 in Mainland China will likely to cause major disruption to 
the planned expansion in outbound digital market solutions in the near future due to lock-downs 
and various other travel restrictions.
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(iii)	 The Partnership
The principal activities of the Partnership was the holding of equity investments in financial and 
emerging technologies. On 10 July 2020, the shareholders of the Company passed an ordinary 
resolution at the extraordinary general meeting to approve the disposal of the entire share capital 
of AID Partners Autonomous GP Ltd (the “General Partner”) to an independent third party. Upon 
completion on 13 July 2020, the General Partner, the Partnership and its subsidiaries have ceased 
to be accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group; as a result, the interest in the Partnership is 
accounted for as a financial asset at fair value through profit or loss.

Fair value losses of HK$4,012,000 (2020: HK$66,975,000) was recognised for the year ended 31 
December 2021 in relation to the interest in the Partnership. The investment cost of the 
Partnership is HK$254,588,000. The Partnership had made a distribution of HK$18,437,000 (2020: 
Nil) during the year ended 31 December 2021. No dividend received from the Partnership during 
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. The Group’s equity interest was approximately 
82.3% of total equity of the Partnership as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.

(iv)	 China Creative (stock code: 8078)
China Creative is principally engaged in entertainment business and artiste management services. 
The outbreak of novel coronavirus disease (COVID-19) seriously undermined the economies of the 
PRC mainland and Hong Kong and further weakened the entertainment consumption since 2020. 
The prolonged impact of COVID-19 pandemic (especially the recent spread of Omicron) may still 
affect the future growth of the business of China Creative. Despite of the cultural and 
entertainment industry in the mainland China was under tremendous challenges for the coming 
year, China Creative will invest more resources in media content creation, movie production and 
movie distribution business segments. In view of the rapid global development in media contents 
and the rising popularity of new media platforms among the mobile and internet users, China 
Creative hope to continue developing the quality media contents with the advantages of the 
existing platform resources and to thrive in the cultural and entertainment business.

Fair value losses of HK$301,000 (2020: HK$874,000) was recognised for the year ended 31 
December 2021 in relation to the investment in listed shares of China Creative. The Group’s 
shareholding were approximately 7.72% and 11.1% of issued share capital of China Creative as at 
31 December 2021 and 2020 respectively.
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(v)	 Shenzhen Hooenergy Technology Company Limited* (深圳滙能新能源科技有限公司, 
“Hooenergy”)
Hooenergy is engaged in the development and operation of electric vehicle (“EV”) charging piles 
in the PRC. According to a research published by China Electric Vehicle Charging Infrastructure 
Promotion Alliance (中國電動汽車充電基礎設施促進聯盟) in January 2022, Hooenergy is one of 
the top ten charging pile operators in the PRC. In 2021, more than 3 million of EVs were 
registered in the PRC, representing 180% increase on a year-on-year basis. In order to achieve net 
zero carbon emissions by 2060, the PRC government has continued to provide subsidies to the EV 
owners, which in turn boost the number of EVs and the demand of charging facilities.

(vi)	 GeneSort
GeneSort is a company incorporated in Israel principally engaged in advanced personalised 
molecular diagnostic services for cancer evaluation and cure. GeneSort aims to harness cutting 
edge technologies to elucidate the genetic DNA profile of patients, with particular focus on 
cancer and hereditary diseases.

GeneSort was conducting research and development (“R&D”) in various DNA analytical and 
sampling techniques for more efficient detection of tumors, however, being a company in R&D 
stage, it relies on the ability to obtain new funding in order to realise its R&D objectives. 
Unfortunately, the company encountered significant difficulty in obtaining new funds during the 
pandemic. Its management is hoping to renew the efforts in seeking new funds when the 
economic situation improves.
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Financial Results

Revenue for the year under review increased to HK$20.0 million from HK$4.0 million for last year, while total 
operating expenses (being administrative and operating expenses) for the year under review decreased to 
HK$28.7 million from HK$38.0 million for last year.

Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss of HK$2.6 million (2020: HK$142.0 
million) was recognised in profit or loss for the year under review.

No gain on the disposal of subsidiaries (2020: HK$2.5 million) was recognised in profit or loss for the year 
under review.

Other income for the year under review decreased to HK$6.3 million from HK$26.0 million for last year due 
to bad debt recovery of HK$13.1 million incurred for last year.

Finance income for the year under review of HK$41.1 million (2020: Nil) was recognised in profit or loss, 
mainly represent gains on borrowings waived for the year under review.

Finance costs for the year under review decreased to HK$12.0 million from HK$18.6 million for last year, 
mainly represent the effective interest expense of borrowings of the Company with a principal amount of 
HK$184 million.

As a result, the Group reported a profit attributable to owners of the Company for the year under review of 
HK$18.7 million as compared to a loss of HK$205.6 million for last year.

Segment Results

The chief operating decision makers, which are collectively the Executive Directors of the Company, identify 
the Group has only one operating segment, which is strategic investment.

No separate analysis of segment information is presented by the Group for the year ended 31 December 
2021 as all of the Group’s revenue, results, assets and liabilities are related to the strategic investment 
business.
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Financial Position and Resources

Significant Capital Assets and Investments
Other than the significant investments disclosed in the section of “Management Discussion and Analysis — 
Business Review”, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment totalling HK$26,000 during the year 
under review.

Liquidity
As at 31 December 2021, the Group had cash and bank balances of HK$29.5 million and net current assets of 
HK$24.2 million, decreased from HK$30.3 million and increased from net current liabilities of HK$170.1 
million as at 31 December 2020, respectively. As at 31 December 2021, current assets and current liabilities 
of the Group were HK$36.0 million (31 December 2020: HK$54.2 million) and HK$11.8 million (31 December 
2020: HK$224.4 million) respectively. Accordingly, the Group’s current ratio was 3.1 (31 December 2020: 0.2). 
Further details of the Group’s risk management objectives and policies and exposure to liquidity risk, and 
current assets and current liabilities are set out in Notes 3 and 19 to 23 to the financial statements.

Gearing
The Group’s gearing ratio summary at 31 December 2021 and 2020 refer to Note 3.2 to the financial 
statements.

Details of the Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies and exposure to capital risk are set 
out in Note 3 to the financial statements.

Charges

There were no significant charges on the Group’s investments and assets as at 31 December 2021.

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities

The Group had no material capital commitments and contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2021.

Equity Structure

An analysis of the movements in equity during the year under review is set out in the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity on page 70 of the financial statements.

As at 31 December 2021, the total issued share capital of the Company was 554,857,005 ordinary shares, 
increased from 549,982,005 ordinary shares as at 31 December 2020 due to the issuance of remuneration 
shares as compensation for consultancy service during the year under review. Details of the movements in 
share capital are set out in Note 27 to the financial statements.
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Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries, has purchased or sold any of the Company’s listed securities 
during the year under review.

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had 560,097 share options outstanding under the Company’s 2002 
Share Option Scheme of which were all exercisable.

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had 32,626,750 share options outstanding under the Company’s 
2014 Share Option Scheme of which were all exercisable. The Company can grant a further 54,023,200 
options pursuant to the existing shareholder mandate limit.

EMPLOYEE INFORMATION

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 26 full-time employees (2020: 26) across the entire Group. 
Employee remuneration (including directors’ remuneration) totalled HK$14.0 million (2020: HK$14.8 million). 
The remuneration packages of the Group’s Directors and employees are kept at a competitive level to attract, 
retain and motivate Directors and employees of the quality required to run the Group successfully. In general, 
remuneration consists of a combination of a fixed salary paid in cash and a performance linked bonus paid in 
cash and options. A portion of the bonus may be deferred subject to the achievement of certain pre-
determined targets and conditions. The Group’s remuneration policies and practices are reviewed annually 
and benchmarked against sectors of financial and banking institutions.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the Group’s retirement benefit schemes are set out in Note 2.18(ii) to the financial statements.

FOREIGN CURRENCY EXPOSURE

Details of the Group’s financial risk management objectives and policies and exposure to foreign currency 
risk are set out in Note 3 to the financial statements.

MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS

During the year under review, other than the significant disposals as detailed in Note 33 to the financial 
statements, the Group made no other significant acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries or affiliated 
companies.
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APPLICATION OF A REVIEW BY THE LISTING REVIEW COMMITTEE AND 
SUSPENSION OF TRADING

On 12 March 2021, the Company received a letter from the Stock Exchange notifying the Company of its 
decision that the Company has failed to carry out a business with a sufficient level of operations and assets of 
sufficient value to support its operations under Rule 17.26 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on 
GEM of the Stock Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”) to warrant the continued listing of its shares and that 
trading in the Company’s shares will be suspended on 24 March 2021 under Rule 9.04(3) of the GEM Listing 
Rules (the “Decision”).

Under Rule 9.14A(1) of the GEM Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange may cancel the listing of the Company’s 
shares if trading of the Company’s shares is suspended for a continuous period of 12 months.

On 19 March 2021, the Company has made a written submission to the GEM Listing Committee of the Stock 
Exchange (the “GEM Listing Committee”) to request for a hearing for review of the Decision (the “Review 
Hearing”). As the Decision is subject to review by the GEM Listing Committee, trading in Company’s shares 
was not suspended on 24 March 2021 pending the outcome of the Review Hearing. The Review Hearing was 
held on 22 June 2021. On 6 July 2021, the Company received a letter from the Stock Exchange notifying the 
Company that the GEM Listing Committee, having considered all the submissions (both written and oral) 
made by the Company and the Listing Division of the Stock Exchange, decided to uphold the Decision to 
suspend trading in the shares of the Company (the “GLC Decision”).

Under Chapter 4 of the GEM Listing Rules, the Company has the right to have the GLC Decision referred to 
the GEM Listing Review Committee of the Stock Exchange (the “GEM Listing Review Committee”) for review 
within seven business days from the date of the GLC Decision. Trading in the Company’s shares will be 
suspended after the expiry of seven business days from the date of the GLC Decision (i.e. 16 July 2021), 
unless the Company applies for a review of the GLC Decision.

On 15 July 2021, after careful consideration of the relevant factors pertaining to the prospect of success for a 
review of the GLC Decision, the Board has decided not to apply for a further review of the GLC Decision by 
the GEM Listing Review Committee. Therefore, trading in the shares of the Company on the Stock Exchange 
was suspended with effect from 9:00 a.m. on 16 July 2021. On 19 July 2021, the Company had been notified 
by the Stock Exchange the guidance for resumption of trading in shares of the Company.

For details, please refer to announcements of the Company dated 12 March 2021, 19 March 2021, 3 May 
2021, 6 July 2021, 15 July 2021, 19 July 2021, 15 October 2021 and 14 January 2022.

Quarterly announcement will be made by the Company updating the status on resumption of trading in the 
Shares of the Company and further announcement(s) will be made by the Company as and when appropriate 
and in compliance with the requirements under the GEM Listing Rules.
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CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

The Group, through its wholly-owned subsidiary HGGL, indirectly owned a wholly-foreign-owned-enterprise, 
深圳八零八八科技有限公司 (“WFOE”), which has entered into the corresponding contractual arrangements to 
control and operate a foreign restricted business, namely 上海威搜游科技有限公司 (“VSOYOU”) under the 
relevant PRC laws and regulations (the “Contractual Arrangements”).

PARTICULARS OF VSOYOU AND ITS REGISTERED OWNERS, AND A SUMMARY OF 
THE MAJOR TERMS OF THE CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENTS

VSOYOU is a company with limited liability established in the PRC, its registered owners are 張永鋒先生 (Mr. 
Zhang Yong Feng*) and 陳曉萍女士 (Ms. Chen Xiao Ping*). A summary of the major terms of the Contractual 
Arrangements has been published on the website of the Company.

DESCRIPTION OF VSOYOU’S BUSINESS ACTIVITIES AND THEIR SIGNIFICANCE TO 
THE GROUP

VSOYOU and its subsidiaries are primarily engaged in the development and operation of mobile-online 
games business in the PRC. The net asset value of VSOYOU was approximately HK$3,510,000 and 
HK$5,091,000 as at 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively, which represents approximately 6.5% and 
14.5% of the Group’s net assets as at 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively. The revenue of VSOYOU 
was approximately HK$1,783,000 and HK$2,433,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, 
respectively, which represents approximately 9% and 60% of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 
December 2021 and 2020, respectively. The net loss of VSOYOU was approximately HK$2,713,000 and 
HK$8,622,000 for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, respectively.

REASON FOR USING THE CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

As advised by the PRC legal adviser of the Company, VSOYOU is primarily engaged in the development and 
operation of mobile-online games business and is considered to be engaged in the provision of value-added 
telecommunication services and internet cultural business. Pursuant to the applicable PRC laws and 
regulations, the said business of VSOYOU is subject to prohibition on foreign investment. Shareholders of 
VSOYOU are required to be PRC domestic natural persons, enterprise legal persons or other social 
organisations and foreign investors are not allowed to directly invest in VSOYOU. As such, the Group cannot 
acquire the equity interest in VSOYOU at that time. Having regard to such foreign investment restrictions, the 
Contractual Arrangements were designed to provide WFOE and, thus the Group with effective control over 
the financial and operational policies of VSOYOU and (to the extent permitted by PRC laws and regulations) 
the right to acquire the equity interest in VSOYOU.
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RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS AND ACTIONS 
TAKEN BY THE COMPANY TO MITIGATE THE RISKS

WFOE does not have any direct equity ownership in VSOYOU and will have to rely on the Contractual 
Arrangements to control, operate, and be entitled to the economic benefits and risks arising from the value-
added telecommunication services and internet cultural business in the PRC conducted through VSOYOU. 
However, there are risks involved with the operations of WFOE’s business under the Contractual 
Arrangements, as the case may be.

(i)	 There is no assurance that the Contractual Arrangements could comply with future changes in the 
regulatory requirements in the PRC and the PRC government may determine that the Contractual 
Arrangements do not comply with applicable regulations.

(ii)	 The Contractual Arrangements may not be as effective in providing control over and entitlement to the 
economic interests in VSOYOU as direct ownership.

(iii)	 Potential conflicts of interest among WFOE, VSOYOU and existing shareholder(s) of VSOYOU may exist.

(iv)	 The Contractual Arrangements may be subject to scrutiny of the PRC tax authorities and additional tax 
may be imposed.

(v)	 WFOE’s ability to acquire the entire equity interests in or assets of VSOYOU may be subject to various 
limitations and substantial costs.

(vi)	 Certain terms of the Contractual Arrangements may not be enforceable under the PRC laws.

In light of the above risks associated with the Contractual Arrangements, the Group has adopted a set of 
procedures, systems and internal control measures to ensure the sound and effective operation of the Group 
and the implementation of the Contractual Arrangements. Such procedures, systems and internal control 
measures include (i) regular discussions of matters relating to compliance and regulatory enquiries from 
governmental authorities, if any, by the board of directors of the Company at board meetings; and (ii) 
retaining legal adviser and/or other professional to assist the Group to deal with specific issues arising from 
the Contractual Arrangements, if so required.

MATERIAL CHANGE OR UNWINDING OF THE CONTRACTUAL ARRANGEMENTS

There was no material change or unwinding of the Contractual Arrangements since the date of the 
Contractual Arrangements were entered into up to the date of this report.

*  For identification purpose only
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS

Ms. Chan Suet Ngan

Ms. Chan, aged 51, joined the Board in January 2018, and was appointed as an Executive Director. Ms. Chan 
was appointed as the Company Secretary of the Company in November 2013. Ms. Chan is currently the 
chairman of Nomination Committee of the Board, the Authorised Representative, the Head of Finance and 
Company Secretariat of the Company and is responsible for overseeing the finance and accounting 
operations as well as compliance of policies, rules and procedures in relation to accounting matters of the 
Group. She also acts as director of certain subsidiaries of the Group. Ms. Chan possesses over 20 years 
experience in the fields of accounting, finance and company secretariat. Before joining the Company, she 
held senior position in the accounts and finance department in a listed company in Hong Kong.

Ms. Chan is a member of CPA Australia and is also a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants. She obtained her Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Auckland, New Zealand.

Mr. Hu Kenneth

Mr. Hu Kenneth, aged 35, joined the Board in January 2018, and was appointed as an Executive Director. Mr. 
Hu Kenneth is also the member of the Remuneration Committee of the Board, the Compliance Officer and 
the Authorised Representative of the Company. He has served various key roles across several functions in 
the Group since joining the Group in 2015. Mr. Hu Kenneth has accumulated extensive experience and deep 
understanding in corporate strategy management, innovation management, financial and investment through 
these managerial roles within the Group. He also acts as director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Mr. Hu Kenneth obtained a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of Queensland, Australia.

Mr. Yuen Kwok On

Mr. Yuen, aged 56, joined the Board in July 2013, and was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive 
Director. Mr. Yuen is also the chairman of the Audit Committee, the chairman of the Remuneration 
Committee and a member of the Nomination Committee of the Board. He has extensive experience in 
financial analysis, risk control and mergers and acquisitions. Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Yuen was the 
chief financial officer and company secretary of Orange Sky Golden Harvest Entertainment (Holdings) Limited 
(“OSGH”). He joined OSGH in October 1996 and has in-depth knowledge of operations of film distribution 
and exhibition business. OSGH’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (Stock code: 1132). From October 2015 to July 2017, he was an independent 
non-executive director of Mason Group Holdings Limited (Stock code: 273), which is listed on the Stock 
Exchange.

Mr. Yuen is a member of the CPA Australia and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He 
obtained a master’s degree of business administration from Hong Kong Baptist University.
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Mr. Yau Chung Hang

Mr. Yau, aged 49, joined the Board in July 2019, and was appointed as an Independent Non-Executive 
Director. Mr. Yau is a member of the Audit Committee of the Board. He has over 21 years of experience in 
finance and accounting. Mr. Yau is currently an independent non-executive director of Shuang Yun Holdings 
Limited (stock code: 1706) from October 2017, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, 
which engages in roadworks services and construction machinery rental services in Singapore. Mr. Yau had 
been appointed as an independent non-executive director of Wang Yang Holdings Limited (now known as 
Central Holding Group Co., Ltd.) (stock code: 1735) from March 2018 to October 2019, a company listed on 
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, which engages in construction works. Mr. Yau had been appointed as 
an executive director of Tokyo Chuo Auction Holdings Limited (stock code: 1939) from September 2018 to 
September 2019, a company listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange, which engages in artwork auction 
business in both Japan and Hong Kong. Mr. Yau had been appointed as an independent non-executive 
director of ABC Communications (Holdings) Limited (now known as Ban Loong Holdings Limited) (stock code: 
30) from May 2013 to October 2014, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Yau obtained a Higher Diploma in Accountancy from the City University of Hong Kong in November 
1995. He holds a degree of Bachelor of Arts in Accountancy from the University of Bolton, the United 
Kingdom in August 2005. He has been a fellow member of The Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants since December 2006 and a member of Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants 
since April 2002.

Mr. Ip Wing Wai

Mr. Ip, aged 43, joined the Board in June 2020, and was appointed as an Independent Non- Executive 
Director. Mr. Ip is a member each of the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Audit 
Committee of the Board. Mr. Ip possesses more than 20 years of experience in accounting, auditing and 
corporate fields and worked in an international accounting firm.

Mr. Ip holds a Bachelor degree in Business Administration in Accounting from The Hong Kong University of 
Science and Technology. He is a member of The Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 
2004.
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The Directors present their report and the audited financial statements of the Company and the Group for 
the year ended 31 December 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is to act as the holding company of the Group. The Group is principally 
engaged in the business of strategic investment. The principal activities of the Company’s principal 
subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021 are set out in Note 34 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 and the state of affairs of the Group and the 
Company at that date are set out in the consolidated financial statements on pages 66 to 162.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a dividend for the year.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board considers stable dividend payment to the shareholders of the Company to be one of the main 
objectives of the Company. The declaration and payment of dividends of the Company shall be determined 
at the discretion of the Board and subject to all applicable laws and regulations in the Cayman Islands and 
Hong Kong and the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company.

The dividend policy adopted by the Company aims to set out the principles and guidelines that the Company 
intends to apply in relation to the declaration, payment or distribution of its net profits as dividends to the 
shareholders of the Company.

When considering the declaration and payment of dividends, the Board shall take into account the following 
factors of the Group:

•	 financial results;
•	 cash flow situation;
•	 business conditions and strategies;
•	 future operations and earnings;
•	 capital requirements and expenditure plans;
•	 interests of shareholders;
•	 any restrictions on payment of dividends; and
•	 any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or scrip or by other means that the Board 
considers appropriate. Any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to shareholders’ approval.

The Board will review the dividend policy and make any necessary amendments as appropriate from time to 
time.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set out in Note 27 to the 
financial statements.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the year are set out in Note 28 
to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had no distributable reserves.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Details of the movements in convertible bonds of the Company during the year are set out in Note 24 to the 
financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set out in Note 
15 to the financial statements.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for the pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles of Association, or the laws of 
the Cayman Islands, which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing 
shareholders.

STATE OF THE GROUP’S ORDER BOOK

As at 31 December 2021, the Group does not have any order book and prospects for new business including 
new products and services introduced or announced.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out 
on page 163.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITIES

The Company has not redeemed any of its shares during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. 
Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries, has purchased or sold any of the Company’s listed securities 
during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEMES

Details of the Share Option Schemes are set out in Note 29 to the financial statements.

The Company’s share option scheme which was adopted on 27 March 2002 (the “2002 Share Option 
Scheme”) was expired and a new share option scheme (the “2014 Share Option Scheme”) was adopted by 
an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the Company on 
15 April 2014 (the “Adoption Date”). The 2014 Share Option Scheme constitutes a share option scheme 
governed by Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules and will remain in force for 10 years from the Adoption 
Date.

Upon the expiry of the 2002 Share Option Scheme, no further option can be offered thereunder but any 
options granted prior to such expiry but not yet exercised shall continue to be valid and exercisable.

The Company operates both the 2002 Share Option Scheme and the 2014 Share Option Scheme for the 
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success of the 
Group’s operation. Pursuant to the 2014 Share Option Scheme, the directors of the Company may grant 
options to eligible participants persons (as defined in the 2014 Share Option Scheme) to subscribe for shares 
in the Company subject to the terms and conditions stipulated therein.

Summary of the 2014 Share Option Scheme disclosed in accordance with the GEM Listing Rules is as follows:

Purpose of the scheme To encourage the participants to perform their best in achieving 
the goals of the Group and at the same time allow the participants 
to enjoy the results of the Group attained through their efforts and 
contributions and to provide the participants with incentives and 
help the Group in retaining and recruiting talents.

Participants of the scheme Eligible participant may be a person or an entity belonging to any 
of the following classes:

(a)	 any eligible employee (i.e. any employee of or any person 
who has accepted an offer of employment from (whether full 
time or part time employee, including any executive director 
but not any non-executive director) the Company, its 
subsidiaries and any entity in which the Group holds any 
equity interest (the "Invested Entity")) (the "Eligible 
Employee");

(b)	 any non-executive director (including independent non-
executive directors) of the Company, any of its subsidiaries or 
any Invested Entity;
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(c)	 any supplier of goods or services to any member of the 
Group or any Invested Entity;

(d)	 any customer of the Group or any Invested Entity;

(e)	 any person or entity acting in their capacities as advisers or 
consultants to the Group or any Invested Entity; and

(f)	 any shareholder of any member of the Group or any Invested 
Entity or any holder of any securities issued by any member 
of the Group or any Invested Entity from time to time 
determined by the Directors having contributed or may 
contribute to the development and growth of the Group or 
any Invested Entity.

Total number of shares 
available for issue under the 
2014 Share Option Scheme 
and percentage of issued share 
capital as at the date of this 
report

The Company has refreshed the scheme limit on 10 May 2019. As 
at the date of this report, the total number of shares available for 
allotment and issue under 2014 Share Option Scheme and 
previous share option scheme is 87,210,047 Shares, representing 
approximately 15.71% of the Company’s total number of issued 
shares as at the date of this report.

Maximum entitlement of each 
participant under the scheme

The total number of shares issued and which may fall to be issued 
upon exercise of the options granted under the 2014 Share Option 
Scheme (including both exercised and outstanding options) to 
each grantee in any 12–month period shall not exceed 1% of the 
issued share capital of the Company for the time being unless it is 
approved by shareholders at general meeting of the Company 
with such grantee and his associates abstaining from voting. Where 
any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an 
independent non-executive director or any of their respective 
associates, would result in the shares issued and to be allotted and 
issued upon exercise of all options already granted and to be 
granted (including options exercised, cancelled or outstanding) to 
such person in the 12–month period up to and including the date 
of such grant: (a) representing in aggregate over 0.1% of the 
shares in issue; and (b) having an aggregate value, based on the 
closing price of shares at the date of each grant, in excess of HK$5 
million; such further grant of options must be approved by 
shareholders at general meeting of the Company.
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The period within which the 
shares must be taken up under 
an option

A period to be specified by the Directors and not to exceed 10 
years from the date of grant of options.

The minimum period for which 
an option must be held before 
it can be exercised

Any period as determined by the Directors.

The amount payable on 
application or acceptance of 
the option and the period 
within which payments or calls 
must or may be made or loans 
for such purposes must be 
repaid

HK$10.00 is payable within 28 days from the date of offer in 
relation to the grant of the options.

The basis of determining the 
exercise price

The exercise price is determined by the Directors which must be at 
least the higher of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the 
daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date 
of grant, which must be a trading day; and (ii) the average closing 
price of the Shares as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by 
the Stock Exchange for the five trading days immediately 
preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the 
Share.

The remaining life of the 
scheme

The 2014 Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a 
period of 10 years from the date of adoption, i.e. 15 April 2014.
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DONATIONS

During the year, HK$1,750 donation has been made (2020: HK$5,000).

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors:

Chan Suet Ngan
Hu Kenneth

Independent Non-Executive Directors:

Yuen Kwok On
Yau Chung Hang
Ip Wing Wai

Besides, Chan Suet Ngan and Yau Chung Hang retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-
election at the Annual General Meeting in accordance with article 87 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association.

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, an annual confirmation 
of his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the GEM of The 
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the GEM Listing Rules”). The Company considers all of the 
Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, every Director shall be entitled to be indemnified out 
of the assets of the Company against all losses or liabilities which he/she may sustain or incur in or about the 
execution of the duties of his/her office or otherwise in relation thereto.

The Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance coverage for the Directors 
and officers of the Group throughout the year.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors offering themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting has a 
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within 
one year without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

Details of the Company’s Directors’ remuneration are set out in Note 10(a) to the financial statements.
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR 
CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no other transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance in 
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company’s or any of its subsidiaries was a party, and in which a 
Director or its connected entities had a material interest (whether directly or indirectly) subsisting at the end 
of the year or at any time during the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACT

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the 
business of the Company or its subsidiaries were entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2021, the interests or short positions of the Directors and chief executives of the 
Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any of its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the laws 
of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)), which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken 
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be 
kept under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
pursuant to Rule 5.46 to Rule 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by Directors, 
were as follows: 

(i)	 Interests in the ordinary shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”)

Name of Directors
Personal
interest

Corporate 
interest

Family
interest

Aggregate
long

position in
Shares

Approximate
percentage of

the issued
share capital

of the Company
      

Ms. Chan Suet Ngan 19,850 – – 19,850 0.003%
Mr. Hu Kenneth (Note) – – 630,000 630,000 0.11%
Mr. Yuen Kwok On
  (“Mr. Yuen”) 99,000 – – 99,000 0.01%

Note:

1.	 Ms. Qian Alexandra Gaochuan (“Ms. Qian”), the spouse of Mr. Hu Kenneth holds 630,000 Shares. Accordingly, Mr. Hu 

Kenneth is deemed to be interested in 630,000 Shares.
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(ii)	 Interests in the underlying Shares

Outstanding share options

Name of Directors Date of grant

Exercise

price

Exercise 

period

Balance as at

1 January

2021

Granted

during

the year

Exercised

during

the year

Cancelled/

lapsed

during

the year

Balance as at

31 December

2021

(dd/mm/yyyy) (HK$) (Notes)         

Ms. Chan Suet Ngan 01/04/2016 4.94 (1) 200,000 – – – 200,000
19/05/2017 1.56 (2) 600,000 – – – 600,000     

800,000 – – – 800,000
     

Mr. Hu Kenneth 01/04/2016 4.94 (1) 400,000 – – – 400,000
  (Note 3) 19/05/2017 1.56 (2) 2,800,000 – – – 2,800,000     

3,200,000 – – – 3,200,000
     

Mr. Yuen 01/04/2016 4.94 (1) 150,000 – – – 150,000
19/05/2017 1.56 (2) 100,000 – – – 100,000     

250,000 – – – 250,000
     

Notes:

(1)	 Divided into two tranches exercisable from 1 October 2016 and 1 April 2017, respectively to 31 March 2026.

(2)	 Exercisable from 19 May 2017 to 18 May 2027.

(3)	 Ms. Qian, the spouse of Mr. Hu Kenneth, holds 200,000 share options and 1,400,000 share options at an exercise of HK$4.94 
per share and HK$1.56 per share respectively, to subscribe for Shares.

(iii)	 Short positions 

None of the Directors held short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any 
Associated Corporation. 

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors or chief executives of the 
Company had any interests and short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the 
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), which were 
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part 
XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under 
such provision of the SFO), or which were recorded in the register required to be kept under section 
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Rule 5.46 
to Rule 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules relating to securities transactions by Directors. 
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS AND OTHER PERSONS

As at 31 December 2021, the following persons, other than the Directors or chief executive of the Company, 
had interests or short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be 
disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or is expected, 
directly or indirectly, to be interested in 5% or more of the nominal value of any class of share capital carrying 
rights to vote in all circumstances at general meetings of any other member of the Group. 

(i)	 Interests in the Shares and underlying Shares

Name

Aggregate
long position

in Shares

Aggregate
long position
in underlying

Shares

Approximate
percentage of

the issued
share capital

of the
Company

    

Substantial Shareholders
Mr. Wu King Shiu, Kelvin (‘‘Mr. Wu’’)
  (Notes 1 and 2) 119,484,282 5,294,200 22.48%
Ms. Li Mau (Notes 1 and 2) 119,484,282 5,294,200 22.48%
AID Cap II (Note 1) 104,939,882 – 18.91%
AID Partners GP2, Ltd. (Note 1) 104,939,882 – 18.91%
Billion Town Limited (Note 1) 104,939,882 – 18.91%
Leader Fortune International Limited (Note 1) 104,939,882 – 18.91%
Hong Kong HNA Holding Group Co. Limited 
  (Note 3) 66,141,232 – 11.92%
Mr. Wong Kwok Ho (‘‘Mr. Wong’’) 
  (Notes 4 and 5) 42,308,200 4,500,000 8.43%
Ms. Chau Mui (Notes 4 and 5) 42,308,200 4,500,000 8.43%
Mr. David Tin 45,454,400 – 8.19%
Abundant Star Ventures Limited (Note 1) 45,454,545 – 8.19%
Vantage Edge Limited (Note 1) 34,090,937 – 6.14%
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Notes:

1.	 Mr. Wu owns 6,264,400 Shares. Hero Sign Limited, Abundant Star Ventures Limited and Vantage Edge Limited own 
25,394,400 Shares, 45,454,545 Shares and 34,090,937 Shares, respectively. Mr. Wu is deemed to have interests in 25,394,400 
Shares, 45,454,545 Shares and 34,090,937 Shares of which Hero Sign Limited, Abundant Star Ventures Limited and Vantage 
Edge Limited were deemed to be interested by virtue of the SFO since Mr. Wu indirectly owns 100% through Billion Town 
Limited, of the issued share capital of AID Partners GP2, Ltd.. AID Partners GP2, Ltd. is the general partner of AID Partners 
Capital II, L.P. (“AID Cap II”). AID Cap II is interested in the entire issued share capital of Leader Fortune International Limited, 
which is interested in the entire issued share capital of Hero Sign Limited, Abundant Star Ventures Limited and Vantage Edge 
Limited. Further, Mr. Wu is interested in 1,344,200 share options, 3,500,000 share options and 450,000 share options at an 
exercise price of HK$3.20 per Share, HK$4.94 per Share and HK$1.56 per Share, respectively, to subscribe for Shares. Ms. Li 
Mau, as the spouse of Mr. Wu, is deemed to be interested in these Shares and underlying Shares for the purpose of the SFO.

2.	 Billion Express Consultants Limited (“Billion Express”) owns 8,280,000 Shares. The entire issued share capital of Billion Express 
is wholly-owned by Ms. Li Mau. Mr. Wu, as the spouse of Ms. Li Mau, is deemed to be interested in these Shares held by 
Billion Express for the purpose of the SFO.

3.	 Hong Kong HNA Holding Group Co. Limited is wholly-owned by HNA Holdings International Co., Ltd. (“HNA Holdings”). 
HNA Holdings is wholly-owned by HNA Logistics Group Co., Ltd. (“HNA Logistics”). HNA Logistics is owned as to 51.38% by 
HNA Holding Group Co., Ltd. and 21.61% by HNA Group Co., Ltd.. HNA Holding Group Co., Ltd. is owned as to 96.06% by 
HNA Group Co., Ltd.. HNA Group Co., Ltd. is owned as to approximately 70% by Hainan Traffic Administration Holding Co., 
Ltd. (“Hainan Traffic”). Hainan Traffic is owned as to approximately 50% by Sheng Tang Development (Yangpu) Co. Limited 
(“Sheng Tang”). Sheng Tang is owned as to 35% by Tang Dynasty Development Co. Limited (“Tang Dynasty”) and 65% by 
Hainan Province Cihang Foundation. Tang Dynasty is owned as to approximately 98% by Pan-American Aviation Holding 
Company, which is in turn 100% beneficially owned by Cihang Sino-Western Cultural and Educational Exchange Foundation 
Limited.

4.	 Mr. Wong owns 16,839,200 Shares and is interested in 4,500,000 share options at an exercises price of HK$1.56 per Share to 
subscribe for Shares. Mr. Wong is deemed to be interested in 24,375,000 Shares as mentioned in Note 5 below. Ms. Chau 
Mui, as the spouse of Mr. Wong, owns 1,094,000 Shares and is deemed to be interested in all Shares and underlying shares 
held by Mr. Wong.

5.	 Sky March Limited (“Sky March”) entered into a consulting service agreement with the Company dated 5 May 2017 (the 
“Consulting Service Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company has issued 97,500,000 Shares (4,875,000 Shares adjusted 
upon the Share Consolidation), 97,500,000 Shares (4,875,000 Shares adjusted upon the Share Consolidation), 4,875,000 
Shares, 4,875,000 Shares and 4,875,000 Shares to Sky March on 25 May 2017, 28 May 2018, 28 May 2019, 28 May 2020 and 
28 May 2021 respectively in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Consulting Service Agreement. Mr. Wong is 
interest in these Shares through his 100% interest in Sky March.

(ii)	 Short positions 

No person held short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the 
register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO. 

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, the Directors of the Company were not aware of any 
other person who had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company 
which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of 
the SFO. 

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2021, no other person had interests which were recorded 
in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the SFO.
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COMPETING INTERESTS

So far as the Directors were aware, none of the other Directors or their respective associates were interested 
in any business which competes or is likely to compete, whether directly or indirectly, with the business of the 
Group.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long-term sustainability of its businesses and the communities with which it 
engages. We pursue this business approach by managing our business prudently and executing management 
decisions with due care and attention. We will continue to update the requirements of the relevant 
environmental laws and regulations applicable to it to ensure compliance. During the year under review, the 
Group has complied with the relevant environmental laws and regulations applicable to it in all material 
respects.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group continues to update the requirement of the relevant laws and regulations in various countries, 
particularly in Hong Kong and the PRC, applicable to the Group to ensure compliance. Substantially a 
majority of the Group’s assets and revenue are located in and derived from Hong Kong and the PRC. During 
the year under review, the Group complied with the relevant laws and regulations in various countries 
applicable to it in all material respects.

MAJOR CLIENTS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, approximately 49% and 95% of the Group’s revenue were attributable to the Group’s largest 
customer and five largest customers, respectively.

During the year, approximately 60% and 93% of the Group’s cost of sales were attributable to the Group’s 
largest supplier and five largest suppliers, respectively.

So far as the Directors were aware, none of the Directors, their close associates, or any shareholders (which to 
the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) were 
interested in any customers and suppliers disclosed above.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Except otherwise disclosed in the financial statements, the Group had no transactions incurred during the 
year which need to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of the GEM 
Listing Rules.

Details of related party transactions are set out in Note 30 to the financial statements.
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FINANCIAL ASSISTANCE AND GUARANTEES TO AFFILIATED COMPANIES

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had no advances outstanding which were non-trading in nature and 
exceeded 8% of the total assets of the Group as at 31 December 2021 which was required to be disclosed 
under Rule 17.18 of the GEM Listing Rules.

FULL NAME AND QUALIFICATIONS OF COMPANY SECRETARY AND THE 
COMPLIANCE OFFICER

The Company Secretary of the Company is Chan Suet Ngan. She holds a bachelor’s degree in commerce, 
major in accounting and finance. She is a member of CPA Australia and is also a member of the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

The Compliance Officer of the Company is Hu Kenneth. He holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the 
University of Queensland, Australia. 

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of these financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

The Company has maintained sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31 December 2021.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 were audited by Linksfield CPA Limited 
(“Linksfield”) who will retire from office and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company. The financial statements for the years ended 31 
December 2020 and 2019 were audited by Linksfield, and the financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2018 was audited by BDO Limited.

Save as disclosed above, there have been no changes of independent auditors for the preceding three years.

For and on behalf of the Board
Chan Suet Ngan
Executive Director
25 March 2022
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company has complied with the code provisions (“Code 
Provisions”) as set out in the Corporate Governance Code contained in Appendix 15 of the GEM Listing 
Rules, except for the following deviations:

Code Provision A.2.1

Code Provision A.2.1 provides that the roles of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) should be 
separate and should not be performed by the same individual.

The Company has not appointed CEO and Chairman. Up to the date of this report, the role and function of 
CEO and Chairman have been performed by the two Executive Directors of the Company collectively.

Code Provision E.1.2

Code Provision E.1.2 provides that the Chairman of the Board should attend the annual general meeting to 
answer questions at the annual general meeting. The Company has not appointed the Chairman of the 
Company. Ms. Chan Suet Ngan (“Ms. Chan”) and Mr. Hu Kenneth had attended the meeting and Ms. Chan 
had chaired the annual general meeting and answer any questions from shareholders.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS 

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions on terms no less 
exacting than the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing Rules. 

Having made specific enquiries of all Directors of the Company, the Company is satisfied that the Directors of 
the Company have complied with the required standard of dealings set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM 
Listing Rules, and with the Company’s code of conduct regarding Directors’ securities transactions. 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises five Directors, of which three are Independent Non-
Executive Directors, as follows:

Executive Directors:
Chan Suet Ngan
Hu Kenneth

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Yuen Kwok On
Yau Chung Hang
Ip Wing Wai

The biographies of the Directors are set out under the “Profiles of Directors” on pages 14 to 15, and are 
posted on the Company’s website (www.8088inc.com).
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The principal role of the Board is to provide strategic leadership to the Group within a framework of prudent 
and effective controls, which enables risk to be assessed and managed. The Board sets the Group’s strategic 
aims, oversees the allocation of financial and human resources and reviews management performance. The 
Board sets the Group’s values and standards and ensures that its obligations to shareholders and others are 
met and understood. The Board meets at least quarterly to review and discuss the Group’s performance, 
strategy and business opportunities available. The Board also reviews and approves the Quarterly, Interim 
and Annual Reports of the Company. The Board has delegated the day-to-day running of the Group to the 
Executive Directors/Chief Executive Officer and the Group’s management team. However, the Board retains 
responsibility for:

•	 Approving annual operating and capital expenditure budgets and any material changes to them;

•	 Approving the remuneration of the Directors (based on the recommendations of the Remuneration 
Committee);

•	 Approving the appointment of Directors (based on recommendations of the Nomination Committee);

•	 Approving the Quarterly, Interim and Annual Reports (based on recommendations of the Audit 
Committee);

•	 Approving any decision to cease to operate all or any material part of the business;

•	 Approving any changes relating to the Group’s capital structure, including the reduction of capital, 
share issues and share buy backs; and

•	 Approval of dividend policy and declaration of interim and final dividends.

The Company has complied with Rules 5.05(1) and (2) of the GEM Listing Rules relating to the appointment 
of sufficient number of Independent Non-Executive Directors. An Independent Non-Executive Director has 
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company considers that each of its Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent in accordance 
with the guidelines for assessing independence set out in Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules.

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-Executive Directors, an annual confirmation 
of his independence pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the 
Independent Non-Executive Directors are independent.

Save as disclosed herein, the Company considers that there is no relationship (including financial, business, 
family or other material/relevant relationship) among the members of the Board.
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Term of Appointment and Re-election
The Non-Executive Directors were appointed for fixed terms of one year and thereafter are terminable on 
three month’s written notice from either party. Every Director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once 
every three years. All Directors appointed to fill a casual vacancy are subject to election by shareholders at 
the first general meeting after their appointment.

Training and Support for Directors
All the Directors, including Non-Executive Directors and Independent Non-Executive Directors, are briefed 
on regular basis to have a proper understanding of their collective responsibilities as Directors and of the 
operations and business of the Group. The Group assists in arranging professional development training to 
all the Directors to develop and refresh the Directors’ knowledge and skills, and continuously updates all the 
Directors on latest developments regarding the GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory 
requirements to ensure compliance and to enhance their awareness of good corporate governance practices.

During the year under review, the Directors also participated in the following trainings:

Attending or
participating in

the briefing sessions/
seminars/

programmes
relevant to

the business/
directors’ duties

  

Executive Directors:
Chan Suet Ngan ✓

Hu Kenneth ✓

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Yuen Kwok On ✓

Yau Chung Hang ✓

Ip Wing Wai ✓
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Board Meetings
There have been 9 meetings of the Board during the year.

Attendance of individual Directors at meetings of the Board held during the year was as follows:

No. of board
meetings attended

  

Chan Suet Ngan 9/9
Hu Kenneth 9/9
Yuen Kwok On 9/9
Yau Chung Hang 9/9
Ip Wing Wai 9/9

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

According to the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) adopted by the Company, Board 
diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural 
and educational background, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service etc. All Board 
appointments will be based on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria, 
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Selection of candidates will be based on a range 
of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, 
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service etc. The final decision will be based 
on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board. The Nomination Committee 
will monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and will from time to time review the Board 
Diversity Policy as appropriate to ensure its effectiveness. The Nomination Committee will discuss any 
proposed revisions to the Board Diversity Policy and make recommendation on such revisions to the Board 
for consideration and approval as it sees fit.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The Board has not appointed an individual to take up the vacancy of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of 
the Company, and the role and function of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer have been performed by 
the two Executive Directors of the Company collectively.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company established a Remuneration Committee on 11 August 2005. The Committee meets at least 
once a year. The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are posted on the Company’s website 
(www.8088inc.com). The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee include: recommending to the 
Board the policy and structure for the remuneration of the Chairman, Executive Directors and senior 
management (as determined by the Board), determining the specific remuneration packages of the Chairman, 
Executive Directors and senior management, reviewing and approving performance-based remuneration and 
compensation for loss or termination of office payable to Chairman, Executive Directors and senior 
management, ensuring no Director is involved in deciding his or her own remuneration, and approving the 
service contracts of Directors. The Remuneration Committee also fulfils the role of an Options Committee for 
the Share Option Scheme and its main duty in this context is to approve the grant of options to relevant 
eligible participants.

The Remuneration Committee comprised a majority of Independent Non-Executive Directors, is chaired by 
Mr. Yuen Kwok On, and its membership includes Mr. Hu Kenneth and Mr. Ip Wing Wai.

There was 2 Remuneration Committee meeting during the year.

Attendance of individual members at meetings of the Remuneration Committee held during the year was as 
follows:

No. of
remuneration

committee
meetings attended

  

Yuen Kwok On 2/2
Hu Kenneth 2/2
Ip Wing Wai 2/2

The Remuneration Committee determined the specific remuneration packages of all the Executive Directors 
and senior management.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE AND NOMINATION OF DIRECTORS

The Company established a Nomination Committee on 11 August 2005. The terms of reference of the 
Nomination Committee are posted on the Company’s website (www.8088inc.com). The principal function of 
the Nomination Committee is the consideration and nomination of candidates to fill casual vacancies to the 
Board.

The Company acknowledges that the diversification of the members of the Board has positive effects on 
enhancing the Group’s performance. The Company sees the diversification of the members of the Board as 
an important supporting factor for the Group to achieve its strategic goal and maintain sustainable growth. In 
deciding the composition of the Board, the Company will consider the Board diversity from various 
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, 
professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. All of our Directors are appointed according 
to the principle of meritocracy while all candidates are being selected objectively, and the benefit of Board 
diversity will also be taken into full consideration.

The Nomination Committee comprised a majority of Independent Non-Executive Directors, is chaired by Ms. 
Chan Suet Ngan and its membership includes Mr. Yuen Kwok On and Mr. Ip Wing Wai.

There was 1 Nomination Committee meeting during the year.

Attendance of individual members at meetings of the Nomination Committee held during the year was as 
follows:

No. of
nomination
committee

meetings attended
  

Chan Suet Ngan 1/1
Yuen Kwok On 1/1
Ip Wing Wai 1/1
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NOMINATION POLICY

The key objectives of the nomination policy (the “Nomination Policy”) of the Company include the following:

•	 set out the criteria and process in the nomination and appointment of directors of the Company;

•	 ensure that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to 
the Company; and

•	 ensure the Board continuity and appropriate leadership at Board level.

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection and appointment of Directors to the 
Nomination Committee but the ultimate responsibility for selection and appointment of Directors of the 
Company rests with the entire Board.

In evaluating and selecting any candidate for directorship, the following criteria will be considered:

•	 Character and integrity.

•	 Qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience and diversity 
aspects under the board diversity policy that are relevant to the Company’s business and corporate 
strategy.

•	 Any measurable objectives adopted for achieving diversity on the Board.

•	 Requirement for the Board to have independent directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and 
whether the candidate would be considered independent with reference to the independence 
guidelines set out in the Listing Rules.

•	 Any potential contributions the candidate can bring to the Board in terms of qualifications, skills, 
experience, independence and gender diversity.

•	 Willingness and ability to devote adequate time to discharge duties as a member of the Board and/or 
Board committee(s) of the Company.

•	 Such other perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s business and succession plan and where 
applicable, may be adopted and/or amended by the Board and/or the Nomination Committee from 
time to time for nomination of directors and succession planning.
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The Nomination Committee and/or the Board will evaluate the candidates based on the criteria as set out 
above to determine whether such candidates are qualified for directorship. The Nomination Committee will 
also consider recommendations for candidates made by shareholders of the Company.

The Nomination Committee will conduct regular review on the structure, size and composition of the Board 
and this Policy and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the 
Company’s corporate strategy and business needs.

—	 to guide the Board in relation to the appointment, re-appointment and removal of Directors;

—	 to devise criteria for performance evaluation of the Independent Non-Executive Directors (the “INED”) 
and the Board as a whole; and

—	 to devise a policy on the size and composition of the Board taking into account the available and 
needed diversity and balance in terms of experience, knowledge, skills and judgment of the Directors.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate the integrity, qualification, expertise and experience of the 
candidates who are being considered for appointment or re-appointment as Director and ensure compliance 
with all applicable laws and regulations and the Listing Rules including any amendments thereto from time to 
time. The Nomination Committee shall also consider recommendations for candidates to the Board from 
shareholders of the Company.

Before making a recommendation to the Board, in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate for 
appointment or re-appointment, the Nomination Committee will consider a number of factors, including but 
not limited to:

—	 reputation for character and integrity;

—	 accomplishment and professional knowledge and industry experience which may be relevant to the 
Company;

—	 commitment in respect of available time;

—	 merit and potential contributions that such candidate could bring to the Board with reference to the 
Board Diversity Policy (as defined above), including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and 
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, independence, skills, knowledge and 
length of service;

—	 in case of an INED candidate, to assess the independence of such candidate with reference to, among 
other things, the independence criteria as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules; and

—	 current size and composition of the Board, the needs of the Board and the respective Board 
committees.
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The Company has devised a policy on Board diversity to ensure adequate diversity on its Board as the Board 
considers that diversity is an essential element for a successful and effective Board. Details of the policy on 
Board diversity are set out in the paragraph headed “Board Diversity Policy” above.

After the Nomination Committee makes its recommendation to the Board, the final decision on the 
appointment, re-appointment and removal on Directors rests with the Board. The Nomination Committee will 
monitor and review the Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to ensure its effectiveness from time to time. Any 
proposed changes to the Nomination Policy will be recommend to the Board for consideration and approval.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee on 31 March 2000 with the written terms of reference. The 
terms of reference are available on the Company’s website (www.8088inc.com). The Audit Committee 
comprises three Independent Non-Executive Directors, Mr. Yuen Kwok On (Chairman), Mr. Yau Chung Hang 
and Mr. Ip Wing Wai. The duties of the Audit Committee include: managing the relationship with the Group’s 
external auditor, reviewing the financial information of the Company, and overseeing the Company’s financial 
reporting process, risk management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee reports its work, 
findings and recommendations to the Board after each meeting.

The Audit Committee met 4 times during the year ended 31 December 2021.

Attendance of individual members at meetings of the Audit Committee during the year was as follows:

No. of
audit committee

meetings attended
  

Yuen Kwok On 4/4
Yau Chung Hang 4/4
Ip Wing Wai 4/4

The Audit Committee has met with the Auditor and the Financial Controller during the year to review the 
2020 Annual Report and the Quarterly Report for the quarters ended 31 March 2021 and 30 September 
2021, and the Interim Report for the six months ended 30 June 2021. The Audit Committee has also met to 
review these annual figures and was satisfied with the outcome of its review. It had also reviewed the scope 
of audit work, discussed and recommended the re-appointment of the external auditors and reviewed the 
internal control, financial reporting and risk management systems of the Company.

The composition of the Audit Committee meets the requirements of Rule 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Auditor’s remuneration in respect of audit and non-audit services provided by external auditor for the year 
ended 31 December 2021 amounted to HK$700,000 (2020: HK$700,000) and HK$196,000 (2020: 
HK$520,000) respectively. The non-audit services included the review of the Quarterly and Interim Reports of 
the Company during the year.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL SYSTEMS

The Board recognises its responsibility to ensure the Company maintains a sound and effective risk 
management and internal control system. The Group’s internal control system is designed and established to 
ensure that assets are safeguarded against improper use or disposal, relevant rules and regulations are adhered 
to and complied with, reliable financial and accounting records are maintained in accordance with relevant 
accounting standards and regulatory reporting requirements, and key risks that may impact on the Group’s 
performance are appropriately identified and managed. Review of the Group’s internal controls covering major 
financial, operational and compliance controls, as well as risk management functions. The internal control 
system can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or loss, as they 
are designed to manage, rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives.

The Group’s risk management framework includes risk identification, risk assessment, risk treatment and 
monitoring and reviewing of the effectiveness of the measures. This risk management framework is guided by 
the three-tier risk management approach. At the first line of defense, business divisions are responsible for 
identifying, assessing and monitoring risks associated with each business or deal. The management, as the 
second line of defense, defines rule sets and models, provides technical support, develops new systems and 
oversees portfolio management. It ensures that risks are within the acceptable range and that the first line of 
defense is effective. As the final line of defense, the audit committee of the Company, with the professional 
advices and opinions from the external professional consultant by whom internal audit work of the Group was 
conducted on annual basis, ensures that the first and second lines of defense are effective through constant 
inspection and monitoring.

In addition to the review of risk management and internal controls undertaken by the external professional 
consultants, the external auditor also assessed the adequacy and effectiveness of certain key risk 
management and internal controls as part of their statutory audits. Where appropriate, the external auditor’s 
recommendations are adopted and enhancements to the risk management and internal controls will be 
made.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

It is the responsibility of the Board to ensure that the Company maintains sound and effective internal 
controls to safeguard the shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets at all times. The Company has 
adopted a series of internal control policies and procedures designed to provide reasonable assurance for 
achieving objectives including effective and efficient operations, reliable financial reporting and compliance 
with applicable laws and regulations.

During the year, the Group has not set up internal audit department, however, it engaged an external 
professional consultant to review and assess its risk management and internal control systems and reported 
to the audit committee. The review covered several parts of the systems including risk management, and 
operational, financial and compliance controls.

The Board, through the Audit Committee, has conducted a review of the effectiveness of the Group’s risk 
management and internal control systems for the year ended 31 December 2021 covering all material 
financial, operational and compliance functions, is of the view that the effectiveness of the risk management 
and internal control systems of the Group are considered as effective and adequate. The Audit Committee 
reviewing and evaluating the effectiveness of the Company’s overall risk management and internal control 
systems at least annually.
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SHARE INTERESTS OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The number of shares held by senior management are set out in the Directors’ Report on pages 22 to 23.

DIRECTORS’ AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE

The Company arranges appropriate insurance cover in respect of potential legal actions against its Directors 
and Officers.

SHAREHOLDERS

The Board recognises its responsibility to represent the interest of all shareholders and to maximise 
shareholder value and this section of the Corporate Governance Report details the Group’s policies and 
actions in this respect.

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles of Association of the Company, any one or more shareholders holding 
not less than one-tenth of the paid up share capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general 
meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company 
Secretary, to require an Extraordinary General Meeting (“EGM”) to be convened, stating the objects of the 
meeting, and deposited with our Company Secretary at 22/F., New World Tower II, 18 Queen’s Road Central, 
Central, Hong Kong. The meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition.

The procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at an Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) or EGM 
require that a written notice of those proposals be submitted by the shareholders to the Company Secretary 
at 22/F., New World Tower II, 18 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong. The detailed procedures vary 
according to whether the proposal constitutes an ordinary resolution or a special resolution.

Enquiries to be put to the Board should be made in writing and directed to the Company Secretary at 22/F., 
New World Tower II, 18 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the year under review, there is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents.

The most recent shareholders meeting was as follows:

An annual general meeting held at Units 5906–12, 59/F., The Center, 99 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong 
on Friday, 18 June 2021 at 11:00 a.m.

All the above resolutions received sufficient votes to be duly carried.

As at 31 December 2021, the public float capitalisation was approximately HK$22,109,000 and the number 
of issued shares on the public float, represents 66% of the outstanding issued share capital of the Company.
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

8088 Investment Holdings Limited, formerly known as AID Life Science Holdings Limited (the “Company” 
and its subsidiaries (the “Group” or “we”) strive continuously to incorporate sustainability initiatives into our 
daily business operations and management. While sharing the vision of becoming the preferred choice of our 
stakeholders and customers, The Group is committed to improving our Environmental, Social and 
Governance (“ESG”) performance by upholding good corporate governance standards, protecting our 
ecosystem, engaging the community and promoting social integration.

This ESG Report aims to review our continuous key sustainability performances and outline our milestones on 
our sustainability journey from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021 (the “Reporting Period” or “FY2021”). 
Our reporting boundary is limited to our business operations in Hong Kong unless other specified.

As one of the renowned firms in the investment industry in Hong Kong, the Group attaches importance to 
integrating sustainable practices into the business operation. The purpose is to take the responsibility for its 
impact on society and the environment. We endeavour to provide a balanced, honest and transparent 
account of our sustainability performance.

This Report has complied with the “comply or explain” provisions set out in the Rules Governing the Listing 
of Securities on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“HKEX”) (“GEM Listing Rules”) Rule 
17.103 and “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” under Appendix 20 of GEM Listing 
Rules. The Board has reviewed, engaged and confirmed the disclosure contents of this Report in its annual 
Board Meeting on 25 March 2022.

We value your feedback regarding the review and our overall sustainability practices. Please provide your 
comments by email to info@8088inc.com or mail to below address.

Address: 22/F, New World Tower II, 18 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

As a responsible business, we have the responsibility to build a thriving future where we can create long-term 
value for our stakeholders. We define our stakeholders as people who affect our business or who are affected 
by our business. The stakeholders of the Group include shareholders, investors, customers, employees, 
business partners, suppliers, regulators, industry practitioners, charity groups and non-governmental parties 
etc.

To understand the full spectrum of ESG aspects of the operation covers, the Group has engaged in active 
two-way dialogue with both the internal and external stakeholders about its potential environmental and 
social impacts. We engaged our stakeholders through meetings, interviews, and direct mails. We reached our 
stakeholders through all channels. We measure and report key performance indicators (KPIs) across our 
environmental and social performance. Through the reporting of these KPIs and the ESG reporting process, 
we disclose elements that have greatest impact to our business and stakeholders.

BOARD INVOLVEMENT AND GOVERNANCE

The Board is responsible for overseeing long-term sustainable development for all operating companies 
under the Group. Information and management on sustainability risks and performance is reported to the 
Board. The working groups meet annually to exchange information and best practices, with a view to 
developing specific policy recommendations, improving efficiency, manage climate-related risk, reducing 
costs and engaging staff in sustainable development.

The Group has developed its own corporate governance code (the CG Code) according to the principles as 
set out in the Corporate Governance Code and Corporate Governance Report contained in Appendix 15 the 
GEM Listing Rules. The CG code sets out the corporate governance principles applied by the Group and is 
constantly reviewed to ensure transparency, accountability and independence. Please refer to Corporate 
Governance section for more information.

CLIMATE RISK MANAGEMENT AND MITIGATION

Significant risks are assessed in our enterprise risk management under the risk management committee and 
has been included in our risk register. To understand and manage climate-related risks and opportunities, the 
committee evaluates physical risks such as extreme weather brought by climate change. As we operate in 
Hong Kong only, our exposure to climate-related risk is relatively low. We have set up our working 
arrangements protocol in times of typhoons and rainstorms according to the guidelines from the Labour 
Department of HKSAR. In the event of extreme weather events, like typhoon or severe rainstorms, our 
employees are not expected to return to office for safety purpose.

Transition risks such as emerging climate-related legislation and carbon tax regulations are also being 
evaluated under our risk management system. We have reviewed and update our standard operation manual 
with the sustainability trends. For example, we will procure electric appliances with the energy saving features 
and labels only.
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ENVIRONMENTAL PERFORMANCE

We are committed to the long-term sustainability of the environment and communities in which we operate. 
The Group is dedicated to meeting the needs of the present without compromising those of the future. To 
our best knowledge, we have complied with all relevant laws and regulations regarding environmental issues 
in the regions where it has business operations during the reporting year.

The Group expects high discipline from our employees and suppliers to take responsibility for their actions. 
During the year, the Group was not aware of any non-compliance associated with the companies and its 
employees with relevant standards, rules and regulations that have a significant impact on the Company.

Air Emissions

With increased economic activities, air pollution has become a major environmental issue in the region we 
operate. Due to our business nature, the Group does not generate significant amount of air emissions directly 
during its operation. The Group does not own any company‐owned vehicles.

Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Energy Management

The impact of global climate change is a challenge that businesses and organizations around the world must 
face and address. We are committed to minimizing the adverse impact that its operations may have on the 
environment. Using energy efficiently will help us conserve resources and tackle climate change.

We use energy‐efficient equipment and lighting devices in our offices and turn on and off only when use and 
after. Light zone has been established and we encourage staff to switch off its individual light before leaving 
for a long time. The Group is committed to controlling and reducing possible emissions from business trips. 
Business travel is avoided as much as possible when issue can be solved by telephone conferences and 
emails. With travel restrictions and border control during this COVID-19 pandemic, no business travel is 
arranged during the reporting year. We target to minimise our carbon footprint as much as possible.

In the reporting year, we consumed 22,010 kWh of electricity in our office operations in Hong Kong. The 
following table shows our greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions and energy consumption during the year.

Energy Consumption Unit
   

Electricity Consumption kwh 22,010
Electricity Consumption/Employee kwh/employee 2,446
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GHG Emissions1 Unit
   

Total Scope 1 Emissions2 kg CO2e 0
Total Scope 2 Emissions3 kg CO2e 15,627
Total Scope 2 Emissions/Employee kg CO2e/employee 1,736
Total Scope 3 Emissions4 kg CO2e 50
Total GHG Emissions kg CO2e 15,677
Total GHG Emissions/Employee kg CO2e/employee 1,742

Water Management

Water shortage and pollution has become a global problem, leading to health, food supply and ecological 
crisis and so on. To protect valuable water resources, we save water in our daily operation and explore more 
ways to reduce waste. The group has also developed a series of environmental policies to manage the use of 
water resources and reduce water consumption.

In terms of protecting our valuable water resources, we encourage our employees to save water resources 
and minimize the waste of water. These measures include posting water‐saving signs near water sources. 
Employees are required to turn off the water tap when not in use to prevent leakage and dripping. We also 
educate our employees on water conservation and organize activities that promote water conservation to 
improve their awareness on water conservation and prevent water from running when not in use.

Waste Management and Reduction

The Group works diligently in reducing our waste produced from operations by sorting of waste, and to re-
use materials wherever possible. It recognises the importance of waste reduction and waste separation at 
source for recycling. The Group has put continuous efforts to implement various waste management 
initiatives among our operation boundaries. The Group advocates the use of electronic means to replace 
paper consumption in communication. The Group has also promoted the reuse of paper for printing informal 
documents and returned used toner cartridges to the third parties for recycling regularly. In our daily business 
operations, paper consumption is a major type of non-hazardous waste, the following table shows the figures 
of material consumption in our business operations:

Material Consumption Unit
   

Paper Consumption kg 10.4
Toner Consumption pieces 3
Toner Recycled pieces 3

1	 The calculation is based on the “Guidelines to Account for and Report on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Removals for Buildings 
(Commercial, Residential or Institutional Purposes) in Hong Kong (2010 Edition)” published by the Environmental Protection Department 
and the Electrical and Mechanical Services Department.

2	 The group does not have any direct emissions from owned or controlled sources during the reporting year. The Group does not have any 
company-owned vehicles.

3	 The group consumes purchased electricity during the reporting year.
4	 The calculation includes the total of CO2 emissions from disposal of paper waste. Water consumption of our office is excluded as it is 

included in the calculation of the building management fee. We do not have any business travel during the reporting year.
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Natural Resources and Environment

The Group recognises that businesses must take responsibility for their industry’s effects on the environment. 
We encourage sustainable economic development through innovative environmental protection measures. 
We are committed to applying industry best practices and comply with legislation, establish and review 
health and safety, data security and environment objectives and targets, use energy and materials efficiently 
and reduce waste and emissions and communicate our environmental protection policy to all staff. A 
monitoring team is established to ensure these practices are effectively executed. By these, the negative 
impact of the environment is minimised.

SOCIAL PERFORMANCE

We recognise the importance of compliance with regulatory requirements and risk of non-compliance with 
the laws and regulations regarding social issues. We have complied with the relevant laws and regulations 
that have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group during the year ended 31 
December 2021. In Hong Kong, we complied with all applicable rules and regulations such as the “Sex 
Discrimination Ordinance”, the “Race Discrimination Ordinance”, the “Disability Discrimination Ordinance” 
and the “Family Status Discrimination Ordinance”.

Employment

The employees of the Group are one of our key stakeholders. It is an important cornerstone for the stable 
development of the Group to maintain harmonious employment relationships, therefore, other than 
complying to local labour laws and regulations include but not limited to the Employment Ordinance 
(Chapter 57 of the laws of Hong Kong), and Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws 
of Hong Kong) by offering competitive compensation packages, the Group has also developed compensation 
review systems and benefit policies to ensure all employees are treated fairly.

We embrace equal opportunities. Each job candidate has an equal job opportunity, and the Group does not 
decline any candidate because of his or her gender, age, disability and ethnicity. Any discrimination on race, 
gender, religion, national origin, physical or mental disability, age, sexual orientation, and gender identity are 
strictly prohibited during the employment process and workplace. Any candidate that meets the requirements 
of the position will be considered. We only refer to the employees’ performance, experience and competence 
when making promotion decisions. Other attributes such as marital status and physical condition will not 
affect an employee’s opportunity to be promoted.

We provide good working environment including a workplace free from discrimination and harassment; and 
provide equal opportunities for all employees along with competitive remuneration. The Group has 
formulated remunerations and benefits in strict compliance with relevant laws and regulations. Our 
remuneration benefits include allowances, holidays and pensions (Mandatory Provident Fund retirement 
benefit scheme (the “MPF Scheme”). Discretionary bonus scheme is also in place to reward the employees 
with outstanding performance.

During the reporting year, the Group has not identified any material non-compliance to employment laws 
and regulations in the region we operate.
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In the year ended 31 December 2021, total employees of the Company are 9 employees. All employees work 
in Hong Kong. There is no employee turnover during the reporting year. Workforce statistic by gender, 
employment type, employment category and age group.

Employee Number Turnover Rate
   

Total number of Employees 9 0
Breakdown by gender
  Employees — Female 5 0
  Employees — Male 4 0
Breakdown by age group
  Employees — Age < 30 0 0
  Employees — Age 30–50 6 0
  Employees — Age > 50 3 0
Breakdown by employment type
  Employees — Full time 9 0
  Employees — Part time 0 0
Breakdown by employment category
  Employees — Senior management 2 0
  Employee — Middle management 2 0
  Employees — General staff 5 0

Health and Safety

The Group values the safety and well-being of employees. The Group strives to provide its employees with a 
safe working environment under the requirement of Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 
of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group’s employees are provided with occupational safety education and 
training to enhance their safety awareness. The Group also provides subsidised medical care and life 
insurances to employees. To provide a safe working environment for all, the Group has implemented the 
following measures. We have conducted regular inspections of all parts of the Group’s premises and annual 
fire drills for employees to practice evacuation procedures of department stores and offices in the event of a 
fire or other emergencies.

In view of the COVID-19 pandemic occurring across 2020 and 2021, the Group has implemented certain 
workplace health and safety measures to prevent our employees from potential infection. To comply with the 
Prevention and Control of Disease Ordinance (Chapter 599 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Group has 
requested its employees to wear masks in workplace. Policies on flexible working hours and work-from-home 
were adopted to safeguard the health and safety of its employees. Personal protective equipment was 
offered to employees to avoid infection. Non-essential business travel is discouraged. When the outbreak of 
COVID-19 pandemic is gradually brought under control, business operations were resumed in an orderly 
manner in accordance with government guidelines.

The Group has not identified any work-related fatality and material non-compliance case of health and safety 
laws and regulations during the year ended 31 December 2021.
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The summary of work-related fatalities and injuries are summarized in the table below.

2021 2020 2019
    

Number of work-related fatalities 0 0 0

2021
  

Work-related fatality rate 0
Number of injuries at work 0
Lost days due to injury at work 0

Development and Training

To enable our talents to develop themselves to their fullest potential and to provide them with the essential 
skill sets to deliver the best, a comprehensive development plan has been established. The Group provides 
diversified on‐the‐job training based on the needs of respective positions and the talents of employees. We 
provide them with all‐rounded development opportunities and develop their potentials in different positions.

Employees at all levels can satisfy their needs of training through various training and development 
programmes, including courses, conferences, seminars and/or further education programs such as one 
offered by reputable tertiary education institutions. As the pandemic continued, the Group encourages its 
employees to take online courses and webinars as an alternative approach for training and learning. The goal 
is to broaden the cross-section of knowledge and skillset among the employees, which is expected to 
improve the Group’s competitiveness. These training programs not only facilitate the career prospect of 
individual employee, but also boost the sustainable development of the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the total training hours of employees were 182.5 hours. Detailed 
breakdown of training are as follows:

Training hours
(hrs)

% of
employees
trained (%)

Average
training hours

completed
per employee

(hrs)
    

Breakdown by gender
  Employees — Female 98.5 40% 19.7
  Employees — Male 84 50% 21
Breakdown by employment category
  Employees — Senior management 40 50% 20
  Employee — Middle management 84 100% 42
  Employees — General staff 58.5 20% 11.7
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Labour Standards

The Group strictly prohibits the use of child labour and forced labour. The group only employs employees 
over the age of 18 years. Maintaining a good work and life balance is essential for employees’ physical and 
mental health; therefore, the Group never forces employees to work overtime.

During our recruitment process, Human Resources Department rejects candidates who are under the age of 
18. Identification check is conducted during the hiring process. The Group has zero‐tolerance to employment 
of child labour and forced labour by our suppliers.

During the reporting year, the Group was not aware of any non‐compliance with relevant rules and 
regulations on preventing child or forced labour within the group and its supply chain.

Sustainable Supply Chain Management

The Group is aware of the social and environmental risks of our supply chain. To foster long term business 
benefits, the Group maintains sound relationships with its key suppliers to meet business challenges and 
regulatory requirements. With long-standing relationships with a number of suppliers, the Group also shares 
its commitment to quality and business ethics to them.

During the selection processes, our supply chain management team not only considers economic and 
commercial benefits, but also evaluates the suppliers’ and contractors’ track record relating to legal and 
regulatory compliance which include safeguarding health and safety of personnel and mitigating 
environmental impacts. We have developed a vendor and supplier selection mechanism in which we require 
our potential suppliers to comply with all the applicable laws and regulations. The Group favours choosing 
socially responsible suppliers with specific local licenses and appropriate local qualifications; for instance, 
financial service providers must hold business licenses/certificates of the Hong Kong Securities and Futures 
Commission or other relevant institutions such as the Hong Kong Monetary Authority.

The Group’s business partners are expected to strive for efficiency and full compliance within their operations 
in terms of environmental and social risks. The Group seeks to improve supplier management awareness and 
abilities. Annual evaluation is conducted with our current business partners and supplies to ensure measures 
are effectively executed. These policies come up to an open, equitable and ethical purchasing process for all 
parties by offering equal opportunities to the Group’s suppliers and contractors from various geographical 
locations. Suppliers’ data are summarised as below:

Number
  

Total number of suppliers 9
Total number of suppliers — China 0
Total number of suppliers — Hong Kong 9
Total number of suppliers — Other countries 0
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Service Responsibility

As a responsible company, we are fully aware of the importance to comply with relevant laws and regulations 
concerning the provision and use of our products and services, relating to health and safety, advertising, 
labelling and privacy matters.

The Group is committed to honesty, integrity and fairness in its business operations. It supports fair trade and 
operation practices and ensure all marketing and communications materials are updated and in compliance 
with government regulations in the regions where it operates. The Group adheres to the principles set out in 
the industry best practices, which outlines high standards of health and safety in workplace to avoid any 
associated risks to the Company’s business activities.

The Group respects and values the management of intellectual property rights. We assure that the 
Company’s business and customer information are well protected with no misappropriation and are in line 
with our operation guideline as well as industry best practice. We aim to ensure high quality standards for our 
service provided. We constantly communicate with our customers to ensure our service level is up to 
standards. Communication and feedback channels are created for quality assurance and recall procedures.

During the reporting year, there is no service-related complained received.

Data Privacy Protection

In our daily operations in Hong Kong, personal data from the stakeholders of the Group is collected for 
different purposes. Personal data is collected only for lawful and relevant purposes and in accordance with 
“Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance” of Hong Kong (Chapter 486 of the laws of Hong Kong). We ensure that 
personal and business information of our stakeholders is used in the proper context and exclusively for 
authorised business purpose, being accessible only to those employees who need to know. The Group also 
takes steps to upgrade our security features on computer system to safeguard the customers’ personal 
information.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group was not aware of any material non-compliance with 
relevant law and regulations on health and safety, advertising and privacy matter related to services provided 
during the reporting period.
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Anti-corruption

The Group is committed to maintaining high standard of integrity when doing business as we strongly believe 
that it is essential to meet the expectations of our stakeholders. The Group takes a zero-tolerance approach 
to bribery and corruption and is committed to doing business with integrity and in compliance with the laws 
and regulations in operating business. The Group complies with the “Prevention of Bribery Ordinance” of 
Hong Kong.

The Group promotes integrity and bars unethical conducts. The Group has implemented an effective whistle-
blowing policy for reporting fraud and corruption. We encourage the reporting of suspected business 
irregularities and provide clear channels specifically for this purpose. When suspected wrongdoings are 
identified, such as breach of duty, abuse of power and bribery, employees should report to the Board of 
Directors for investigation and verification, and report to the regulator and or to law enforcement authority 
when necessary. Supervisors, managers and/or Board members who receive the reports must promptly act to 
investigate and/or resolve the issue. The whistle-blower shall receive a report within five business days of the 
initial report, regarding the investigation of the issue. Any whistle-blower will be protected. Under this policy, 
the Group will conduct periodic and systematic fraud risk assessments, and remedy any deficiencies identified 
internally and by the external auditors in a timely manner.

To prevent corruption and malpractices in the workplace, practical guide, training materials and information 
pamphlets published by ICAC are shared with our employees and all the Board of Directors. The Group aims 
to retain a high ethical standards and staff integrity of business organization.

The Group takes a zero‐tolerance approach to bribery and corruption and is committed to doing business 
with integrity and in compliance with the laws and regulations in operating business. During the year ended 
31 December 2021, there were no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices brought against The 
Group or its employees.
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Community Investment

The Group pursues sustainable development of our community by assessing and managing the social impact 
of our operations on the marketplace and by supporting initiatives that create effective and lasting benefits 
to communities in our operating boundaries. The Group encourages employees to take part in community 
welfare and voluntary work and our Directors actively maintain communication with non-governmental 
organisations to understand community needs. Through participating in corporate responsibility activities, 
public welfare education in the community such as environmental protection, conservation and other positive 
messages can be promoted.

As the pandemic continued in 2021, there were delay and cancellation of social contribution activities. 
Therefore, we did not participate in any volunteering activities. Yet, the Group encourages employees to 
actively participate in various community activities when the COVID situation is eased. Through participating 
in volunteering activities, the Group could bring more positive effects to the development of the community 
with its own growth.

The Group has donated HK$1,750 to The Community Chest of Hong Kong during the reporting year to 
support the following activities.

“Green Low Carbon Day”
In July 2021, the Group joined the activity “Green Low Carbon Day” organized by The Community Chest of 
Hong Kong. It is an initiative to raise funds for green related projects and to encourage the employees to 
adopt a low-carbon lifestyle continuously.

“Community Chest Love Teeth Day 2021/2022”
In October 2021, the Group continuously participated in the Community Chest Love Teeth Day on 2 
December 2020 organized by The Community Chest of Hong Kong for the second year. The programme 
supports and enhances the oral health services of the needy in Hong Kong which carried out by the Chest’s 
social welfare member agencies of The Community Chest of Hong Kong, The Hong Kong Dental Association 
and Oral Health Education Division of the Department of Health.
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2021 ESG GUIDE CONTENT INDEX

Mandatory Disclosure 
Requirements Description

Cross-reference in this
Report/Statement

   

Governance Structure A statement from the board containing the 
following elements:
(i)	 a disclosure of the board’s oversight 

of ESG issues;
(ii)	 the board’s ESG management 

approach and strategy, including the 
process used to evaluate, prioritise 
and manage material ESG-related 
issues (including risks to the issuer’s 
businesses); and

(iii)	 how the board reviews progress 
made against ESG-related goals and 
targets with an explanation of how 
they relate to the issuer’s businesses.

Board Involvement
and Governance

Reporting Principles
  — Materiality

(i)	 the process to identify and the 
criteria for the selection of material 
ESG factors;

(ii)	 if a stakeholder engagement is 
conducted, a description of 
significant stakeholders identified, 
and the process and results of the 
issuer’s stakeholder engagement.

Stakeholder Engagement

Reporting Principles
  — Quantitative

Information on the standards, 
methodologies, assumptions and/or 
calculation tools used, and source of 
conversion factors used, for the reporting 
of emissions/energy consumption (where 
applicable).

About this Report

Reporting Principles
  — Consistency

The issuer should disclose in the ESG 
report any changes to the methods or KPIs 
used, or any other relevant factors 
affecting a meaningful comparison.

About this Report

Reporting—Boundary A narrative explaining the reporting 
boundaries of the ESG report and 
describing the process used to identify 
which entities or operations are included in 
the ESG report.

About this Report
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs Description

Cross-reference in this
Report/Statement

   

A. Environmental

Aspect A1 Emissions

General Disclosure Information on:
(a)	 the policies; and
(b)	 compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant 
impact on the issuer

relating to air and greenhouse gas 
emissions, discharges into water and land, 
and generation of hazardous and non-
hazardous waste.

Environmental Performance

KPI A1.1 The types of emissions and respective 
emissions data.

We do not report on this issue as 
the disclosure is not material to our 
business. We do not own any 
vehicles.

KPI A1.2 Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 
2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) 
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per 
unit of production volume, per facility).

Environmental Performance — 
Greenhouse Gas Emissions and 
Energy Management

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced (in 
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity 
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per 
facility).

We do not report on this issue as 
the Group does not produce 
significant amount of hazardous 
waste.

KPI A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced (in 
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity 
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per 
facility).

We do not report on this issue as 
the Group does not produce 
significant amount of 
non-hazardous waste.

KPI A1.5 Description of emission target(s) set and 
steps taken to achieve them.

Environmental Performance — 
Greenhouse Gas Emissions and 
Energy Management

KPI A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non-
hazardous wastes are handled, and a 
description of reduction target(s) set and 
steps taken to achieve them.

Environmental Performance — 
Waste Management and Reduction
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs Description

Cross-reference in this
Report/Statement

   

Aspect A2 Use of Resources

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, 
including energy, water and other raw 
materials.

Environmental Performance

KPI A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption 
by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total 
(kWh in ‘000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit 
of production volume, per facility).

Environmental Performance — 
Greenhouse Gas Emissions and 
Energy Management

KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity 
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per 
facility).

We do not report on this issue as 
the disclosure is not material to our 
business. Our business does not 
involve any activity that will 
consume significant amount of 
water. It is included in the 
calculation of the building 
management fee.

KPI A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency 
target(s) set and steps taken to achieve 
them.

Environmental Performance — 
Greenhouse Gas Emissions and 
Energy Management

KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue in 
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water 
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to 
achieve them.

We do not report on this issue as 
the disclosure is not material to our 
business. Our business does not 
involve any activity that will 
consume significant amount of 
water.

KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished 
products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with 
reference to per unit produced.

We do not report on this issue as 
the disclosure is not material to our 
business. Our business does not 
manufacture or sell any physical 
product.



53Annual Report 2021

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs Description

Cross-reference in this
Report/Statement

   

Aspect A3 The Environment and Natural Resources

General Disclosure Policies on minimising the issuer’s 
significant impacts on the environment and 
natural resources.

Environmental Performance —
The Environment and Natural 
Resources

KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of 
activities on the environment and natural 
resources and the actions taken to manage 
them.

Environmental Performance —
The Environment and Natural 
Resources

Aspect A4 Climate Change

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of 
significant climate-related issues which 
have impacted, and those which may 
impact, the issuer.

Climate Risk Management and 
Mitigation

KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-
related issues which have impacted, and 
those which may impact, the issuer, and 
the actions taken to manage them.

Climate Risk Management and 
Mitigation
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs Description

Cross-reference in this
Report/Statement

   

B. Social

Employment and Labour Practices

Aspect B1 Employment

General Disclosure Information on:
(a)	 the policies; and
(b)	 compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant 
impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, 
recruitment and promotion, working hours, 
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, 
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and 
welfare.

Social Performance — Employment

KPI B1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment 
type (for example, full- or part-time), age 
group and geographical region.

Social Performance — Employment

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age 
group and geographical region.

Social Performance — Employment
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs Description

Cross-reference in this
Report/Statement

   

Aspect B2 Health and Safety

General Disclosure Information on:
(a)	 the policies; and
(b)	 compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant 
impact on the issuer

relating to providing a safe working 
environment and protecting employees 
from occupational hazards.

Social Performance —
Health and Safety

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities 
occurred in each of the past three years 
including the reporting year.

Social Performance —
Health and Safety

KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury. Social Performance —
Health and Safety

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and 
safety measures adopted, and how they 
are implemented and monitored.

Social Performance —
Health and Safety

Aspect B3 Development and Training

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ 
knowledge and skills for discharging duties 
at work. Description of training activities.

Social Performance —
Development and Training

KPI B3.1 The percentage of employees trained by 
gender and employee category (e.g. senior 
management, middle management).

Social Performance —
Development and Training

KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per 
employee by gender and employee 
category.

Social Performance —
Development and Training
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs Description

Cross-reference in this
Report/Statement

   

Aspect B4 Labour Standards

General Disclosure Information on:
(a)	 the policies; and
(b)	 compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant 
impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced 
labour.

Social Performance —
Labour Standards

KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review 
employment practices to avoid child and 
forced labour.

Social Performance —
Labour Standards

KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate 
such practices when discovered.

Social Performance —
Labour Standards

Operating Practices

Aspect B5 Supply Chain Management

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and 
social risks of the supply chain.

Social Performance — Sustainable 
Supply Chain Management

KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical 
region.

Social Performance — Sustainable 
Supply Chain Management

KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to 
engaging suppliers, number of suppliers 
where the practices are being 
implemented, and how they are 
implemented and monitored.

Social Performance — Sustainable 
Supply Chain Management

KPI B5.3 Description of practices used to identify 
environmental and social risks along the 
supply chain, and how they are 
implemented and monitored.

Social Performance — Sustainable 
Supply Chain Management

KPI B5.4 Description of practices used to promote 
environmentally preferable products and 
services when selecting suppliers, and how 
they are implemented and monitored.

Social Performance — Sustainable 
Supply Chain Management
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs Description

Cross-reference in this
Report/Statement

   

Aspect B6 Product Responsibility

General Disclosure Information on:
(a)	 the policies; and
(b)	 compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant 
impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, 
labelling and privacy matters relating to 
products and services provided and 
methods of redress.

Social Performance —
Service Responsibility

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or 
shipped subject to recalls for safety and 
health reasons.

We do not report on this issue as 
the disclosure is not material to our 
business. Our business does not 
manufacture or sell any physical 
product.

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related 
complaints received and how they are 
dealt with.

Social Performance —
Service Responsibility

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to 
observing and protecting intellectual 
property rights.

Social Performance —
Service Responsibility

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process 
and recall procedures.

Social Performance —
Service Responsibility

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection 
and privacy policies, and how they are 
implemented and monitored.

Social Performance —
Data Privacy Protection
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs Description

Cross-reference in this
Report/Statement

   

Aspect B7 Anti-corruption

General Disclosure Information on:
(a)	 the policies; and
(b)	 compliance with relevant laws and 

regulations that have a significant 
impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and 
money laundering.

Social Performance —
Anti- corruption

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases 
regarding corrupt practices brought 
against the issuer or its employees during 
the reporting period and the outcomes of 
the cases.

Social Performance —
Anti-corruption

KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and 
whistle-blowing procedures, and how they 
are implemented and monitored.

Social Performance —
Anti-corruption

KPI B7.3 Description of anti-corruption training 
provided to directors and staff.

Social Performance —
Anti-corruption

Community

Aspect B8 Community Investment

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to 
understand the needs of the communities 
where the issuer operates and to ensure its 
activities take into consideration the 
communities’ interests.

Social Performance —
Community Investment

KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, 
environmental concerns, labour needs, 
health, culture, sport).

Social Performance —
Community Investment

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) 
to the focus area.

Social Performance —
Community Investment
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LINKSFIELD CPA LIMITED

金道連城會計師事務所有限公司

Unit 2001–2, 20/F., Podium Plaza, 5 Hanoi Road,

Tsim Sha Tsui, Hong Kong

香港尖沙咀河內道5號普基商業中心20樓2001–2室

To the Shareholders of 8088 Investment Holdings Limited 
(formerly known as AID Life Science Holdings Limited)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of 8088 Investment Holdings Limited (formerly known as AID Life 
Science Holdings Limited) (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 66 to 162, 
which comprise:

•	 the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2021;
•	 the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended;
•	 the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;
•	 the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;
•	 the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
•	 the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting 

policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its 
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRSs”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated 
Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (including International Independence Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants (“IESBA Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows.

•	 Impairment assessment of amounts due from/loans to an associate

•	 Fair value measurement of financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
  

Impairment assessment of amounts due from/
loans to an associate

We performed the following procedures to address 
the key audit matter:

Refer to Note 3.1(b), Note 4(i)(d) and Note 18 to the 
consolidated financial statements for related 
disclosures.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had gross 
amounts due f rom/loans to an associate of 
approximately HK$61 million and the provision for 
impairment of HK$61 million. Impairment losses 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss for the year ended 31 December 2021 amounted 
to approximately HK$1 million.

Under IFRS 9, the measurement of expected credit 
losses (“ECL”) requires the application of significant 
judgment and increased complexity which includes 
the identification of exposures with a significant 
deterioration in credit quality, and assumptions used 
in  the ECL models  for  exposures  assessed 
individually, such as the expected future cash flows 
and forward-looking macroeconomic factors.

We focused on this area because the gross carrying 
amount of amounts due from/loans to an associate is 
significant to the consolidated financial statements, 
the identification of whether exposures triggered 
deterioration in credit quality and the estimation of 
the individual impairment amount requires the use of 
significant judgments, estimates and forward-looking 
information.

•	 Understood, evaluated and validated the credit 
control procedures performed by management, 
including its procedures on periodic review of 
aged amounts due from/loans to an associate, 
identification of events that triggered the 
provision for ECL of amounts due from/loans to 
an associate and assessment on ECL allowance 
of amounts due from/loans to an associate.

•	 Obtained the associate’s development plan, 
inquired of management about the status and 
checked the key documents of such plans.

•	 Circulated auditor’s confirmations to test the 
existence of the amounts due from/loans to an 
associate as at the end of the reporting period 
and tested the accuracy of the aging profile of 
amounts due from/loans to an associate as at 
the end of the reporting period by checking to 
the underlying agreements.

•	 Assessed the reasonableness of the Group’s 
calculation of the ECL model and the criteria 
for assessing if there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk and so allowances for 
financial assets should be measured on a 
lifetime ECL provision matrix model which 
includes the past overdue records, historical 
settlement patterns and assessment of the 
probability of the recoverability of the amounts 
due from/loans to an associate with reference 
to associates’ principal and interest repayment 
records subsequent to the year-end date and 
up to the date of this report.

Based on our audit procedures, we were satisfied 
that management’s assessments were consistent with 
the evidence that we obtained.
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
  

Fair value measurement of financial assets at fair 
value through profit or loss

We preformed the following procedures to address 
the key audit matter:

Refer to Note 3.3, Note 4(i)(c) and Note 20 to the 
consolidated financial statements for related 
disclosures.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss (the “Investment”) 
of  approximately  HK$189 mi l l ion,  of  which 
approximately HK$188 million were categorised as 
Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy. For the 
material balances of Investments categorised as 
Level 3, the Group engaged an independent 
professionally qualified valuer (the “external valuers”) 
to apply valuation techniques to determine the fair 
values of the Investments that are not quoted in 
active markets. These valuation techniques, in 
pa r t i cu l a r  t hose  tha t  i n c l uded  s ign i f i c an t 
unobservable inputs, involved subjective judgments, 
estimations and assumptions. The sensitivity of the 
assumptions used may have material impact on the 
valuation of these financial assets.

We focused on this area due to the carrying amounts 
of the Investments is significant to the consolidated 
financial statements and the valuation methodologies 
of the Investments require the use of significant 
judgments and estimates. These estimations are also 
subject to uncertainties.

•	 Considered the competency, capability and 
objectivity of the independent, professional 
and qual i f ied valuer by consider ing i ts 
qua l i f i cat ion,  re levant  exper ience and 
relationship with the Group.

•	 Involved our internal valuation specialist in our 
discussion with the external valuer and 
management to understand the rationale and 
assess the appropriateness and consistency of 
the methodology used and the inputs, 
assumptions and estimates adopted in the 
valuation of the financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss that were categorised as 
Level 3 within the fair value hierarchy by (i) 
examining the terms of the financial instruments 
and the relevant agreements; (ii) underlying 
financial statements, if applicable; and (iii) 
assessing the key parameters used, such as 
implied equity value and discount rate, against 
available market information.

Based on our audit procedures, we were satisfied 
that management’s assessments were consistent with 
the evidence that we obtained.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all 
of the information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our 
auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be 
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT COMMITTEE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 
that give a true and fair view in accordance with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong 
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The audit committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not 
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from 
fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial 
statements.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

•	 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether 
due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•	 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

•	 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

•	 Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or 
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we 
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

•	 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

•	 Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We 
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the audit committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS (continued)

We also provide the audit committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters 
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to 
eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the audit committee, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be 
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Kwok Chi Kan.

Linksfield CPA Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022
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2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Revenue 6 19,978 4,023
Cost of sales 9 (17,839) (2,893)

  

Gross profit 2,139 1,130

Administrative and operating expenses 9 (28,657) (37,990)
Impairment losses on trade receivables 19(a) (784) (2,645)
Impairment losses on other receivables 19(b) (4,270) (3,294)
Impairment losses on interest in an associate 18 – (839)
Impairment losses on amounts due from/loans to
  an associate 18(b) (1,249) (29,589)
Other income 7 6,326 26,029
Other gains/(losses) — net 8 15,844 (139,426)

  

Operating loss (10,651) (186,624)

Finance income 11 41,051 –
Finance costs 12 (12,048) (18,587)
Share of results of an associate accounted for 
  using the equity method 18 – (619)

  

Profit/(loss) before income tax 18,352 (205,830)
Income tax credit 13 175 205

  

Profit/(loss) for the year 18,527 (205,625)
  

Profit/(loss) attributable to:
  Owners of the Company 18,669 (205,593)
  Non-controlling interests (142) (32)

  

18,527 (205,625)
  

Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to owners 
  of the Company: 14
  Basic earnings/(loss) per share (HK Cents) 3.38 (37.52)

  

  Diluted earnings/(loss) per share (HK Cents) 3.38 (37.52)
  

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.
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2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Profit/(loss) for the year 18,527 (205,625)

Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

  Exchange differences on translation of foreign 
    operations 116 214

Other comprehensive income for the year, 
  net of tax 116 214

  

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 18,643 (205,411)
  

Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year
Attributable to:
Owners of the Company 18,779 (205,376)
Non-controlling interests (136) (35)

  

18,643 (205,411)
  

The above consolidated statement of comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes.
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2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 15 189 1,078
Right-of-use assets 16(a) 3,101 5,541
Intangible assets 17 3,353 3,400
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 20 187,558 198,812

  

194,201 208,831
  

Current assets
Trade and other receivables 19 5,164 22,269
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 20 1,327 1,628
Tax recoverable – 50
Cash and cash equivalents 21 29,510 30,292

  

36,001 54,239
  

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 25 164,042 –
Lease liabilities 16(b) 70 3,672

  

164,112 3,672
  

Current liabilities
Contract liabilities 22 2,269 –
Trade and other payables 23 5,583 5,370
Lease liabilities 16(b) 3,945 3,580
Convertible bonds 24 – 214,995
Tax payable 6 415

  

11,803 224,360
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2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Net current assets/(liabilities) 24,198 (170,121)
  

Total assets less current liabilities 218,399 38,710
  

Net assets 54,287 35,038
  

EQUITY

Share capital 27 8,656 8,580
Reserves 28 45,035 25,726

  

Equity attributable to owners of the Company 53,691 34,306
Non-controlling interests 596 732

  

54,287 35,038
  

The consolidated financial statements on pages 66 to 162 were approved and authorised for issue by the 
board of directors and were signed on its behalf by:

Chan Suet Ngan Hu Kenneth
Director Director

The above consolidated statement of financial position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.
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Total equity attributable to owners of the Company

Non-
controlling 

interests
Total

equity
 

Share
capital

Share
premium

Capital
reduction

reserve

Convertible 
bonds
equity

reserve
Capital
reserve

Capital 
redemption 

reserve

Share-based 
compensation

reserve
Remuneration
share reserve

Foreign 
exchange 

reserve
Other

reserve

Statutory
surplus
reserve

Accumulated 
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
                

At 1 January 2020 8,504 768,129 702,955 1,921 2,112 601 57,159 9,028 (5,347) (21,619) 5,163 (1,291,185) 237,421 55,441 292,862
               

Loss for the year – – – – – – – – – – – (205,593) (205,593) (32) (205,625)

Other comprehensive income/(loss):
Exchange differences on translation
  of foreign operations – – – – – – – – 217 – – – 217 (3) 214

               

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
  for the year – – – – – – – – 217 – – (205,593) (205,376) (35) (205,411)

               

Remuneration shares issued for 
  consultancy service (Note 27(a)) 76 5,872 – – – – – (3,687) – – – – 2,261 – 2,261
Disposals of subsidiaries – – – – – – – – – – – – – (54,674) (54,674)
Lapse of share options – – – – – – (271) – – – – 271 – – –
Cancellation of share options – – – – – – (2,310) – – – – 2,310 – – –

               

At 31 December 2020 8,580 774,001 702,955 1,921 2,112 601 54,578 5,341 (5,130) (21,619) 5,163 (1,494,197) 34,306 732 35,038
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Total equity attributable to owners of the Company

Non-
controlling

interests Total equity
 

Capital Convertible Capital Share-based Remuneration Foreign Statutory
Share Share reduction bonds Capital redemption compensation share exchange Other surplus Accumulated

capital premium reserve equity reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

                

At 1 January 2021 8,580 774,001 702,955 1,921 2,112 601 54,578 5,341 (5,130) (21,619) 5,163 (1,494,197) 34,306 732 35,038
               

Profit for the year – – – – – – – – – – – 18,669 18,669 (142) 18,527

Other comprehensive income:
Exchange differences on translation  
  of foreign operations – – – – – – – – 110 – – – 110 6 116

               

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
  for the year – – – – – – – – 110 – – 18,669 18,779 (136) 18,643

               

Remuneration shares issued 
  for consultancy service (Note 27(a)) 76 5,871 – – – – – (5,341) – – – – 606 – 606
Restructured of borrowings (Note 25) – – – (1,921) – – – – – – – 1,921 – – –

               

At 31 December 2021 8,656 779,872 702,955 – 2,112 601 54,578 – (5,020) (21,619) 5,163 (1,473,607) 53,691 596 54,287
               

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying 
notes.
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2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash used in operations 31(a) (9,292) (9,474)
Income tax (paid)/refunded (184) 288

  

Net cash used in operating activities (9,476) (9,186)
  

Cash flows from investing activities
Interest income received 2 3,744
Purchase of property, plant and equipment 15 (26) (81)
Purchase of intangible assets 17 (52) (207)
Proceeds from disposals of property, plant and equipment – 24
Loans repayment from independent third parties 7,295 –
Disposal of subsidiaries, net of cash 33 – 1,666
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at fair value
  through profit or loss 9,097 7,664
Proceeds of distribution from an investment 18,437 –

  

Net cash generated from investing activities 34,753 12,810
  

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of borrowings 25 (21,500) –
Principal elements of lease payment 16(b) (3,774) (2,991)
Interest elements of lease payment 16(b) (450) (687)

  

Net cash used in financing activities (25,724) (3,678)
  

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (447) (54)

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 30,292 30,917
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (335) (571)

  

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 21 29,510 30,292
  

The above consolidated statement of cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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1.	 GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 21 February 2000 as an exempted company 
with limited liability under the Companies Law, Cap 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of 
the Cayman Islands. The address of the Company’s registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, 
P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands and, its principal place of business is 22/F., 
New World Tower II, 18 Queen’s Road Central, Central, Hong Kong. The Company’s shares have been 
listed on GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) since 17 April 
2000. The Company and its subsidiaries are together referred to as the Group hereinafter.

The Company acts as the holding company of the Group. The Group is principally engaged in the 
business of strategic investment.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of units of Hong Kong dollars 
(HK$’000), unless otherwise stated.

2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements 
are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated.

2.1	 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with all 
applicable International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”). In addition, the consolidated 
financial statements include applicable disclosures requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance Cap. 622 and the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of the Stock 
Exchange (“GEM Listing Rules”).

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain 
financial assets and liabilities (including derivative instruments), which are measured at fair value.

(a)	 New and amended Standards, Interpretations and Framework issued that are applicable 
to accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
The Group has applied the following standards and amendments for the first time for their 
annual reporting period commencing 1 January 2021:

•	 Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions — amendments to IFRS 16
•	 Interest Rate Benchmark Reform Phase 2 — amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, 

IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

The adoption of new and amended Standards and Framework (“Amendments”) does not 
have any significant change to the accounting policies or any significant impact on the 
results and financial position of the Group.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.1	 Basis of preparation (continued)

(b)	 New and amended Standards, Interpretations issued that are not yet effective and have 
not been early adopted by the Group
A number of new Amendments that are relevant to the Group but not yet effective for the 
financial year beginning at 1 January 2021 and have not been early adopted by the Group 
are as follow:

Effective for annual
years beginning
on or after

Amendments to IFRS 16 Covid-19 Rent Concession Beyond
  30 June 2021

1 April 2021

IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts 1 January 2023
Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment:

  Proceeds before intended use
1 January 2022

Amendments to IFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
  Framework

1 January 2022

Amendments to IAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
  Fulfilling a Contract

1 January 2022

Amendment to Annual
  Improvements Project

Annual improvements to
  IFRSs 2018–2020

1 January 2022

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
  Current or Non-current

1 January 2023

Amendments to IAS 1 and
  IFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies 1 January 2023

Amendments to IAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates 1 January 2023
Amendments to IAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and

  Liabilities arising from a Single
  Transaction

1 January 2023

Amendments to IFRS 10
  and IAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets
  between an Investor and its
  Associate or Joint Venture

To be determined

The directors of the Company have assessed the financial impact on the Group of the 
adoption of the above new Amendments to existing standards. These Amendments are not 
expected to have a material impact on the Group in the future reporting periods and on 
foreseeable future transactions. The Group intends to adopt the above new Amendments to 
existing standards when they become effective.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2	 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting

(i)	 Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. 
The Group controls an entity where the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through 
its power to direct the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the 
date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date 
that control ceases.

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for business combinations by the 
Group (refer to Note 2.3).

Intercompany transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between group 
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies of 
subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies 
adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, 
consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of financial 
position respectively.

(ii)	 Associates
Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control or 
joint control. This is generally the case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the 
voting rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the equity method of 
accounting (see (iii) below), after initially being recognised at cost.

(iii)	 Equity method
Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are initially recognised at cost and 
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of 
the investee in profit or loss, and the Group’s share of movements in other comprehensive 
income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividend received or receivable 
from associates are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted investment equals or exceeds its 
interest in the entity, including any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does 
not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf 
of the other entity.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.2	 Principles of consolidation and equity accounting (continued)

(iii)	 Equity method (continued)
Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the 
extent of the Group’s interest in these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless 
the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting 
policies of equity-accounted investees have been changed where necessary to ensure 
consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for impairment in accordance 
with the policy described in Note 2.9.

(iv)	 Changes in ownership interests
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of 
control as transactions with equity owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest 
results in an adjustment between the carrying amounts of the controlling and non-controlling 
interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the 
amount of the adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or 
received is recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to owners of the 
Company.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an investment because of a loss 
of control, joint control or significant influence, any retained interest in the entity is 
remeasured to its fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. 
This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently 
accounting for the retained interest as an associate or financial asset. In addition, any 
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are 
accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This 
may mean that amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are 
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable IFRSs.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only 
a proportionate share of the amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income 
are reclassified to profit or loss where appropriate.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.3	 Business combinations

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for all business combinations, regardless 
of whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary comprises the:

•	 fair values of the assets transferred,
•	 liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired business,
•	 equity interests issued by the Group,
•	 fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement, and
•	 fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business 
combination are, with limited exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition 
date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-
by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of 
the acquired entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the:

•	 consideration transferred,
•	 amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity, and
•	 acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If those amounts 
are less than the fair value of the net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is 
recognised directly in profit or loss as a bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the amounts payable in the future 
are discounted to their present value as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the 
entity’s incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar borrowing could be obtained 
from an independent financier under comparable terms and conditions. Contingent consideration 
payable is classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified as a financial liability 
are subsequently remeasured to fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the 
acquirer’s previously held equity interest in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the 
acquisition date. Any gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are recognised in profit or 
loss.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.4	 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct 
attributable costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on 
the basis of dividend received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend from 
these investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the 
period the dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate 
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the 
investee’s net assets including goodwill.

2.5	 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to 
the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for 
allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as 
the executive directors that makes strategic decisions.

2.6	 Foreign currency translation

(i)	 Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using 
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the 
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong 
dollars (“HK$“), which is the Company’s functional and the Group’s presentation currency.

(ii)	 Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting 
from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates 
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss within “Other gains/(losses) — net”.

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated 
using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined. Translation 
differences on assets and liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value 
gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-monetary assets and liabilities such 
as equities held at fair value through profit or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of 
the fair value gain or loss and translation differences on non-monetary assets such as equities 
classified as financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income are 
recognised in other comprehensive income.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.6	 Foreign currency translation (continued)

(iii)	 Group companies
The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of which has the currency of a 
hyper-inflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation 
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

•	 assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position presented are translated at 
the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position,

•	 income and expenses for each statement of profit or loss and statement of 
comprehensive income are translated at average exchange rates (unless this is not a 
reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the 
transaction dates, in which case income and expenses are translated at the dates of 
the transactions), and

•	 all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of any net investment in 
foreign entities, and of borrowings and other financial instruments designated as hedges of 
such investments, are recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation 
is sold or any borrowings forming part of the net investment are repaid, the associated 
exchange differences are reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation are 
treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

Currency translation differences arising are recognised in other comprehensive income.

(iv)	 Disposal of foreign operation and partial disposal
On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal of the Group’s entire interest in a 
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that includes a 
foreign operation, or a disposal involving loss of significant influence over an associate that 
includes a foreign operation), all of the currency translation differences accumulated in 
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the owners of the Company are reclassified 
to profit or loss.

In the case of a partial disposal that does not result in the Group losing control over a 
subsidiary that includes a foreign operation, the proportionate share of accumulated 
currency translation differences are re-attributed to non-controlling interests and are not 
recognised in profit or loss. For all other partial disposals (that is, reductions in the Group’s 
ownership interest in associates or joint ventures that do not result in the Group losing 
significant influence or joint control), the proportionate share of the accumulated exchange 
difference is reclassified to profit or loss.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.7	 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation and impairment 
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the 
items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will 
flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of any 
component accounted for as a separate asset is derecognised when replaced. All other repairs 
and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the reporting period in which they are 
incurred.

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to 
allocate cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

• Leasehold land and buildings 2% or over the term of the leases, which ever is shorter
• Plant and machinery 15%
• Computer hardware and software 33 1/3%
• Furniture and fixtures 7%–20%
• Leasehold improvements 10%–20% or over the term of the leases, which ever is 

  shorter
• Office equipment 33 1/3%

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end 
of each reporting period.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and 
are recognised within “Other income” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.8	 Intangible assets

(i)	 Goodwill
Goodwill is measured as described in Note 2.3. Goodwill on acquisitions of subsidiaries is 
included in intangible assets. Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment 
annually, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that it might be 
impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Gains and losses on the 
disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The 
allocation is made to those cash-generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are 
expected to benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose. The units or 
groups of units are identified at the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal 
management purposes, being the operating segments (Note 5).

(ii)	 Acquired intangible assets
Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. The cost of 
intangible assets acquired in a business combination is the fair value at the date of 
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. 
Intangible assets with finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful life and 
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be 
impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with 
a finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year end. Amortisation is recognised 
in consolidated statement of profit or loss and is provided on straight-line method over their 
estimated useful lives as follows:

Intellectual property	 5 years
Non-compete agreements of mobile game business	 5 years
Know-how	 10 years
Non-compete agreements of health technology business	 3 years
Mobile game license	 3 years
Mobile game development	 3 years
Movie rights	 1–3 years

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for impairment annually either 
individually or at the cash-generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised. 
The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is reviewed annually to determine 
whether the indefinite life assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in the 
useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted for on a prospective basis.

Club membership with indefinite life is carried at cost less any subsequent accumulated 
impairment losses.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.9	 Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill and intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation 
and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that they might be impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of 
disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the 
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent 
of the cash inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units). Non-financial 
assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the 
impairment at the end of each reporting period.

2.10	Investments and other financial assets

(i)	 Classification
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories:

•	 those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either through other comprehensive 
income (“OCI”) or through profit or loss), and

•	 those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the entity’s business model for managing the financial assets 
and the contractual terms of the cash flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either be recorded in profit or loss or 
OCI. For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on 
whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of initial recognition to 
account for the equity investment at fair value through other comprehensive income 
(“FVTOCI”).

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its business model for 
managing those assets changes.

(ii)	 Recognition and derecognition
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on trade-date, the date 
on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised 
when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been 
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10	Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(iii)	 Measurement
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of 
a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”), transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial 
assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when 
determining whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments
Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model for 
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. There are three 
measurement categories into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

•	 Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where 
those cash flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at 
amortised cost. Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance 
income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on 
derecognition is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other losses — 
net together with foreign exchange gains and losses. Impairment losses are presented 
as separate line item in profit or loss.

•	 FVTOCI: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows and for selling the 
financial assets, where the assets’ cash flows represent solely payments of principal 
and interest, are measured at FVTOCI. Movements in the carrying amount are taken 
through OCI, except for the recognition of impairment gains or losses, interest income 
and foreign exchange gains and losses which are recognised in profit or loss. When 
the financial asset is derecognised, the cumulative gain or loss previously recognised 
in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss and recognised in other losses — net. 
Interest income from these financial assets is included in finance income using the 
effective interest rate method. Foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in 
other losses — net and impairment expenses are presented as separate line item in 
profit or loss.

•	 FVTPL: Assets that do not meet the criteria for amortised cost or FVTOCI are measured 
at FVTPL. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently measured at FVTPL 
is recognised in profit or loss and presented net within other losses — net in the period 
in which it arises.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.10	Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(iii)	 Measurement (continued)
Equity instruments
The Group subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where the Group’s 
management has elected to present fair value gains and losses on equity investments in 
OCI, there is no subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss 
following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends from such investments continue to 
be recognised in profit or loss as other income when the Group’s right to receive payments 
is established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL are recognised in other gains/(losses) 
— net in the statement of profit or loss as applicable. Impairment losses (and reversal of 
impairment losses) on equity investments measured at FVTOCI are not reported separately 
from other changes in fair value.

(iv)	 Impairment
The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected credit losses (“ECLs”) 
associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost and FVTOCI. The impairment 
methodology applied depends on whether there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9, which 
requires expected lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, 
see Note 19 for further details.

2.11	Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the consolidated 
statement of financial position where the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to 
offset the recognised amounts, and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the 
asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The Company has also entered into arrangements that 
do not meet the criteria for offsetting but still allow for the related amounts to be set off in certain 
circumstances, such as bankruptcy or the termination of a contract.

2.12	Research and development costs

Research expenditure is expensed as incurred. Costs incurred on development projects (relating 
to the design and testing of new or improved products) are recognised as intangible assets when 
it is probable that the project will be a success considering its commercial and technological 
feasibility, and costs can be measured reliably. Other development expenditures are expensed as 
incurred. Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset 
in a subsequent period.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.13	Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or services performed in the 
ordinary course of business. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating 
cycle of business if longer), they are classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-
current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration that is unconditional 
unless they contain significant financing components, when they are recognised at fair value. The 
Group holds the trade receivables with the objective of collecting the contractual cash flows and 
therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost using the effective interest method. See 
Note 18 for further information about the Group’s accounting for trade receivables and Note 3.1 
for a description of the Group’s impairment policies.

2.14	Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of presentation in the statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes 
cash on hand, deposits held at call with financial institutions, other short-term, highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to known 
amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank 
overdrafts, if any. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities in the 
consolidated statement of financial position.

2.15	Share capital

Ordinary shares and redeemable convertible preference shares are classified as equity (Note 27).

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as 
a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Where any Group company purchases the Company’s equity instruments, for example as the 
result of a share buy-back or a share-based payment plan, the consideration paid, including any 
directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable 
to the owners of the Company as treasury shares until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where 
such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, any consideration received, net of any directly 
attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, is included in equity 
attributable to the owners of the Company.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.16	Trade and other payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided to the Group prior to the end 
of financial year which are unpaid. Trade and other payables are presented as current liabilities 
unless payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They are recognised 
initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

2.17	Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable 
income based on the applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by changes in 
deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

Current income tax
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively 
enacted at the end of the reporting period in the countries where the Company and its 
subsidiaries and associates operate and generate taxable income. Management periodically 
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation 
is subject to interpretation and considers whether it is probable that a taxation authority will 
accept an uncertain tax treatment. The Group measures its tax balances either based on the most 
likely amount or the expected value, depending on which method provides a better prediction of 
the resolution of the uncertainty.

Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary differences 
arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the 
consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they arise 
from the initial recognition of goodwill. Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises 
from initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination 
that at the time of the transaction affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred 
income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or substantially 
enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply when the related deferred 
income tax asset is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future taxable amounts will be 
available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.17	Current and deferred income tax (continued)

Deferred income tax (continued)
Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary differences between the 
carrying amount and tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the company is able to 
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is probable that the 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets and liabilities and where the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation 
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the entity has a legally enforceable 
right to offset and intends either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the 
liability simultaneously.

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

2.18	Employee benefits

(i)	 Employee leave entitlement
Employee entitlements to long service payment and annual leave are recognised when they 
accrue to employees. Provision is made for the estimated liabilities for long service payment 
and annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to the reporting date.

Non-accumulating compensated absences are not recognised until the time of leave.

(ii)	 Retirement benefit scheme
The Group participates in the following retirement benefit schemes and pays contributions 
to independently administrated funds on a mandatory or contractual basis. Assets of these 
schemes are held separately from those of the Group in independently administrated funds. 
The retirement benefit schemes are generally funded by payments from employees and by 
the relevant Group companies.

All eligible employees have participated in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF 
Scheme”) in Hong Kong. Under the MPF Scheme, contributions are made based on a 
percentage of the employees’ basic salaries and are charged to profit or loss as they 
become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF Scheme. There is no voluntary 
contribution from the Group nor the employees and there are no other legal or constructive 
obligations to the Group.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.18	Employee benefits (continued)

(ii)	 Retirement benefit scheme (continued)
The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries operating in the People’s Republic of China (the 
“PRC”) are required to participate in a central pension scheme operated by the local 
municipal government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute a percentage of their 
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are charged to profit or loss 
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

The Group has no further obligations once the contributions have been paid. The 
contributions are recognised as an employee benefit expense when they are due and are 
reduced by contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the scheme prior to 
vesting fully in the contributions. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an asset to the 
extent that a cash refund or a reduction in the future payments is available. There is no 
forfeited contributions that may be used to by the Group to reduce the existing level of 
contributions under the Group’s MPF Scheme and central pension scheme operated by the 
local municipal government in the PRC.

The obligations are presented as current liabilities in the statement of financial position if the 
entity does not have an unconditional right to defer settlement for at least twelve months 
after the reporting period, regardless of when the actual settlement is expected to occur.

(iii)	 Short-term employee benefits
These are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are expected to be 
settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in which 
the employees render the related service. Short-term employee benefits are recognised in 
the year when the employees render the related service.

(iv)	 Bonus plans
The Group recognises a liability and an expense for bonuses where contractually obliged or 
where there is a past practice that has created a constructive obligation.

(v)	 Termination benefits
The Group recognises termination benefits at on the earlier of when the Group can no 
longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and when the Group recognises restructuring 
costs involving the payment of termination benefits.
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2.19	Share-based payments

The Group operates an equity-settled share-based compensation plan, under which the entity 
receives services from employees, consultants and directors as consideration for equity 
instruments (options) of the Group. The fair value of the services received in exchange for the 
grant of the options is recognised as an expense with a corresponding increase in equity. The 
total amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value of the options granted:

•	 including any market performance conditions;

•	 excluding the impact of any service and non-market performance vesting conditions (for 
example, remaining an employee of the entity over a specified time period); and

•	 including the impact of any non-vesting conditions.

The total expense is recognised over the vesting period which is the period over which all of the 
specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that 
are expected to vest based on the non-marketing performance and service conditions. It 
recognises the impact of the revision to original estimates, if any, in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss, with a corresponding adjustment to equity.

When the options are exercised, the Company issues new shares. The proceeds received net of any 
directly attributable transaction costs are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium.

2.20	Provisions

Provisions for legal claims, service warranties and make good obligations are recognised when the 
Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that 
an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably 
estimated. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is 
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same 
class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of management’s best estimate of the expenditure 
required to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting period. The discount rate 
used to determine the present value is a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of 
the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the provision due to 
the passage of time is recognised as interest expense.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.21	Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of goods or services is 
transferred to the customer, or the lessee has the right to use the asset, at an amount that reflects 
consideration to which the Group is expected to be entitled, in exchange for those goods or 
services excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes value 
added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws that apply to the contract, control of the 
goods or services may be transferred over time or at a point in time. Control of the goods or 
services is transferred over time if the Group’s performance:

—	 provides all of the benefits received and consumed simultaneously by the customer;

—	 creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

—	 does not create an asset with an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an 
enforceable right to payment for performance completed to date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time, revenue is recognised over the period of 
the contract by reference to the progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance 
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the customer obtains control 
of the goods or services.

When either party to a contact has performed, the Group presents the contract in the statement 
of financial position as a contract asset or a contract liability, depending on the relationship 
between the entity’s performance and the customer’s payment.

A contract asset is the Group’s right to consideration in exchange for goods or services that the 
Group has transferred to a customer. Contract assets and assets arising from costs to obtain or 
fulfil a contract that are recognised in accordance with IFRS 15. The Group uses practical 
expedients to recognise the incremental costs of obtaining a contract as an expense when 
incurred as the amortisation period of the asset that the Group otherwise would have recognised 
is one year or less.

If a customer pays consideration before the Group transfers a good or service to the customer, 
the Group presents the contract as a contract liability when the payment is made. A contract 
liability is the Group’s obligation to transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group 
has received consideration from the customer.
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2.21	Revenue recognition (continued)

A receivable is recognised when the products are delivered and the customers accept the 
products, as this is the point in time that the consideration is unconditional because only the 
passage of time is required before the payment is due.

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the 
promised goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As 
a consequence, the Group does not adjust any of the transaction prices for the time value of 
money.

Further details of the Group’s revenue and other income recognition policies are as follows:

—	 Outbound digital marketing income is recognised over time and is based on the actual 
service provided to the end of the reporting period as a proportion of the total services to 
be provided because the customer receives and uses the benefits simultaneously.

—	 Revenue from sales of in-app purchase items is recognised at a point in time on individual 
transaction basis upon the successful download of the in-app purchase items. Customers 
obtain control of the in-app purchase items when they received in-app purchase items in 
mobile game apps. There is generally only one performance obligation.

—	 Advertising income is recognised over time and is based on the actual service provided to 
the end of the reporting period as a proportion of the total services to be provided because 
the customer receives and uses the benefits simultaneously.

For fixed-price advertising contracts, customer usually pays a fixed amount based on a 
payment schedule. If the services rendered by the Group exceed the payment, a contract 
asset is recognised. If the payments exceed the services rendered, a contract liability is 
recognised.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.21	Revenue recognition (continued)

—	 Revenue from game publishing services is recognised as follows:

The Group is engaged in the provision of mobile game publishing services through 
cooperation with upstream game developers, downstream platforms and third party 
payment vendors to players. The Group publishes third party developers’ games on its own 
and third party platforms.

The Group’s game publishing service income is pre-determined according to the relevant 
terms entered into between the Group and the licensor of the game. The games published 
on the platforms are hosted, maintained and updated by the licensor of the game, and the 
Group mainly provides access to the platforms and after-sale basic technical support to the 
paying players. The Group has evaluated and determined it is not the primary obligors in 
the services rendered to the players. Accordingly, the Group is acting as an agent in these 
arrangements and records its revenue, net of portion of sharing of revenues with the game 
developers when the players purchase in-game virtual items from the relevant mobile 
games.

Game publishing service income is recognised based on the actual service provided to the 
end of the reporting period as a proportion on the total services to be provided.

—	 Real-time video streaming income is recognised when control has transferred, being at a 
point in time when customer consumed the virtual items in exchange for the service 
provided and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance 
of service.

—	 Revenue from shared use facilities income is recognised when control has transferred, being 
at a point in time when customer uses the facilities provided by the Group and there is no 
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of service.

—	 Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

—	 Leasing income under operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the term 
of the relevant lease.

—	 Sundry income is recognised on an accrual basis.
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2.22	Earnings per share

(i)	 Basic earnings per share
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

•	 the profit attributable to owners of the company, excluding any costs of servicing 
equity other than ordinary shares,

•	 by the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding during the financial 
year, adjusted for bonus elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and 
excluding treasury shares.

(ii)	 Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the determination of basic earnings 
per share to take into account:

•	 the after-income tax effect of interest and other financing costs associated with dilutive 
potential ordinary shares, and

•	 the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares that would have been 
outstanding assuming the conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary shares.

2.23	Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the 
leased asset is available for use by the Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group allocates the 
consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative 
stand-alone prices. However, for leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has 
elected not to separate lease and non-lease components and instead accounts for these as a 
single lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and 
conditions. The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests 
in the leased assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for 
borrowing purposes.



94

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

8088 Investment Holdings Limited

2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23	Leases (continued)

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. Lease 
liabilities include the net present value of the following lease payments:

•	 fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any lease incentives receivable;

•	 variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially measured using the 
index or rate as at the commencement date;

•	 amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value guarantees;

•	 the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise that 
option; and

•	 payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term reflects the Group 
exercising that option.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options are also included in the 
measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot 
be readily determined, which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s incremental 
borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the 
funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic 
environment with similar terms, security and conditions.

To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

•	 where possible, uses recent third-party financing received by the individual lessee as a 
starting point, adjusted to reflect changes in financing conditions since third party financing 
was received;

•	 uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate adjusted for credit risk for 
leases held, which does not have recent third party financing; and

•	 makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the individual lessee (through recent 
financing or market data) which has a similar payment profile to the lease, then the group entities 
use that rate as a starting point to determine the incremental borrowing rate.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.23	Leases (continued)

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease payments based on an index 
or rate, which are not included in the lease liability until they take effect. When adjustments to 
lease payments based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and adjusted 
against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to 
profit or loss over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the 
remaining balance of the liability for each period.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:

•	 the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability;

•	 any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives 
received;

•	 any initial direct costs; and

•	 restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the asset’s useful life and the 
lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase 
option, the right-of-use asset is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life. While the 
Group revalues its land and buildings that are presented within property, plant and equipment, it 
has chosen not to do so for the right-of-use buildings held by the Group.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles and all leases of low-value 
assets are recognised on a straight-line basis as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are 
leases with a lease term of 12 months or less.

Lease income from operating leases where the Group is a lessor is recognised in income on a 
straight-line basis over the lease term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining an operating lease 
are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset and recognised as expense over the 
lease term on the same basis as lease income. The respective leased assets are included in the 
consolidated statement of financial position based on their nature. The Group did not need to 
make any adjustments to the accounting for assets held as lessor as a result of adopting the new 
leasing standard.
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2.	 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

2.24	Dividend distribution

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being appropriately authorised and 
no longer at the discretion of the entity, on or before the end of the reporting period but not 
distributed at the end of the reporting period.

2.25	Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable 
assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants related to costs are deferred and recognised in the profit or loss over the 
period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended to compensate.

2.26	Borrowings

Borrowings are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of 
transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the 
borrowings using the effective interest method.

Borrowings are removed from the consolidated statement of financial position when the obligation 
specified in the contract is discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying 
amount of a financial liability that has been extinguished or transferred to another party and the 
consideration paid, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised 
in profit or loss as “finance costs”.

Where the terms of a financial liability are renegotiated and the entity issues equity instruments to 
a creditor to extinguish all or part of the liability (debt for equity swap), a gain or loss is recognised 
in profit or loss, which is measured as the difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability and the fair value of the equity instruments issued.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the reporting period.
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3.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1	 Financial Risk Factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign 
exchange risk, price risk and cash flow and fair value interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 
The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

(a)	 Market risk
(i)	 Foreign exchange risk

The Group’s foreign currency transactions are mainly denominated in Renminbi 
(“RMB”), HK$ and United States dollar (“US$”). The majority of assets and liabilities 
are denominated in RMB, HK$ and US$, and there are no significant assets and 
liabilities that are denominated in other currencies. The Group is subject to foreign 
exchange rate risk arising from future commercial transactions and recognised assets 
and liabilities denominating in a currency other than RMB, HK$ and US$, which are the 
functional currencies of the major operating companies within the Group. The Group 
currently does not hedge its foreign currency exposure.

For the companies with HK$ as their functional currency, the management considers 
the foreign exchange risk with respect to US$ is not significant as HK$ is pegged to 
US$ and transactions denominated in US$ are mainly carried out by entities with the 
same functional currency. The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely 
monitoring the movement of the foreign currency rates.

The functional currency of the PRC reporting entities is RMB and the transactions are 
mostly denominated in RMB, the conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject 
to the rules and regulations of the foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC 
government.
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3.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1	 Financial Risk Factors (continued)

(a)	 Market risk (continued)
(ii)	 Price risk

The Group’s exposure to listed equity securities price risk arises from investments held 
by the Group and classified in the consolidated statement of financial position at fair 
value through profit or loss (Note 20).

To manage its price risk arising from investments in listed equity securities, the Group 
diversifies its portfolio. Diversification of the portfolio is done in accordance with the 
limits set by the Group.

As at 31 December 2021, if the share price of the investment increase/decrease by 
10%, the profit for the year would have been HK$133,000 (2020: loss would have been 
HK$163,000 lower/higher) higher/lower, arising as a result of the fair value gain/loss of 
the investments.

(iii)	 Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The income and operating cash flows of the Group are substantially independent of 
changes in market interest rates. The Group has no significant interest-bearing assets, 
except for deposits placed with banks and amounts due from/loans to an associate 
(2020: deposits placed with banks, loans to an associate and loan to an independent 
third party).

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, except for deposit placed with banks, the Group 
has no significant interest-bearing financial assets and liabilities with a floating interest 
rate, the Group’s results and operating cash flows are substantially independent of 
changes in market interest rates.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s amounts due from/loans to an 
associate (2020: loans to an associate and an independent third party) are all issued at 
fixed rates which expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. Management 
considers the fair value exposure of the fixed rate loans to an associate and 
independent third parties are insignificant to the Group.
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3.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1	 Financial Risk Factors (continued)

(b)	 Credit risk
Credit risk is primarily attributable to amounts due from/loans to an associate, trade and 
other receivables, financial asset at fair value through profit or loss and cash at bank.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade and other receivables arising from 
default of the counterparty, with a maximum exposure equal to the carrying amounts of 
these financial assets in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group trades 
only with recognised and creditworthy third parties on specific terms mutually agreed prior 
to any business transaction. Management of the Group closely monitors the credit-
worthiness of the counterparties to ensure full recovery, including scrutinising their financial 
position. In this regard, the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is minimal.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of assets and whether 
there has been a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout each 
reporting period. To assess whether there is a significant increase in credit risk, the Group 
compares the risk of default occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of 
default as at the date of initial recognition. The Group considers both quantitative and 
qualitative information that is reasonable and supportive, including historical experience and 
forwarding-looking information that are available without undue cost or effect. In particular, 
the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has 
increased significantly:

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial instrument’s external or 
internal credit rating (if available);

•	 existing or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial, economic, 
technological or legal conditions that are expected to cause a significant deterioration 
to the debtor’s ability to meet its obligations;

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtors;

•	 failure to make payment of principal or interest on their contractually due dates;

•	 current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability 
of counterparty to settle the receivables, such as GDP, unemployment rate, 
government policies changes in jurisdiction with operations by the Group, etc, which 
are relevant to adjusting the expected loss rates.
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3.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1	 Financial Risk Factors (continued)

(b)	 Credit risk (continued)
Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant 
increase in credit risk is performed on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When 
the assessment is performed on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped 
based on shared credit risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

The Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately providing for ECLs on a timely basis 
in accordance to general approach or simplified approach under IFRS 9. In calculating the 
expected credit loss rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for each category of 
receivables and adjusts for forward looking macroeconomic data.

No significant changes to estimation techniques or assumptions were made during the 
reporting period.

Trade receivables
The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of 
each customer rather than the industry or country in which the customers operate and 
therefore significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise in the year ended 31 
December 2020 when the Group has 89% of the total trade receivables was due from the 
Group’s largest customer and significant exposure to individual customers. As at 31 
December 2021, 38% (2020: 99%) of the total trade receivables was due from the Group’s 
five largest customers.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers requiring credit over a certain 
amount. These evaluations focus on the customer’s past history of making payments when 
due and current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to the customer as 
well as pertaining to the economic environment in which the customer operates. Normally, 
the Group does not obtain collateral from customers.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime 
ECLs, which is calculated using a provision matrix. As the Group’s historical credit loss 
experience does not indicate significantly different loss patterns for different customer 
segments, the loss allowance based on past due status is not further distinguished between 
the Group’s different customer bases.

Expected credit loss rates are based on actual loss experience over the past 2 years. These 
rates are adjusted to reflect differences between economic conditions during the period 
over which the historical data has been collected, current conditions and the Group’s view of 
economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.
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3.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1	 Financial Risk Factors (continued)

(b)	 Credit risk (continued)
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 was 
determined as follows for trade receivables:

31 December 2021

Current 0 to 30 days 31 to 60 days 61 to 120 days Over 120 days Total
       

Expected loss rate 0% 2% 2% 2% 85%

Gross carrying amount 

  (HK$’000) 942 76 5 11 4,202 5,236

Loss allowance (HK$’000) – 2 – – 3,552 3,554

31 December 2020

Current 0-30 days 31-60 days 61-120 days Over 120 days Total       

Expected loss rate 0% 0% 0% 0% 70%

Gross carrying amount 

  (HK$’000) 237 14 14 21 5,694 5,980

Loss allowance (HK$’000) – – – – 3,981 3,981

As at 31 December 2021, the balance of loss allowance of trade receivables was HK$3,554,000 
(2020: HK$3,981,000).

Impairment losses on receivables are presented in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss. When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account for 
receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are recognised in other 
income in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, if any.
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3.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1	 Financial Risk Factors (continued)

(b)	 Credit risk (continued)
Others receivables and loans receivables
The management of the Group makes periodic collective assessments as well as individual 
assessment on the recoverability of other receivables and loans receivables based on 
historical settlement records and past experiences looking forward. The Group measures 
credit risk in accordance to the general approach under IFRS 9.

•	 Other receivables and loans receivables that are not credit-impaired on initial 
recognition are classified in “Stage 1” and have their credit risk continuously monitored 
by the Group. The ECLs is measured on a 12-month basis.

•	 If a significant increase in credit risk (specifically, when the debtor is more than 30 day 
past due on its contractual payments) since initial recognition is identified, the financial 
instrument is moved to “Stage 2” but is not yet deemed to be credit-impaired. The 
ECLs loss is measured on lifetime basis.

•	 If the financial instrument is credit-impaired (specifically, when there is evidence 
indicating the debtor is in severe financial difficulty or it is probable that the debtor will 
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation), the financial instrument is then 
moved to “Stage 3”. The ECLs is measured on lifetime basis.

The receivables relating to customers with known financial difficulties or significant doubt on 
collection of receivables are assessed individually for provision for impairment allowance. As 
at 31 December 2021, the balance of loss allowance in respect of these individually assessed 
receivables was HK$14,232,000 (2020: HK$10,317,000).

Amounts due from/loans to an associate
As at 31 December 2021, for the gross carrying amounts due from/loans to an associate of 
approximately HK$61,342,000 (2020: HK$60,093,000), it was classified in Stage 3 (2020: 
Stage 3) and the loss allowance was approximately HK$61,342,000 (2020: HK$60,093,000).

For the cash at bank, deposits of the Group are mainly placed with state-owned financial 
institutions and reputable banks.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying values of each 
class of receivables. The Group did not hold any collateral as security for these receivables 
as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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3.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1	 Financial Risk Factors (continued)

(c)	 Liquidity risk
Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the Directors, which has built 
an appropriate liquidity risk management framework for management of the Group’s short, 
medium and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The Group 
manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves by continuously monitoring forecast 
and actual cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets and liabilities.

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its obligations 
associated with its financial liabilities. Cash management of all operating entities is 
centralised, including raising of loans to cover expected cash demands. The Group’s policy 
is to regularly monitor current and expected liquidity requirements to ensure that it 
maintains sufficient reserves of cash to meet its liquidity requirements in short and long 
terms.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturities for its financial 
liabilities which are included in the maturity analysis provided internally to the key 
management personnel for the purpose of managing liquidity risk.

As at 31 December 2021

Less than
1 month or
on demand

1–3
months

3 months–
1 year

1–5
years

Total
contractual

undiscounted
cash flow

Total
carrying

amount as at
31 December

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

Non-derivatives:
Trade and other payables* 5,258 – – – 5,258 5,258
Lease liabilities – 1,074 3,029 71 4,174 4,015
Borrowings – – – 184,000 184,000 164,042

      

TOTAL 5,258 1,074 3,029 184,071 193,432 173,315
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3.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1	 Financial Risk Factors (continued)

(c)	 Liquidity risk (continued)
As at 31 December 2020

Less than
1 month or
on demand

1–3
months

3 months–
1 year

1–5
years

Total
contractual

undiscounted
cash flow

Total
carrying

amount as at
31 December

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
       

Non-derivatives:
Trade and other payables* 5,155 60 – – 5,215 5,215
Lease liabilities – 1,004 3,011 3,820 7,835 7,252
Convertible bonds 214,995 – – – 214,995 214,995

      

TOTAL 220,150 1,064 3,011 3,820 228,045 227,462
      

*	 Excluded from trade and other payables of HK$5,583,000 (2020: HK$5,370,000) is an amount of HK$325,000 

(2020: HK$155,000) representing estimated payments for long service and unconsumed leave, the settlement 

which will depend upon either the termination of services of the relevant staff and management discretion 

respectively, and therefore the liquidity terms cannot be reasonably ascertained.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, no banking facility was available to the Group.

3.2	 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are:

(a)	 to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, so that it continues to 
provide returns and benefits for stakeholders;

(b)	 to support the Group’s stability and growth;

(c)	 to provide capital for the purpose of strengthening the Group’s risk management capability; 
and

(d)	 to provide capital for purposes of potential mergers and acquisitions.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital structure to ensure optimal 
capital structure and equity holder returns, taking into consideration the future capital 
requirements of the Group and capital efficiency, prevailing and projected profitability, projected 
operating cash flows, projected capital expenditures and projected strategic investment 
opportunities.
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3.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.2	 Capital risk management (continued)

The Directors review the capital structure annually. As part of this review, the Directors assess the 
annual budget prepared by management of the Company and consider the cost of capital and 
the risks associated with each class of capital. 

The Group is not subject to externally imposed capital requirements.

For capital management purpose, the Directors regard the total equity presented in the face of 
consolidated statement of financial position as capital. The amount of capital attributable to 
owners of the Company as at 31 December 2021 was HK$53,691,000 (2020: HK$34,306,000).

The Group monitors capital on the basis of gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debts 
divided by total capital. Net debts are calculated as total borrowings (including convertible bonds 
and borrowings) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as “equity” as shown in 
the consolidated statement of financial position plus net debts.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Convertible bonds – 214,995
Borrowings 164,042 –
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (29,510) (30,292)

  

Net debts 134,532 184,703
  

Total equity 54,287 35,038
Total capital 188,819 219,741
Gearing ratio 71% 84%

The decrease in gearing ratio as at 31 December 2021 was mainly due to the repayment of debts 
and waiver of borrowings from borrower during the year.
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3.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3	 Fair Value Estimation

The following table presents financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the 
consolidated statement of financial position in accordance with the fair value hierarchy. The 
hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities into three levels based on the relative reliability of 
significant inputs used in measuring the fair value of these financial assets and liabilities. The fair 
value hierarchy has the following levels:

•	 Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active markets (such as publicly 
traded derivatives, and equity securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the 
reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial assets held by the Group is the 
current bid price. These instruments are included in level 1.

•	 Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for 
example, over-the-counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which 
maximise the use of observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific 
estimates. If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the 
instrument is included in level 2.

•	 Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the 
instrument is included in level 3. This is the case for unlisted equity securities.

The level in the fair value hierarchy within which the financial assets and liabilities is categorised in 
its entirety is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement.

The financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial 
position are grouped into the fair value hierarchy as follows:

2021
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Financial assets:
Recurring fair value measurements:
Financial assets at fair value 
  through profit or loss
  — Listed equity investments 1,327 – – 1,327
  — Unlisted equity investments
    — AID Partners Autonomous, LP 
         (the “Partnership”) (Note (i)) – – 183,601 183,601
    — Investment A (Note (ii)) – – 31 31
    — Investment B (Note (iii)) – – 3,926 3,926

    

1,327 – 187,558 188,885
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3.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3	 Fair Value Estimation (continued)

2020
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Financial assets:
Recurring fair value measurements:
Financial assets at fair value
  through profit or loss
  — Listed equity investments 1,628 – – 1,628
  — Unlisted equity investments
    — The Partnership (Note (i)) – – 187,613 187,613
    — Investment A (Note (ii)) – – 31 31
    — Investment B (Note (iii)) – – 4,085 4,085
    — Other instruments – – 7,083 7,083

    

1,628 – 198,812 200,440
    

There have been no significant transfers of financial assets or liabilities between levels 1, 2 and 3 
fair value hierarchy classifications in the reporting period.

The method and valuation techniques used for the purpose of measuring fair value are unchanged 
compared to the previous reporting periods.

The Group’s finance department includes a team that performs the valuations of financial assets 
required for financial reporting purposes, including level 3 fair values. As part of the valuation 
process, this team reports directly to the chief financial officer (“CFO“) and independent external 
valuers will be engaged, if necessary. Discussions of valuation processes and results are held 
between the CFO and the valuation team at least once every year.
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3.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3	 Fair Value Estimation (continued)

Reconciliation for financial instruments carried at fair value based on significant unobservable 
input (Level 3) are as follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

As at 1 January 198,812 393,768
Additions – 254,588
Disposals (9,097) –
Deemed disposal of a subsidiary (Note 33(b)) – (309,333)
Fair value losses, net (2,288) (140,467)
Exchange alignment 131 256

  

As at 31 December 187,558 198,812
  

Unrealised losses recognised in the consolidated
  statement of profit or loss attributable to balance
  at the end of the reporting period (4,301) (140,467)

  

Notes:

(i)	 The principal activities of the Partnership was the holding of equity investments in financial and emerging technologies.  
The Group’s interest was approximately 82.3% of issued share capital of the Partnership. The fair value as at 31 
December 2021 and 2020 represented the Group’s share of net asset value of the Partnership as reported on the 
audited financial statements as at the reporting date. The audited financial statements were audited by an external 
independent auditor who has issued unmodified audit opinion in both years.

The independent professional valuer, Ravia Global Appraisal Limited, has prepared a report which stated that, provide 
that there is no reasonable and reliable financial projection for the Partnership, the asset-based approach under the 
cost approach was considered to be the most appropriate valuation approach. It is based on economic principle of 
substitution, the asset-based approach essentially measures what is the net asset value as at the date of valuation and 
how much it would cost to replace those assets. The asset-based approach typically concludes a marketable, 
controlling ownership interest of value. Therefore, the asset-based approach is more applicable to conclude the level 
of value of the Partnership. This is because the application of the asset-based approach assumes a high degree of 
asset liquidity and a high degree of ownership control.

(ii)	 Investment A represented the investment of 39% interest in a private fund established in the Cayman Islands. The 
objective of the private fund is to achieve long-term capital appreciation and returns by holding equity securities of 
companies in the technology sector. The fair values as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 represented the Group’s share 
of net asset value of the private fund as reported on the audited financial statements as at the respective reporting 
dates. The audited financial statements were audited by an external independent auditor who has issued unmodified 
audit opinion in both years.
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3.	 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3	 Fair Value Estimation (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(iii)	 Investment B represented the investment of 13% interest in a private company in the Peoples’ Republic of China. The 

principal activities is the development and operation of electric vehicle charging piles. The fair values of the investment 

as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are measured by Ravia Global Appraisal Limited (2020: Grant Sherman Appraisal 

Limited) using the discounted cash flow method. The inputs into the valuation as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were 

as follows:

As at

31 December

2021

As at

31 December

2020
   

Discount rate 22% 25%

Long term growth rate 3% 3%

Lack of marketability discount and control discount 40% 40%
  

When discount rate increases by 5% to 27%, the Group’s investment in investment B will decreases by RMB1,800,000 

(equivalent to approximately HK$2,208,000); When discount rate decreases by 5% to 17%, the Group’s investment in 

investment B will increase by RMB3,200,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$3,925,000).

(vii)	 Valuation techniques used by different investments are considered on a case-by-case basis.

3.4	 Fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at amortised cost

The fair value of the following financial assets and liabilities approximate their carrying values:

•	 Amounts due from/loans to an associate

•	 Trade and other receivables

•	 Cash and cash equivalents

•	 Trade and other payables

•	 Borrowings

•	 Convertible bonds

•	 Lease liabilities

3.5	 Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities

No financial assets and financial liabilities were subject to offsetting, enforceable master netting 
arrangements and similar arrangements as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other 
factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.

(i)	 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities within the next accounting year are discussed below:

(a)	 Impairment of intangible assets, property, plant and equipment and interest in an 
associate
If circumstances indicate that the carrying amounts of intangible assets, property, plant and 
equipment, and interest in an associate may not be recoverable, the assets may be 
considered impaired, and an impairment loss may be recognised to reduce the carrying 
amounts to the recoverable amount in accordance with the accounting policy for impairment 
of these assets as described in Notes 2.9 and 3.1. The recoverable amount is the greater of 
the fair value less costs of disposal and the value in use. In determining the value in use, 
expected cash flows generated by the asset are discounted to their present value, which 
requires significant judgment relating to level of revenue and amount of operating costs. 
Management uses all readily available information in determining an amount that is a 
reasonable approximation of the recoverable amount, including estimates based on 
reasonable and supportable assumptions and projections of revenue and the amount of 
operating costs. Changes in these estimates could have a significant impact on the carrying 
value of the assets and could result in additional impairment charge or reversal of 
impairment in future periods.

(b)	 Useful lives of other intangible assets and property, plant and equipment
The Group determines the estimated useful lives and related amortisation and depreciation 
charges for its other intangible asset with definite useful life and property, plant and 
equipment, respectively. This estimate is based on the historical experience of the actual 
useful lives of assets of similar nature and functions. It could change significantly as a result 
of technical innovations and competitor actions in response to severe industry cycles. 
Management will increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than previously 
estimated lives, or it will write-off or write-down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets 
that have been abandoned or sold.
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4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued)

(i)	 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (continued)

(c)	 Fair values of financial instruments
Financial instruments such as financial assets at FVTPL are initially measured at fair value. 
Certain financial instruments as described in Note 2.10 are re-measured at fair value at 
subsequent reporting dates. The best evidence of fair value is quoted prices in an active 
market. Where quoted prices are not available for a particular financial instrument, the 
Group uses the values determined by the internal or external valuation techniques to 
estimate the fair value. The use of methodologies, models and assumptions in pricing and 
valuing these financial assets and liabilities requires varying degrees of judgment by 
management, which may result in different fair values and results. The assumptions with 
regard to the fair value of financial assets at FVTPL as detailed in Note 20, might cause 
material adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
accounting year.

(d)	 Impairment of trade and other receivables and amounts due from/loans to an associate
The measurement of impairment losses under IFRS 9 across all categories of financial assets 
requires judgment, in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash 
flows and collateral values when determining impairment losses and the assessment of a 
significant increase in credit risk. These estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes 
in which can result in different levels of allowances.

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk for exposures since initial recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring 
over the expected life between the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. The 
Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available 
without undue cost or effort for this purpose. This includes quantitative and qualitative 
information and also, forward-looking analysis. Further information on the impairment of 
trade and other receivables is included in Note 3.1(b).

(e)	 Current taxation and deferred taxation
The Group is subject to income taxes in various jurisdictions. Significant judgment is 
required in determining the amount of the provision for taxation and the timing of payment 
of the related taxation. Where the final tax outcome is different from the amounts that were 
initially recorded, such differences will impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions in 
the periods in which the final tax outcome is determined.
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4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued)

(i)	 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions (continued)

(e)	 Current taxation and deferred taxation (continued)
Deferred tax assets relating to certain tax losses will be recognised when management 
considers it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the 
temporary differences or tax losses can be utilised. Where the expectation is different from 
the original estimate, such difference will impact, where applicable and appropriate, the 
recognition of deferred tax assets and taxation in the periods in which such estimate is 
changed.

Deferred tax liabilities arise when the carrying amounts of the identifiable assets acquired in 
a business combination are recognised at their fair values at the acquisition date but the tax 
bases of the assets remain at cost to the previous owner, therefore a taxable temporary 
difference arises.

(ii)	 Critical judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies

Control over a subsidiary
On 2 April 2015, the Group has expanded its business in the development, distribution and 
operating of mobile games (“mobile games”), which is considered to be value-added 
telecommunications services, a sector where foreign investment is subject to significant restrictions 
under the PRC laws and regulations. Accordingly, the wholly foreign-owned enterprise within the 
Group cannot acquire equity interest in the PRC entity, which holds certain licenses and permits 
required for the operation of mobile games business. As a result, the Group acquired 70% equity 
interest in Honestway Global Group Limited (“HGGL”), a limited liability company incorporated in 
the British Virgins Islands, which indirectly wholly-owned a foreign-owned enterprise, 深圳八零
八八科技有限公司 (Shenzhen 8088 Technology Co., Ltd.* or “SZ8088”), and SZ8088 entered into 
contractual arrangements (“Contractual Arrangements”) with a company with limited liability 
established in the PRC, 上海威搜游科技有限公司 (Shanghai VSOYOU Technology Co., Ltd.* or 
“VSOYOU”), and its respective registered shareholders in order to conduct the mobile games 
business in the PRC and to assert management control over the operation of, and enjoy all 
economic benefits of VSOYOU.
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4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued)

(ii)	 Critical judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies (continued)

Control over a subsidiary (continued)
SZ8088 has entered into a series of Contractual Arrangements between VSOYOU and its 
respective registered shareholders which enable SZ8088 to:

—	 exercise effective financial and operating control over VSOYOU;

—	 exercise equity holders’ voting rights of VSOYOU under the proxy agreement;

—	 receive substantially all of the economic interest returns generated by VSOYOU in 
consideration for the technology services, marketing services and other services provided by 
SZ8088 under the exclusive consultancy agreement;

—	 obtain irrecoverable and exclusive option right to purchase the entire equity interest in 
VSOYOU from the respective registered shareholders at a minimum purchase price 
permitted by PRC laws and regulations. SZ8088 may exercise such options at any time until 
it has acquired all equity interests of VSOYOU;

—	 obtain a pledge over the entire equity interest of VSOYOU from its respective registered 
shareholders as collateral security for all of VSOYOU’s payments due to SZ8088 and to 
secure the performance of VSOYOU’s obligations under the Contractual Arrangements;

—	 provide interest-free loan facilities of up to an amount to be agreed to the respective 
registered shareholder who shall only contribute the loan to the registered capital of 
VSOYOU for the development of the business of VSOYOU under the loan agreement. The 
loan shall be repaid by way of transfer of the equity interest in VSOYOU held by the 
respective registered shareholder to SZ8088 or its nominee(s); and

—	 purchase copyrights in respect of software for the games owned by VSOYOU at a 
consideration to be determined and settled in cash under the asset purchasing agreement.



114

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

8088 Investment Holdings Limited

4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (continued)

(ii)	 Critical judgments in applying the Group’s accounting policies (continued)

Control over a subsidiary (continued)
The Group does not have any equity interest in VSOYOU. However, as a result of the effective 
execution of Contractual Arrangements, the Group has rights to variable returns from its 
involvement with VSOYOU and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over 
VSOYOU and is considered to control VSOYOU indirectly through SZ8088. Consequently, the 
Company regarded VSOYOU as its indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary and the Group 
consolidated the financial position and performance of VSOYOU in the consolidated financial 
statements since the date of acquisition. On 9 September 2016, the Group further acquired the 
remaining 30% of the issued share capital of HGGL, through acquiring the entire issued share 
capital of Rosy Year Investments Limited, a limited liability company incorporated in the British 
Virgin Islands, at a cash consideration of HK$42,000,000. Since then, VSOYOU is considered to be 
an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group. Significant judgments have been exercised by 
management in assessing and concluding VSOYOU as a subsidiary of the Group.

Further details of the Contractual Arrangements are set out in the Company’s announcement 
dated 1 December 2014 and the circular dated 2 March 2015.

*	 The English translation of Chinese name of the PRC entities, if any, is included for identification only and should not be 

regarded as their official English translation.

Power to exercise significant influence
For certain investments with equity interests over 20%, management has assessed but there is an 
absence of any control, jointly control nor exercise significant influence over these companies as 
the Group did not participate in the financial and operating decisions of these companies during 
the year. Accordingly the Directors are in the opinion that the investments are not deemed to be 
associates and accounted for as financial assets at FVTPL.

5.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION

No separate analysis of segment information is presented by the Group for the years ended 31 
December 2021 and 2020 as the chief operating decision makers, which are collectively the Executive 
Directors of the Company, identify all of the Group’s assets, liabilities, revenue and results are related 
to the strategic investment business.

The segment of strategic investment mainly comprises investments in healthcare and technology 
business.
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5.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

Geographic information

The following table provides an analysis of the Group’s revenue from external customers and 
non-current assets other than financial instruments and loan to an independent third party (“Specified 
non-current assets”).

Revenue from 
external customers

Specified 
non-current assets

2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

Hong Kong (place of domicile) 356 1,590 6,541 9,462
The PRC 19,622 2,433 102 180
Other Asian countries – – – 377

    

19,978 4,023 6,643 10,019
    

Key customers

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there were two (2020: five) customers which individually 
contributed over 10% of the Group’s total revenue, the revenue contributed from each of these 
customers was as follows:

For the year ended
31 December
2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

Customer A 9,699 –
Customer B 5,336 –
Customer C – 1,003
Customer D – 810
Customer E – 728
Customer F – 596
Customer G – 556
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6.	 REVENUE

Revenue represents the (i) sales of in-app purchase items, (ii) advertising income, (iii) game publishing 
service income, (iv) real-time video streaming income, (v) shared use facilities income and (vi) outbound 
digital marketing income. An analysis of revenue is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Major products/services
Sales of in-app purchase items 331 1,488
Advertising income 25 102
Game publishing service income – 6
Real-time video streaming income 1,700 1,424
Shared use facilities income 84 1,003
Outbound digital marketing income 17,838 –

  

19,978 4,023
  

Timing of revenue recognition
At a point in time 2,115 3,921
Over time 17,863 102

  

19,978 4,023
  

Assets and liabilities related to contracts with customers

The Group has recognised the following liabilities related to contracts with customers:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Contract liabilities (Note 22) 2,269 –
  

No revenue relates to carried-forward contract liabilities is recognised during the years ended 31 
December 2021 and 2020.
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7.	 OTHER INCOME

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Bank interest income 2 284
Interest income on loan to an independent third party 471 470
Interest income on a loan to a shareholder of an investee – 3,460
Interest income on loans to an associate 1,223 1,223
Interest income on loaned securities to an investee 4,270 3,294
License fee income from a related company – 351
Bad debt recovery 4 13,144
Reversal of impairment losses on other receivables (Note 19(b)) 355 873
Written off of trade payables – 1,568
Others 1 1,362

  

6,326 26,029
  

8.	 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES) — NET

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value through 
  profit or loss, net (Note 20) (2,589) (142,032)
Investment gain on financial assets at fair value through
  profit or loss 18,437 –
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries (Note 33) – 2,505
Foreign exchange (losses)/gains, net (4) 101

  

15,844 (139,426)
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9.	 EXPENSES BY NATURE

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Auditor’s remuneration: 
  — audit services 700 700
  — non-audit services 196 520
Cost of sales 17,839 2,893
Employee benefit expense (including directors’ remuneration
  (Note 10(h)) 14,004 14,847
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 17) 101 1,997
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 918 1,367
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 16(a)) 2,977 2,770
Written off of trade receivables – 1,544
Consultancy service settled by remuneration shares (Note 27(a)) 606 2,260
Others 9,155 11,985

  

Total cost of sales and administrative and operating expenses 46,496 40,883
  

10.	 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS

(a)	 Directors’ remuneration

Fees

Salaries 
and 

allowances

Retirement 
fund 

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

2021

Executive Directors:
Chan Suet Ngan 960 2,380 18 3,358
Hu Kenneth 960 3,623 36 4,619

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Yuen Kwok On 120 – – 120
Yau Chung Hang 120 – – 120
Ip Wing Wai 120 – – 120

    

2,280 6,003 54 8,337
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10.	 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(a)	 Directors’ remuneration (continued)

Fees

Salaries 
and 

allowances

Retirement 
fund 

contributions Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

     

2020

Executive Directors:
Chan Suet Ngan 465 2,029 21 2,515
Hu Kenneth 465 1,159 27 1,651
Qian Alexandra Gaochuan (Note (i)) 4 1,471 8 1,483

Non-Executive Directors:
Wu King Shiu, Kelvin (Note (ii)) 50 2,553 8 2,611

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Yuen Kwok On 120 – – 120
Matsumoto Hitoshi (Note (iii)) 60 – – 60
Yau Chung Hang 120 – – 120
Ip Wing Wai (Note (iv)) 60 – – 60

    

1,344 7,212 64 8,620
    

Notes:

(i)	 Resigned as an Executive Director on 1 June 2020.

(ii)	 Resigned as a Non-Executive Director and Chairman on 1 June 2020.

(iii)	 Resigned as an Independent Non-Executive Director on 30 June 2020.

(iv)	 Appointed as an Independent Non-Executive Director on 30 June 2020.

(b)	 Directors’ retirement benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement benefits during the year ended 31 
December 2021 (2020: Nil).
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10.	 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(c)	 Directors’ termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any termination benefits during the year ended 31 
December 2021 (2020: Nil).

(d)	 Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Company did not pay consideration to any third 
parties for making available directors’ services (2020: Nil).

(e)	 Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors, 
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such directors

During the year ended 31 December 2021, there is no loans, quasi-loans and other dealing 
arrangements in favour of the directors, or controlled body corporates and connected entities of 
such directors (2020: Nil).

(f)	 Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements or contracts

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the Company’s business to 
which the Company was a party and in which a director of the Company had a material interest, 
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted as at 31 December 2021 or at any time for the year ended 
31 December 2021 (2020: Nil).

(g)	 Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group for the year ended 31 
December 2021 included two Directors (2020: four Directors) whose emoluments are reflected in 
the analysis presented above. Emoluments payable to the remaining three (2020: one) individuals 
during the year are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,184 903
Retirement fund contributions 54 18

  

2,238 921
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10.	 DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION AND EMPLOYEES’ EMOLUMENTS (continued)

(g)	 Five highest paid individuals (continued)

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

Number of individuals
2021 2020

   

Emolument bands
Nil to HK$1,000,000 3 1

  

(h)	 Employee benefit expense (including directors’ remuneration)

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Fees 2,280 1,344
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 6,368 11,958
Bonus paid and payable 5,073 1,237
Retirement fund contributions 283 308

  

14,004 14,847
  

11.	 FINANCE INCOME

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Gains on borrowings waived (Note 25) 41,051 –
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12.	 FINANCE COSTS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Effective interest expense on convertible bonds 
  — wholly repayable within five years (Note 24) 1,897 17,900
Interest expenses on lease liabilities (Note 16(b)) 450 687
Interest expenses on borrowings (Note 25) 9,701 –

  

12,048 18,587
  

13.	 INCOME TAX CREDIT

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Hong Kong
  — Current tax for the year – 415
  — Over-provision in respect of prior years (175) (72)

The PRC
  — Over-provision in respect of prior years – (216)

  

Total current income tax (credit)/expense (175) 127
  

Deferred tax credit (Note 26) – (332)
  

Income tax credit (175) (205)
  

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of profits of the qualifying group 
entity will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.

Accordingly, for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Hong Kong Profits Tax of the 
qualifying group entity is calculated at 8.25% on the first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable 
profits and at 16.5% on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million. The profits of group 
entities not qualified for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 
16.5%.
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13.	 INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

The Group’s subsidiaries operating in the PRC are subject to PRC Enterprise Income Tax at the tax rate 
of 25% (2020: 25%).

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant 
jurisdictions for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

Reconciliation between income tax credit and accounting profit/(loss) at applicable tax rates is as 
follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Profit/(loss) before income tax 18,352 (205,830)
  

Tax at the domestic income tax rates 3,028 (33,962)
Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable
  in the respective countries (232) (1,179)
Tax effect of share of losses of an associate – 102
Tax effect of non-taxable income (11,959) (9,346)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses 8,569 43,685
Tax effect of unrecognised temporary differences 64 72
Tax effect of unrecognised tax losses 530 942
Utilisation of tax losses previously not recognised – (231)
Over-provision in respect of prior years (175) (288)

  

Income tax credit (175) (205)
  



124

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 December 2021

8088 Investment Holdings Limited

14.	 EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

(a)	 Basic

Basic earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by dividing profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the 
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2021 2020
   

(HK$’000)
Profit/(loss) attributable to owners of the Company 18,669 (205,593)

  

(Number of shares)
Weighted average number of ordinary shares 552,893,649 548,010,694

  

(HK cents)
Basic earnings/(loss) per share attributable to  
  the owners of the Company 3.38 (37.52)

  

(b)	 Diluted

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion/exercise of all potentially dilutive ordinary 
shares. The Company has one (2020: two) category of potentially dilutive ordinary shares: share 
options (2020: remuneration shares and share options). For the remuneration shares and share 
options, a calculation is done to determine the number of shares that could have been acquired 
at fair value (determined as the average market share price of the Company’s shares for the 
period) based on the monetary value of the subscription rights attached to outstanding 
remuneration shares and share options. The number of shares calculated as above is compared 
with the number of shares that would have been issued assuming the exercise of the share 
options.

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, diluted earnings/(loss) per share is the same as 
the basic earnings/(loss) per share as the exercise of potential ordinary shares in relation to the 
outstanding share options (2020: remuneration shares and share options) would have anti-dilutive 
effects to the basic earnings/(loss) per share.
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15.	 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Leasehold
land and
buildings

Plant and
machinery

Computer
hardware

and software
Furniture and

fixtures
Leasehold

improvements
Office

equipment Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

        

Cost
  As at 1 January 2020 10,207 1,696 326 686 2,842 95 15,852
  Additions – – 54 5 – 22 81
  Disposals – – (168) – – – (168)
  Disposal of Captain Win 
    (Note 33(d)) (10,207) – – – (499) – (10,706)
  Exchange alignment – – 26 10 26 – 62

       

  As at 31 December 2020 and
    1 January 2021 – 1,696 238 701 2,369 117 5,121
  Additions – – 21 – – 5 26
  Exchange alignment – – 15 6 15 – 36

       

  As at 31 December 2021 – 1,696 274 707 2,384 122 5,183
       

Accumulated depreciation
  As at 1 January 2020 734 753 159 378 1,670 69 3,763
  Charge for the year 179 565 113 128 358 24 1,367
  Written back on disposals – – (145) – – – (145)
  Disposal of Captain Win 
    (Note 33(d)) (913) – – – (86) – (999)
  Exchange alignment – – 22 9 26 – 57

       

  As at 31 December 2020 and
    1 January 2021 – 1,318 149 515 1,968 93 4,043
  Charge for the year – 377 54 113 358 16 918
  Exchange alignment – – 13 5 15 – 33

       

  As at 31 December 2021 – 1,695 216 633 2,341 109 4,994
       

Net book value
  As at 31 December 2021 – 1 58 74 43 13 189

       

  As at 31 December 2020 – 378 89 186 401 24 1,078
       

Depreciation expenses of HK$918,000 (2020: HK$1,367,000) has been charged to administrative and 
operating expenses.
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16.	 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES

(a)	 Right-of-use assets

The carrying amount of right-of-use assets and depreciation by class of underlying assets at the 
end of the reporting period are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Right-of-use assets
  — Properties leased for own use 3,101 5,541

  

Depreciation charged to administrative and operating
  expenses
  — Properties leased for own use 2,977 2,770

  

Addition to the right-of-use assets during the years ended 31 December 2021 was HK$523,000 
(2020: Nil).

(b)	 Lease liabilities

The remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of the reporting 
period are as follows:

31 December 2021 31 December 2020
Present value

of the minimum
lease payments

Total minimum
lease payments

Present value
of the minimum
lease payments

Total minimum
lease payments

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
     

Within 1 year 3,945 4,103 3,580 4,015
After 1 year but within 2 years 70 71 3,672 3,820

    

4,015 4,174 7,252 7,835
  

Less: total future interest expenses (159) (583)
  

Present value of lease liabilities 4,015 7,252
  

Categorised as:
  Current portion 3,945 3,580
  Non-current portion 70 3,672

  

4,015 7,252
  

The total cash outflow for leases during the year ended 31 December 2021 was HK$4,224,000 
(2020: HK$3,678,000) including the payment of principal elements and interest elements of lease 
liabilities amounting to HK$3,774,000 (2020: HK$2,991,000) (Note 31(b)) and HK$450,000 (2020: 
HK$687,000) (Note 12) respectively.
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17.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Goodwill

Non-compete

agreements of

mobile game

business Know-how

Non-compete

agreements

of health

technology

business Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note (a)) (Note (b))       

At 1 January 2020

Cost 127,561 26,610 6,973 649 22,940 184,733

Accumulated amortisation and 

  impairment (127,561) (25,280) (6,973) (649) (19,074) (179,537)
      

Net book amount – 1,330 – – 3,866 5,196
      

Year ended 31 December 2020

Opening net book amount – 1,330 – – 3,866 5,196

Additions – – – – 207 207

Amortisation – (1,330) – – (667) (1,997)

Exchange alignment – – – – (6) (6)
      

Closing net book amount – – – – 3,400 3,400
      

At 31 December 2020

Cost 127,561 26,610 6,973 649 23,147 184,940

Accumulated amortisation and 

  impairment (127,561) (26,610) (6,973) (649) (19,747) (181,540)
      

Net book amount – – – – 3,400 3,400
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Goodwill

Non-compete

agreements of

mobile game

business Know-how

Non-compete

agreements

of health

technology

business Others Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note (a)) (Note (b))       

Year ended 31 December 2021

Opening net book amount – – – – 3,400 3,400

Addition – – – – 52 52

Amortisation – – – – (101) (101)

Exchange alignment – – – – 2 2
      

Closing net book amount – – – – 3,353 3,353
      

At 31 December 2021

Cost 127,561 26,610 6,973 649 23,581 185,374

Accumulated amortisation and 

  impairment (127,561) (26,610) (6,973) (649) (20,228) (182,021)
      

Net book amount – – – – 3,353 3,353
      

Amortisation of HK$101,000 (2020: HK$1,997,000) has been charged to administrative and operating 
expenses.

Notes: 

(a)	 Non-compete agreements of mobile game business refer to the restrictive covenants included in employment contracts of 
certain key management personnel of VSOYOU who agreed not to enter into or start a similar profession or trade in 
competition against VSOYOU’s business.

(b)	 As at 31 December 2021, others represented (i) a mobile game license with zero carrying amount (2020: Nil); (ii) a club 
membership with net carrying amount of HK$3,300,000 (2020: HK$3,300,000); and (iii) movie rights with net carrying amount 
of HK$53,000 (2020: HK$100,000).

For the impairment testing on club membership, the recoverable amount was determined based on fair value less costs of 
disposals which represented the market price less cost of disposal as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 and no impairment was 
considered necessary.

17.	 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)
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18.	 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM/LOANS TO AN 
ASSOCIATE

Movements on interest in an associate during the years are as follows:

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

As at 1 January – 1,458
Share of losses, net of tax – (619)
Share of other comprehensive loss of an associate – –
Impairment losses on interest in an associate – (839)

  

As at 31 December – –
  

Amounts due from/loans to an associate, net (b) – –
  

Notes:

(a)	 Particulars of the associate are as follows:

Name

Place of incorporation

and kind of legal entity

Particular of

registered capital

Percentage of

interest held

Principal

activities

Measurement

method

2021 2020       

GeneSort International

  Inc.

British Virgin Islands,

  limited liability company

USD50,000 23.89% 23.89% Investment

  holding

Equity method

The associate is a private company therefore no quoted market price available for its shares.

There were no contingent liabilities relating to the Group’s interest in an associate as at 31 December 2021 and 2020.
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18.	 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM/LOANS TO AN 
ASSOCIATE (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(b)	 Amounts due from/loans to an associate

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Amounts due from/loans to an associate 61,342 60,093
Less: provision for impairment of amounts due from/loans to an associate (61,342) (60,093)

  

Amounts due from/loans to an associate, net – –
  

The movements on the provision for impairment of amounts due from/loans to an associate are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

At beginning of the year 60,093 30,504
Provision for impairment losses for the year 1,249 29,589

  

At end of the year 61,342 60,093
  

Based on the assessment of the expected credit losses (refer to Note 3.1(b), the Group has made a provision for impairment 
of amounts due from an associate of approximately HK$1,249,000 during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: 
HK$29,589,000).

The loans to an associate of HK$53,705,000 are unsecured, interest bearing at 5% to 10% per annum, denominated in USD 
and repayable in May 2021 and April 2022 respectively.

(c)	 Summarised unaudited financial information in respect of the Group’s associate is set out below. The associate was accounted 
for in the consolidated financial statements using equity method. The summarised unaudited financial information represents 
amounts shown in the financial statements of the associate, after fair value adjustments, prepared in accordance with IFRSs.

 2021  2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Revenue – 73

Other income – 4,609

Loss for the year (1,249) (2,589)
Other comprehensive loss – –

  

Total comprehensive loss (1,249) (2,589)
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18.	 INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE AND AMOUNTS DUE FROM/LOANS TO AN 
ASSOCIATE (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(c)	 (continued)

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Current assets 203 203
Non-current assets – –
Current liabilities (40,721) (39,472)
Non-current liabilities (27,163) (27,163)

  

(67,681) (66,432)
  

No dividend is received from the associate during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

19.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Trade receivables (a) 5,236 5,980
Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables (3,554) (3,981)

  

Trade receivables, net 1,682 1,999
  

Other receivables (b) 15,123 21,715
Less: provision for impairment of other receivables (14,232) (10,317)

  

Other receivables, net 891 11,398
  

Loan to an independent third party (c) – 6,824
  

Trade receivables, net 1,682 1,999
Other receivables, net 891 11,398
Loan to an independent third party – 6,824
Rental and other deposits 1,259 1,193
Prepayments 1,332 855

  

At end of the year 5,164 22,269
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19.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes:

(a)	 Trade receivables

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, ageing analysis of trade receivables based on invoice date and net of impairment losses is 
as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Current 942 237
0 to 30 days 74 14
31 to 60 days 5 14
61 to 90 days 1 7
Over 90 days 660 1,727

  

1,682 1,999
  

As at 31 December 2021, trade receivables of HK$666,000 (2020: HK$1,748,000) were past due but not impaired. These 
relate to a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these 
trade receivables is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Past due but not impaired:
0 to 30 days 5 14
31 to 60 days 1 7
61 to 120 days 10 213
Over 120 days 650 1,514

  

666 1,748
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19.	 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(a)	 Trade receivables (continued)

The movements on the provision for impairment of trade receivables are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

At beginning of the year 3,981 1,124
Provision for impairment losses for the year 784 2,645
Written off (1,311) –
Exchange alignment 100 212

  

At end of the year 3,554 3,981
  

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss 
allowance for all trade receivables. Note 3.1(b) provides for details about the calculation of the allowance.

(b)	 Other receivables

As at 31 December 2021, other receivables mainly represented borrowing fee and late interest receivable from China Creative 
of HK$13,476,000 (2020: HK$9,205,000) and amount due from a former subsidiary, Captain Win Limited of Nil (2020: 
HK$10,515,000). A provision for impairment of HK$4,270,000 (2020: HK$3,294,000) was made with reference to the 
recoverable amount for the year ended 31 December 2021.

The movements on the provision for impairment of other receivables are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

At beginning of the year 10,317 7,896

Provision for impairment losses for the year 4,270 3,294

Reversal of impairment losses (Note 7) (355) (873)
  

At end of the year 14,232 10,317
  

(c)	 Loan to an independent third party

As at 31 December 2020, loan to an independent third party represented a loan with a principal amount of HK$5,883,000 and 
interest receivable of HK$941,000 to a former subsidiary, Prestige Creation Limited, which was secured, interest bearing at 8% 
per annum. The loan has been repaid by the borrower in December 2021.

(d)	 The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets and are not past due. Based on the credit 
history of these other classes, it is expected that these amounts will be received when due. The Group does not hold any 
collateral in relation to these receivables. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period is the 
carrying amount of each class of financial assets mentioned above.

The carrying amounts of trade and other receivables approximate fair values, due to the short-term nature as at 31 December 
2021 and 2020.
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20.	 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

(a)	 Classification of financial assets at fair value though profit or loss

Financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) include the following:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Non-current assets
Unlisted equity investments
— The Partnership (Note 3.3(i)) 183,601 187,613
— Investment A (Note 3.3(ii)) 31 31
— Investment B (Note 3.3(iii)) 3,926 4,085
— Other instruments – 7,083

  

187,558 198,812
  

Current assets
Listed equity investments 1,327 1,628

  

1,327 1,628
  

188,885 200,440
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20.	 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(b)	 Movements of financial assets at FVTPL

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Bond investments
As at 1 January – 8,355
Disposals – (7,664)
Fair value losses for the year – (691)

  

As at 31 December – –
  

Subscription of the convertible bonds of China Creative
As at 1 January – 41,775
Fair value losses for the year – (41,775)

  

As at 31 December – –
  

Listed and unlisted equity investments
As at 1 January 200,440 354,495
Additions (Note (i) and 33(b)) – 254,588
Deemed disposal of the Partnership (Note 33(b)) – (309,333)
Proceeds of disposals (9,097) –
Gain on disposals 2,014 –
Fair value losses for the year — the Partnership (4,012) (66,975)
Fair value losses for the year — Listed equity investments (301) (874)
Fair value losses for the year — Investments A and B (290) (34,900)
Fair value gains for the year — other instrument – 3,183
Exchange alignment 131 256

  

As at 31 December 188,885 200,440
  

Total 188,885 200,440
  

Fair value losses on financial assets at FVTPL, net (4,603) (142,032)
Gain on disposal of financial assets at FVTPL, net 2,014 –

  

Total net losses recognised in profit or loss relating to 
  financial assets at FVTPL held by the Group for the year 
  (Note 8) (2,589) (142,032)

  

Note:

(i)	 On 13 July 2020, the Group disposed of equity interest in AID Partners Autonomous GP Ltd (the “General Partner”). As a 
result, the Group would cease to have management and investment control over the Partnership through the General Partner. 
Therefore, the Partnership and its subsidiaries would also cease to be accounted for as subsidiaries of the Group, and the 
interest in the Partnership is accounted for as a financial asset at FVTPL at HK$254,588,000 (Note 33(b)).
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21.	 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Cash and cash equivalents 29,510 30,292
  

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank balances and deposit rates.

As at 31 December 2021, cash and bank balances of the Group amounted to approximately 
HK$1,009,000 (2020: HK$1,095,000) were deposited in bank accounts opened with banks in the PRC 
where the remittance of funds is subject to foreign exchange control. Under the PRC’s Foreign 
Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign 
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through the banks 
which are authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

22.	 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Contract liabilities arising from:
Performance under outbound digital marketing contracts 2,269 –

  

23.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2021 2020
Note HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Trade payables (a) 2,745 2,490
Other payables 1,361 1,568
Accrued charges 1,477 1,312  

5,583 5,370
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23.	 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (continued)

Note:

(a)	 As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the ageing analysis of trade payables based on invoice date is as follows:

2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000   

0–30 days 88 105

31–60 days 67 165

61–90 days 26 21

Over 90 days 2,564 2,199
  

2,745 2,490
  

24.	 CONVERTIBLE BONDS

2015 HK$140 million Convertible Bonds

2015 HK$140 million
Convertible Bonds

(Note)
HK$’000

  

Initial recognition
Convertible bonds — financial liabilities at amortised cost 137,579

 

Equity component (Note 28(c)) 1,921
 

Summarised below is the movement of convertible bonds during the year:

2015 HK$140 million
Convertible Bonds

(Note)
HK$’000

  

As at 1 January 2020 197,095
Interest expense (Note 12) 17,900

 

As at 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 214,995
Interest expense (Note 12) 1,897
Restructured to borrowings (216,892)

 

As at 31 December 2021 –
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24.	 CONVERTIBLE BONDS (continued)

2015 HK$140 million Convertible Bonds (continued)

Note:

In July 2015, the Company entered into a subscription agreement (the “Subscription Agreement”) with Hong Kong HNA Holding 

Group Co. Limited (“HNA”) pursuant to which HNA agreed to subscribe the convertible bonds in principal amount of 

HK$140,000,000, bearing a compound interest rate of 8% per annum (the “2015 HK$140 million Convertible Bonds”). On 20 July 

2015, all the conditions precedent set out in the Subscription Agreement were fulfilled and that the issue of the 2015 HK$140 million 

Convertible Bonds was completed.

The 2015 HK$140 million Convertible Bonds is convertible at the option of the bondholder at any business day during the period 

commencing from the date falling on the first anniversary of the issue date up to and including the date falling seven days prior to the 

fifth anniversary of the date of issue of the 2015 HK$140 million Convertible Bonds (the “Maturity Date”) at a price of HK$0.325 per 

share initially. The 2015 HK$140 million Convertible Bonds is only transferrable with prior notification to the Company and may be 

transferred in integral multiples of HK$1,000,000. The Company may, having given not less than thirty days’ notice to the bondholder, 

redeem the 2015 HK$140 million Convertible Bonds then outstanding, at a premium of 10% above the outstanding principal amount 

of the 2015 HK$140 million Convertible Bonds, in integral multiples of HK$1,000,000 at any time prior to the Maturity Date and 

subject to bondholder’s agreement.

The conversion option embedded in the 2015 HK$140 million Convertible Bonds meets the definition of equity instrument of the 

Company, and is classified as equity and presented separately from the liability component of the 2015 HK$140 million Convertible 

Bonds.

Interest expenses of the 2015 HK$140 million Convertible Bonds for the year ended 31 December 2021 are calculated using effective 

interest method by applying effective interest rate of 8.3% (2020: 8.3%) per annum to the liability component.

The fair value of the liability component of 2015 HK$140 million Convertible Bonds is determined by using the discounted cash flow 

method, with the following key assumptions:

Fair value of shares of the Company HK$0.285 each

Time to maturity 5 years

Dividend yield 0%

Discount rate 8.3%

In February 2021, the Group restructured the convertible bonds and replaced with a borrowing from another independent third party 

(Note 25).
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25.	 BORROWINGS

In February 2021, the Group completed the restructuring of its major debt, convertible bonds of 
approximately HK$217 million (Note 24) were restructured into a loan from an independent third party. 
The loan was unsecured, bear interest at 5% per annum and is repayable in December 2023. In 
December 2021, the Group renewed the loan with partial settlement. After renewal, the loan is 
unsecured, interest-free and is repayable in December 2023.

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Borrowings (included in non-current liabilities) 164,042 –
  

Summarised below is the movement of borrowings during the year:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

As at 1 January – –
Restructure of convertible bonds (Note 24) 216,892 –
Interest expense (Note 12) 9,701 –
Gains on borrowings waived (Note 11) (41,051) –
Repayment of borrowings (21,500) –

  

As at 31 December 164,042 –
  

The borrowings are scheduled to be repaid as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

One to two years 164,042 –
  

As at 31 December 2021, the carrying amounts were based on future cash flows discounted using a rate 
based on the effective interest rate at 6%.
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26.	 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES

Deferred taxation is calculated on temporary differences under liability method using the rates of 
taxation prevailing in the countries in which the Group’s subsidiaries operate.

The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised and movements thereon during the 
current and prior years:

Fair value adjustments arising 
from the acquisition of 

subsidiaries and business
2021 2020

HK$’000 HK$’000
   

As at 1 January – 332
Credited to consolidated statement of profit or loss (Note 13) – (332)

  

As at 31 December – –
  

Deferred tax credit arising from deferred tax liabilities recognised
The amount credited to consolidated statement of profit or loss relating to the amortisation of 
intangible assets.

Deferred tax assets not recognised
The major deferred tax assets not recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position are as 
follows:

Unutilised
tax losses*

Accelerated
tax

depreciation Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

The PRC 6,421 – 6,421
Hong Kong 284 229 513

   

As at 31 December 2021 6,705 229 6,934
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Unutilised
tax losses*

Accelerated
tax

depreciation Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

    

The PRC 5,380 – 5,380

Hong Kong 159 165 324
   

As at 31 December 2020 5,539 165 5,704
   

*	 The tax losses of subsidiaries operating in Hong Kong can be carried forward indefinitely if certain criteria can be met under 
the respective tax jurisdictions.

	 Tax losses of subsidiaries operating in the PRC can be carried forward for five years. They will be expire from 2022 to 2026 (2020: 
2022 to 2025).

No recognition of potential deferred tax assets relating to tax losses of the Group has been made as 
the recoverability of the potential deferred tax assets is uncertain.

Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law and its implementation regulations, dividends 
receivable by non-PRC corporate residents from PRC enterprises are subject to withholding tax at a rate 
of 10%, unless reduced by tax treaties or arrangements. The applicable tax rate for the Group is 10%.

As at 31 December 2021, no deferred tax liability has been recognised on temporary difference in 
relation to the undistributed earnings of approximately HK$155,000 (2020: HK$325,000) of subsidiaries 
in the PRC because the Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that such difference will not reverse in foreseeable future.

26.	 DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES (continued)
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27.	 SHARE CAPITAL

Number of
ordinary

shares

Number of
redeemable
convertible

preference shares
(“RCPSs”)

Nominal
value

Equivalent
nominal

value
US$’000 HK$’000

     

Authorised
As at 1 January 2020, 31 December 2020 and
  31 December 2021 (par value of US$0.002 each) 95,000,000,000 5,000,000,000 200,000 1,560,000

    

Issued and fully paid
As at 1 January 2020 (par value of US$0.002 each) 545,107,005 – 1,090 8,504

Remuneration shares issued for consultancy service (Note (a)) 4,875,000 – 10 76
    

As at 31 December 2020 (par value of US$0.002 each) 549,982,005 – 1,100 8,580

Remuneration shares issued for consultancy service (Note (a)) 4,875,000 – 10 76
    

As at 31 December 2021 (par value of US$0.002 each) 554,857,005 – 1,110 8,656
    

Note:

(a)	 On 28 May 2020, the Company has issued 4,875,000 remuneration shares at an issue price of HK$1.60 per share as 
compensation for the consultancy service as detailed in Note 28(g).

On 28 May 2021, the Company has issued 4,875,000 remuneration shares at an issue price of HK$1.60 per share a 
compensation for the consultancy service as detailed in Note 28(g).
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28.	 RESERVES

Group

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

Share premium (a) 779,872 774,001
Capital reduction reserve (b) 702,955 702,955
Convertible bonds equity reserve (c) – 1,921
Capital reserve (d) 2,112 2,112
Capital redemption reserve (e) 601 601
Share-based compensation reserve (f) 54,578 54,578
Remuneration share reserve (g) – 5,341
Foreign exchange reserve (h) (5,020) (5,130)
Other reserve (i) (21,619) (21,619)
Statutory surplus reserve (j) 5,163 5,163
Accumulated losses (1,473,607) (1,494,197)

  

45,035 25,726
  

Details of the movements in the above reserves during the year are set out in the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity on pages 70 to 71. Nature and purpose of the reserves is as follows:

(a)	 Share premium

Share premium is the excess of the proceeds received over the nominal value of the shares of the 
Company issued at a premium, less the amount of expenses incurred in connection with the issue 
of the shares.

(b)	 Capital reduction reserve

This represents the credit arising from the Capital Reduction by reducing the par value of each of 
the issued ordinary shares from US$0.01 to US$0.0001 by cancelling the paid up share capital to 
the extent of US$0.0099 per issued ordinary share in 2017. At the effective date of the Capital 
Reduction, the credit arising as a result was applied towards offsetting the accumulated losses of 
the Company as at the date, thereby reducing the accumulated losses of the Company. The 
balance of credit was transferred to the capital reduction reserve account of the Company which 
may be utilised by the Directors as a capital reduction reserve.
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28.	 RESERVES (continued)

Group (continued)

(c)	 Convertible bonds equity reserve

This represented the amount allocated to the unexercised equity component of convertible bonds 
issued by the Company.

(d)	 Capital reserve

This represents a capital reserve arose from the acquisition of a subsidiary in 2000.

(e)	 Capital redemption reserve

This represents the repurchase of shares of the Company listed on the Stock Exchange. These 
repurchased shares were cancelled upon repurchase and, accordingly, the nominal value of the 
cancelled shares was credited to capital redemption reserve and the aggregate consideration 
paid was debited to the accumulated losses and share premium accounts.

(f)	 Share-based compensation reserve

This relates to share options granted to employees, consultants and directors under the 
Company’s Share Option Scheme. Further information about share-based payments to directors, 
consultants and employees and other eligible person is set out in Note 29.

(g)	 Remuneration share reserve

On 5 May 2017, the Group entered into a consulting service agreement with an independent third 
party (the “Consultant”), pursuant to which, the Group engaged the Consultant to provide 
consultancy services (the “Consultancy Services”) for a term of 5 years commencing from 5 May 
2017. As consideration for the Consultancy Services, the Group will pay the Consultant a total sum 
of HK$39,000,000 by way of the issue and allotment (or procure the issue and allotment of) new 
ordinary shares of the Company in five tranches, of which the first tranche of 97,500,000 new 
ordinary shares at an issue price of HK$0.08 per share were issued on 25 May 2017, the second 
tranche of 97,500,000 new ordinary shares at an issue price of HK$0.08 per share were issued on 
28 May 2018, the third tranche of 4,875,000 new ordinary shares at an issue price of HK$1.6 per 
share were issued on 28 May 2019, the fourth tranche of 4,875,000 new ordinary shares at an 
issue price of HK$1.6 per share were issued on 28 May 2020 and the fifth tranche of 4,875,000 
new ordinary shares at an issue price of HK$1.6 per share were issued on 28 May 2021. Further 
details were set out in the Company’s announcement dated 5 May 2017.
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28.	 RESERVES (continued)

Group (continued)

(h)	 Foreign exchange reserve

Exchange differences arising from the translation of the net assets of the Group’s foreign 
operations from their functional currencies to the Group’s presentation currency (i.e. HK$) are 
recognised directly in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the foreign exchange 
reserve. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting policy of foreign currencies 
set out in Note 2.6.

(i)	 Other reserve

As at 31 December 2021, other reserve represented the difference between the consideration 
received and the carrying amount of net assets attributable to the reduction of equity interest in 
HMV Brave Co., Ltd. disposed of to non-controlling shareholders; and difference between the 
consideration paid and carrying amount of net assets attributable to the acquisition of the 
remaining 30% of the issued share capital of HGGL.

(j)	 Statutory surplus reserve

In accordance with the PRC Companies Law, the Company’s PRC subsidiaries are required to 
transfer 10% of their profit after tax, as determined in accordance with accounting standards and 
regulations of the PRC, to statutory surplus reserve until such reserve which is 50% of its registered 
capital. Such reserve may be used, upon approval by the relevant authorities, to offset 
accumulated losses incurred by the subsidiary or be capitalised as paid-up capital of the 
subsidiary. The statutory surplus reserve is non-distributable.

(k)	 Dividend

The Board does not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 
2021 (2020: Nil).
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29.	 SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme which was adopted on 27 March 2002 (the “2002 Share Option 
Scheme”) was expired and a new share option scheme (the “2014 Share Option Scheme”) was adopted 
by an ordinary resolution passed by the shareholders at the extraordinary general meeting of the 
Company on 15 April 2014 (the “Adoption Date”). The 2014 Share Option Scheme constitutes a share 
option scheme governed by Chapter 23 of the GEM Listing Rules and will remain in force for 10 years 
from the Adoption Date.

Upon the expiry of the 2002 Share Option Scheme, no further option can be offered thereunder but 
any options granted prior to such expiry but not yet exercised shall continue to be valid and 
exercisable.

The Company operates both the 2002 Share Option Scheme and the 2014 Share Option Scheme for 
the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success 
of the Group’s operation. Pursuant to the 2014 Share Option Scheme, the Directors may grant options 
to eligible participants persons (as defined in the 2014 Share Option Scheme) to subscribe for shares in 
the Company subject to the terms and conditions stipulated therein.

2002 Share Option Scheme

The remaining share options granted under the 2002 Share Option Scheme are for other eligible 
participants and are exercisable as follows:

(a)	 the first 30% of the options between the first and tenth anniversary of the date of grant;

(b)	 the next 30% of the options between the second and tenth anniversary of the date of grant; and

(c)	 the remaining options between the third and tenth anniversary of the date of grant.
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29.	 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

2002 Share Option Scheme (continued)

The following table discloses movements in the outstanding options granted by the Company under 
the 2002 Share Option Scheme during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020:

Number of shares options 

Date of grant Grantees Exercise period 

Exercise
price 

per share

Balance 
as at 

1 January
2021

Granted
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Cancelled/
lapsed
during

the year

Balance 
as at

31 December
2021

Options
exercisable

as at
31 December

2021
Year (dd/mm/yyyy) (dd/mm/yyyy) HK$           

2021 16/03/2012 Former directors and
  former employees

16/03/2013 to 15/03/2022 4.00 267,129 – – – 267,129 267,129

14/05/2012 Former directors and
  former employees

14/05/2013 to 13/05/2022 3.80 292,968 – – – 292,968 292,968

      

Total 560,097 – – – 560,097 560,097
      

Weighted average exercise price (HK$) 3.90 – – – 3.90
     

Number of share options 

Date of grant Grantees Exercise period

Exercise
price

per share

Balance
as at

1 January
2020

Granted
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Cancelled/
lapsed
during

the year

Balance
as at

31 December
2020

Options
exercisable

as at
31 December

2020
Year (dd/mm/yyyy) (dd/mm/yyyy) HK$           

2020 07/10/2010 Former directors and
  former employees

07/10/2011 to 06/10/2020 4.00 118,528 – – (118,528) – –

16/03/2012 Former directors and
  former employees

16/03/2013 to 15/03/2022 4.00 267,129 – – – 267,129 267,129

14/05/2012 Former directors and
  former employees

14/05/2013 to 13/05/2022 3.80 292,968 – – – 292,968 292,968

      

Total 678,625 – – (118,528) 560,097 560,097
      

Weighted average exercise price (HK$) 3.91 – – 4.00 3.90
     

No option was granted or exercised under the 2002 Share Option Scheme during the years ended 31 
December 2021 and 2020.
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29.	 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

2002 Share Option Scheme (continued)

No (2020: 118,528) options were lapsed under the 2002 Share Option Scheme upon expiry of the life of 
the options during the year ended 31 December 2021.

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the options outstanding under the 2002 Share 
Option Scheme as at 31 December 2021 was approximately 0.29 years (2020: 1.29 years).

No share-based compensation expense was recognised under the 2002 Share Option Scheme during 
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

The total number of share available for issue under the 2002 Share Option Scheme is 560,097 (2020: 
560,097) representing approximately 0.101% (2020: 0.102%) of the Company’s total number of issued 
shares at the date of this report.

2014 Share Option Scheme

The following table discloses movements in the outstanding option granted by the Company under the 
2014 Share Option Scheme during the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020:

Number of share options 

Date of grant Grantees
Exercise
period

Exercise
price

per share

Balance
as at

1 January
2021

Granted
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Cancelled/ 
lapsed during

the year

Balance
as at

31 December
2021

Options
exercisable

as at
31 December

2021
Year (dd/mm/yyyy) (Notes) HK$

           

2021 15/05/2014 Former directors (1) 3.20 2,734,200 – – – 2,734,200 2,734,200
20/06/2014 Former directors (2) 3.20 1,623,262 – – – 1,623,262 1,623,262
01/04/2016 Director and former directors (3) 4.94 8,450,000 – – – 8,450,000 8,450,000
19/05/2017 Director and former directors (5) 1.56 5,300,000 – – – 5,300,000 5,300,000      

18,107,462 – – – 18,107,462 18,107,462      

20/06/2014 Other eligible participants (4) 3.20 888,888 – – – 888,888 888,888
01/04/2016 Other eligible participants (3) 4.94 1,820,800 – – – 1,820,800 1,820,800
19/05/2017 Other eligible participants (5) 1.56 11,809,600 – – – 11,809,600 11,809,600      

14,519,288 – – – 14,519,288 14,519,288      

Total 32,626,750 – – – 32,626,750 32,626,750
      

Weighted average exercise price (HK$) 2.888 – – – 2.888
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29.	 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

2014 Share Option Scheme (continued)

Number of share options 

Date of grant Grantees
Exercise
period

Exercise
price

per share

Balance
as at

1 January
2020

Granted
during

the year

Exercised
during

the year

Cancelled/
Lapsed
during

the year

Balance
as at

31 December
2020

Options
exercisable

as at
31 December

2020
Year (dd/mm/yyyy) (Notes) HK$

           

2020 15/05/2014 Former directors (1) 3.20 2,734,200 – – – 2,734,200 2,734,200
20/06/2014 Former directors (2) 3.20 1,623,262 – – – 1,623,262 1,623,262
01/04/2016 Directors and former directors (3) 4.94 8,450,000 – – – 8,450,000 8,450,000
19/05/2017 Directors and former directors (5) 1.56 5,300,000 – – – 5,300,000 5,300,000      

18,107,462 – – – 18,107,462 18,107,462      

20/06/2014 Other eligible participants (4) 3.20 1,770,138 – – (881,250) 888,888 888,888
01/04/2016 Other eligible participants (3) 4.94 1,820,800 – – – 1,820,800 1,820,800
19/05/2017 Other eligible participants (5) 1.56 11,809,600 – – – 11,809,600 11,809,600      

15,400,538 – – (881,250) 14,519,288 14,519,288      

Total 33,508,000 – – (881,250) 32,626,750 32,626,750
      

Weighted average exercise price (HK$) 2.896 – – 3.20 2.888
     

Notes:

(1)	 Exercisable from 15 May 2014 to 14 May 2024.

(2)	 Exercisable from 20 June 2014 to 19 June 2024.

(3)	 Divided into two tranches exercisable from 1 October 2016 and 1 April 2017, respectively to 31 March 2026.

(4)	 Divided into two tranches exercisable from 20 June 2014 and 20 June 2015, respectively to 19 June 2024.

(5)	 Exercisable from 19 May 2017 to 18 May 2027.

No option was exercised under the 2014 Share Option Scheme during the years ended 31 December 
2021 and 2020.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, no options were lapsed upon resignation of 
other eligible participants.

No (2020: 881,250) options were cancelled under the 2014 Share Option Scheme during the year 
ended 31 December 2021.
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29.	 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

2014 Share Option Scheme (continued)

The weighted average remaining contractual life of the options outstanding under the 2014 Share 
Option Scheme as at 31 December 2021 was approximately 4.55 years (2020: 5.55 years).

No options were granted under the 2014 Share Option Scheme during the years ended 31 December 
2021 and 2020.

No share-based compensation expense was recognised under the 2014 Share Option Scheme in the 
consolidated statement of profit or loss for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020.

The total number of share available for issue under the 2014 Share Option Scheme is 32,626,750 (2020: 
32,626,750) representing approximately 5.88% (2020: 5.93%) of the Company’s total number of issued 
shares at the date of this report.

30.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Other than those disclosed elsewhere in these financial statements, details of other significant 
transactions between the Group and other related parties during the years ended 31 December 2021 
and 2020 are as follows:

(a)	 Key management compensation

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, key management compensation is 
equivalent to the Directors’ emoluments as disclosed in Note 10(a).
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30.	 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

(b)	 Transactions with related parties

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

    

License fee income from a related company, 
  HMV Kafe Limited (i) – 351

  

License fee income from an associate (ii) – 936
  

Interest income on loans to an associate (iii) 1,223 1,223
  

Interest income on a loan to a shareholder 
  of an investee (ii) – 3,460

  

Notes:

(i)	 Ms. Li Mau, spouse of Mr. Wu King Shiu, Kelvin, a director and the Chairman of the Company, is also a director of HMV 

Kafe Limited of which Ms. Li Mau was a member of key management personnel. The charges by the related company 

were in accordance with the terms of the underlying agreements.

(ii)	 The amounts were charged based on terms mutually agreed between the relevant parties.

(iii)	 The amount were charged at 5% to 10% per annum based on terms of the loan agreement.
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31.	 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW

(a)	 Reconciliation of loss before taxation to cash used in operations

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

Cash flows from operating activities

Profit/(loss) before income tax 18,352 (205,830)

Adjustments for:
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 15 918 1,367
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16(a) 2,977 2,770
Amortisation of intangible assets 17 101 1,997
Impairment losses on trade receivables 19(a) 784 2,645
Impairment losses on other receivables 19(b) 4,270 3,294
Impairment losses on interest in an associate 18 – 839
Impairment losses on amounts due from/loans to 

an associate 18(b) 1,249 29,589
Reversal of impairment losses on 

other receivables 19(b) (355) (873)
Written off of trade receivables 9 – 1,544
Written off of trade payables 7 – (1,568)
Bad debt recovery 7 (4) –
Profit on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment 15 – (1)
Fair value losses on financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss, net 20 2,589 142,032
Investment gain on financial assets at fair value 

through profit or loss 8 (18,437) –
Interest income 7 (5,966) (8,731)
Finance costs 12 12,048 18,587
Consultancy service settled by remuneration share 9 606 2,261
Gains on disposal of subsidiaries 33 – (2,505)
Share of losses of an associate, net of tax 18 – 619
Foreign exchange gains, net 8 4 (101)
Gains on borrowings waived 25 (41,051) –  

Operating loss before working capital changes (21,915) (12,065)
Increase in amounts due from/loans to an associate (26) (935)
Decrease in contract assets – 1,319
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables 11,160 (6,094)
Increase in contract liabilities 2,269 –
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables (780) 8,301  

Cash used in operations (9,292) (9,474)
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31.	 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOW (continued)

(b)	 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing activities, including both 
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which cash 
flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash 
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

Convertible bonds (Note 24)

  As at 1 January 214,995 197,095
  Interest expense 1,897 17,900
  Restructured to borrowings (non-cash transaction) (216,892) –

  

  As at 31 December – 214,995
  

Lease liabilities (Note 16(b))

  As at 1 January 7,252 10,243
  Additions 523 –
  Cash flows (3,774) (2,991)
  Exchange alignment 14 –

  

  As at 31 December 4,015 7,252
  

Borrowing (Note 25)

  As at 1 January – –
  Restructure of convertible bonds (non-cash transaction) 216,892 –
  Interest expense 9,701 –
  Gains on borrowings waived (41,051) –
  Repayment of borrowings (21,500) –

  

164,042 –
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32.	 MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the Group had the following major non-cash transaction:

On 28 May 2021, 4,875,000 new ordinary shares were issued at an issue price of HK$1.60 per share as 
the compensation for the consultancy service as detailed in Note 27(a). As fair value of the Company’s 
ordinary shares at the date of grant was HK$1.22, share capital of the Company was increased by 
approximately HK$76,000 and share premium accounts of the Company was increased by 
approximately HK$5,871,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group had the following major non-cash transaction:

On 28 May 2020, 4,875,000 new ordinary shares were issued at an issue price of HK$1.6 per share as 
the compensation for the consultancy service as detailed in Note 27(a). As fair value of the Company’s 
ordinary shares at the date of grant was HK$1.22, share capital of the Company was increased by 
approximately HK$76,000 and share premium accounts of the Company was increased by 
approximately HK$5,872,000.
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33.	 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES/DEEMED DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

(a)	 Disposal of AID Partners Autonomous GP Ltd (the “General Partner”)

On 26 May 2020, New Earn Investments Limited (the “Vendor”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Company, and Vantage Elite Holdings Limited (the “Purchaser”) entered into the sale and 
purchase agreement (the “Disposal Agreement”), pursuant to which the Vendor has conditionally 
agreed to sell and the Purchaser has agreed to purchase the entire share capital of the General 
Partner at a cash consideration of US$270,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$2,106,000).

On 10 July 2020, the shareholders of the Company passed an ordinary resolution at the 
extraordinary general meeting to approve the Agreement. Upon completion of the Agreement on 
13 July 2020, the Company has ceased to have any equity interest in the General Partner. As a 
result, the Group would cease to have management and investment control over the Partnership 
through the General Partner. Therefore, the Partnership and its subsidiaries would also cease to 
be accounted for as subsidiaries of the Company notwithstanding that the Group would still retain 
its capital contribution to the Partnership.

2020
HK$’000  

Net assets of the General Partner disposed of:
Trade and other receivables 38
Cash and cash equivalents 80
Trade and other payables (104) 

14

Total consideration 2,106
 

Gain on disposal of the General Partner 2,092
 

Consideration satisfied by:
Cash 2,106

 

Analysis of net cash flow on disposal:
  Cash consideration received 2,106
  Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (80)

 

Net cash inflow from disposal of the General Partner 2,026
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33.	 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES/DEEMED DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

(b)	 Deemed disposal of AID Partners Autonomous, LP and its subsidiaries (the 
“Partnership”)

With completion of disposal of AID Partners Autonomous GP Ltd (the “General Partner”), the 
Group lost control but retained the same level of equity interest in the Partnership. Therefore, the 
Group ceased to consolidate the Partnership and its subsidiaries. The disposal of the General 
Partner did not result in a reduction of the percentage equity interest of the Group in the 
Partnership. Subsequent to the disposal, the Group accounted the Partnership as financial assets 
at fair value through profit or loss (Note 20).

HK$’000
  

Net assets of the Partnership disposed of:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 309,333
Cash and cash equivalents 9

 

309,342

Non-controlling interest 54,674
Total deemed consideration (Note 20) 254,588

 

Deemed loss on disposal of the Partnership (80)
 

Analysis of net cash flow on deemed disposal:
  Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (9)

 

Net cash outflow from deemed disposal of the Partnership (9)
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33.	 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES/DEEMED DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

(c)	 Disposal of Most Happy Investments Limited

On 14 July 2020, the Group disposed of its entire equity interest in Most Happy Investments 
Limited to an independent third party at a cash consideration of HK$10,000.

2020
HK$’000

  

Net assets of subsidiary disposed of:
Cash and cash equivalents 26
Trade and other payables (15)

 

11

Total consideration 10
 

Loss on disposal of subsidiary (1)
 

Consideration satisfied by:
Cash 10

 

Analysis of net cash flow on disposal:
  Cash consideration received 10
  Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (26)

 

Net cash outflow from disposal of subsidiary (16)
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33.	 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES/DEEMED DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (continued)

(d)	 Disposal of Captain Win Limited (“Captain Win”)

On 24 November 2020, the Group entered into a sale and purchase agreement with an 
independent third party (the “Purchaser”), pursuant to which the Group has agreed to sell and the 
Purchaser has agreed to purchase the entire share capital of Captain Win, a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of the Group, at a cash consideration of HK$100,000.

2020
HK$’000

  

Net assets of subsidiary disposed of:
Property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 9,707
Trade and other receivables 490
Cash and cash equivalents 435
Trade and other payables (11,026)

 

(394)

Total consideration 100
 

Gain on disposal of subsidiary 494
 

Consideration satisfied by:
Cash 100

 

Analysis of net cash flow on disposal:
  Cash consideration received 100
  Cash and cash equivalents disposed of (435)

 

Net cash outflow from disposal of subsidiary (335)
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34.	 PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Name

Place/Country of
incorporation/
establishment

Principal place
of operation

Issued
share capital

Percentage of attributable
interest held
by the Group Principal activities
2021 2020

       

Action Key Investments
  Limited

Samoa N/A 1 ordinary share at
US$1 each

100% 100% Investment holding

Ever Source Developments Limited British Virgin
  Islands

N/A 1 ordinary share at
US$1 each

100% 100% Investment holding

Honour Best Holdings Limited British Virgin
  Islands

N/A 1 ordinary share at
US$1 each

100% 100% Investment holding

Silver Alpine Limited British Virgin Islands N/A 1 ordinary share at
US$1 each

100% 100% Investment holding

8088 Management Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong ordinary
HK$1

100% 100% Provision of corporate
  services

Complete Star (HK) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong ordinary
HK$10,000

70% 70% Development and 
  operation of mobile 
  games

Valliant Investments Limited British Virgin Islands N/A 1 ordinary share at
US$1 each

100% 100% Investment holding

Honestway Global Group Limited British Virgin Islands N/A 100 ordinary shares at
US$1 each

100% 100% Investment holding

深圳八零八八科技有限公司 The PRC Shenzhen, 
  the PRC

Registered and paid up
HK$12,633,000

100% 100% Investment holding

上海威搜游科技有限公司* The PRC Shenzhen, 
  the PRC

Registered and paid up
RMB10,000,000

100% 100% Provision of mobile games 
  business in PRC

All of the above principal subsidiaries are limited liability companies and are indirectly held by the 
Company except for Ever Source Development Limited, Silver Alpine Limited and Honour Best 
Holdings Limited.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at the end of the year or at any time during 
the year.

*	 上海威搜游科技有限公司 is accounted for as subsidiary through certain Contractual Arrangements (Note 4(ii)).
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35.	 NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group’s material non-controlling interests (“NCI”) are as 
follows:

(a)	 Complete Star Limited (“CSL”) is a 70% indirectly owned subsidiary of the Company. Summarised 
financial information in relation to the post-acquisition NCI of CSL, before inter-group 
eliminations, is presented below:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

   

For the year ended 31 December
Revenue 356 1,590

  

Loss and total comprehensive income for the year,
  before amortisation and impairment (net of tax) (435) (42)

  

Loss and total comprehensive income for the year,
  after amortisation and impairment (net of tax) (435) (42)

  

Loss allocated to NCI (130) (13)
  

Dividend paid to NCI – –
  

For the year ended 31 December
Net cash inflow from operating activities 23 34
Net cash flow from investing activities – –
Net cash flow from financing activities – –

  

Net cash inflow 23 34
  

As at 31 December
Current assets 2,263 2,291
Non-current assets – –
Current liabilities (474) (67)
Non-current liabilities – –

  

Net assets 1,789 2,224
  

Accumulated non-controlling interests 537 667
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36.	 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

    

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

Non-current assets
Interests in subsidiaries 194,652 236,320

  

Current assets
Other receivables 476 442
Cash and cash equivalents 7,680 240

  

8,156 682
  

Current liabilities
Other payables 671 1,457
Convertible bonds – 214,995

  

671 216,452
  

Net current assets/(liabilities) 7,485 (215,770)
  

Total assets less current liabilities 202,137 20,550
  

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 164,042 –

  

Net assets 38,095 20,550
  

EQUITY

Share capital (Note 27) 8,656 8,580
Reserves (Note 37) 29,439 11,970

  

Total equity 38,095 20,550
  

Chan Suet Ngan Hu Kenneth
Director Director
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37.	 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY OF THE COMPANY

Share 

premium

Capital

reduction

reserve

Convertible

bonds equity

reserve

Capital 

reserve

Capital 

redemption 

reserve

Employee

share-based 

compensation 

reserve

Remuneration 

share reserve

Accumulated 

losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000          

As at 1 January 2020 768,129 702,955 1,921 2,112 601 57,159 9,028 (1,506,546) 35,359

Loss and total comprehensive loss 

  for the year – – – – – – – (25,574) (25,574)

Remuneration shares issued for

  consultancy service (Note 27(a)) 5,872 – – – – – (3,687) – 2,185

Lapse of share options – – – – – (271) – 271 –

Cancellation of share options – – – – – (2,310) – 2,310 –         

As at 31 December 2020 and

  1 January 2021 774,001 702,955 1,921 2,112 601 54,578 5,341 (1,529,539) 11,970

Profit and total comprehensive loss 

  for the year – – – – – – – 16,939 16,939

Remuneration shares issued 

  for consultancy service (Note 27(a)) 5,871 – – – – – (5,341) – 530

Restructured of borrowings (Note 25) – – (1,921) – – – – 1,921 –
         

As at 31 December 2021 779,872 702,955 – 2,112 601 54,578 – (1,510,679) 29,439
         

38.	 IMPACT OF OUTBREAK OF CORONAVIRUS DISEASE 2019

After the outbreak of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (“COVID-19 outbreak”) in early 2020, it had resulted in 
suspension of work in certain regions in the PRC. The epidemic has continued to spread and impacted 
global business and economic activities. A series of precautionary and control measures have been and 
continued to be implemented across the country/region. The Group will pay close attention to the 
development of the COVID-19 outbreak and evaluate its impact on the financial position and operating 
results of the Group. The impact to the individual investment, if any, are set forth in the “Management 
Discussion and Analysis - Business Review” section.
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FIVE-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The financial information relating to the year ended 31 December 2021 included in this five year summary 
does not constitute the Company’s statutory annual consolidated financial statements for that year but is 
derived from those financial statements. 

For the years ended 31 December
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Financial results

Profit/(loss) attributable to
  owners of the Company 18,669 (205,593) (141,458) (765,260) (420,333)

     

As at 31 December
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
      

Assets and liabilities

Total assets 230,202 263,070 508,647 649,233 1,399,348
Total liabilities (175,915) (228,032) (215,785) (213,643) (207,692)

     

Total equity 54,287 35,038 292,862 435,590 1,191,656
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